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Information Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws, including with
respect to the housing market, our financial and business model, our efforts to navigate the material pricing environment, our ability to increase selling
prices, our material and labor costs, demand for our services and product offerings, expansion of our national footprint and diversification, our ability to
capitalize on the new home and commercial construction recovery, our ability to grow and strengthen our market position, our ability to pursue and
integrate value-enhancing acquisitions, our ability to improve sales and profitability and expectations for demand for our services and our earnings in
2020. Forward-looking statements may generally be identified by the use of words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “project,” “predict,”
“possible,” “forecast,” “may,” “could,” “would,” “should,” “expect,” “intends,” “plan,” and “will” or, in each case, their negative, or other variations or
comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements include all matters that are not historical facts. By their nature, forward-looking statements
involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Any forward-looking
statements that we make herein and in any future reports and statements are not guarantees of future performance, and actual results may differ
materially from those expressed in or suggested by such forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including, without limitation, the
factors discussed in the “Risk Factors” section of this Form 10-K, as the same may be updated from time to time in our subsequent filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Any forward-looking statement made by the Company in this report speaks only as of the date hereof.
New risks and uncertainties arise from time to time and it is impossible for the Company to predict these events or how they may affect it. The Company
has no obligation, and does not intend, to update any forward-looking statements after the date hereof, except as required by federal securities laws.
Important factors that could cause our results to vary from expectations include, but are not limited to:
•

our dependence on the economy, the housing market, the level of new residential and commercial construction activity and the credit
markets;

•

the cyclical and seasonal nature of our business;

•

declines in the economy or slowing of the housing market recovery that could lead to significant impairment charges;

•

our exposure to severe weather conditions;

•

the highly fragmented and competitive nature of our industry;

•

product shortages or the loss of key suppliers;

•

changes in the costs and availability of products;

•

inability to continue to successfully expand into new products or geographic markets;

•

inability to successfully acquire and integrate other businesses;

•

inability to successfully expand into the commercial construction market;

•

our exposure to claims arising from our operations;

•

our reliance on key personnel;

•

our ability to attract, train and retain qualified employees while controlling labor costs;

•

changes in employment and/or immigration laws;

•

our exposure to product liability, workmanship warranty, casualty, construction defect and other claims and legal proceedings;

•

changes in, or failure to comply with, federal, state, local and other regulations;

•

disruptions in our information technology systems, including cybersecurity incidents;

•

our ability to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting; and

•

additional factors discussed under Item 1, Business; Item 1A, Risk Factors; and Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, of this Form 10-K.
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PART I
Item 1.

Business

OUR COMPANY
Installed Building Products, Inc. (“IBP”), a Delaware corporation formed on October 28, 2011, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Company” and “we,” “us” and “our”) primarily install insulation, waterproofing, fire-stopping, fireproofing, garage doors, rain gutters,
window blinds, shower doors, closet shelving and mirrors and other products for residential and commercial builders located in the continental United
States.
We offer our portfolio of services from our national network of over 180 branch locations serving all 48 continental states and the District of Columbia.
Substantially all of our sales are derived from the service-based installation of various products in the residential new construction, repair and remodel
and commercial construction end markets. Each of our branches has the capacity to serve all of our end markets. We believe we have the number one or
two market position for new single-family insulation installation in more than half of the markets in which we operate based on permits issued in those
markets. We are committed to delivering quality installation with a commitment to safety, corporate social responsibility and total customer satisfaction.
Our business began in 1977 with one location in Columbus, Ohio. In the late 1990s, we began our acquisition strategy with the goal of creating a
national platform. Since 1999, we have successfully completed and integrated over 150 acquisitions, which has allowed us to generate significant scale
and to diversify our product offerings while expanding into some of the most attractive new construction markets in the United States. We believe we
are well positioned to continue to profitably grow our business due to our strong balance sheet, liquidity and acquisition strategy. For a further
discussion of our industry and trends affecting our industry, please refer to Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition, Key
Factors Affecting our Operating Results, in this Form 10-K.
OUR OPERATIONS
We manage all aspects of the installation process for our customers, from our direct purchase and receipt of materials from national manufacturers to our
timely supply of materials to job sites and quality installation. Installation of insulation is a critical phase in the construction process, as certain interior
work cannot begin until the insulation phase passes inspection.
Our business model is differentiated and creates value by streamlining the typical value chain. In a typical building products value chain, manufacturers
rely on multiple distributors to purchase in volume and stock product. Distributors serve multiple wholesale and retail accounts who in turn sell to local
contractors that perform the installation. We buy most of the products that we install direct from manufacturers which are delivered to our local
installation operations.
Insulation
Overview
We are one of the largest new residential insulation installers in the United States based on our internal estimates. Insulation installation comprised
approximately 64% of our net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019. We handle every stage of the installation process, including material
procurement, project scheduling and logistics, multi-phase professional installation and quality inspection.
1
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Insulation Materials
We offer a wide range of insulation materials consisting of:
•

Fiberglass and Cellulose Insulation – Fiberglass insulation is made of fibrous glass that is held together by a thermoset resin creating
insulating air pockets. It typically contains an average of 50% recycled content. It is primarily available in two forms: batts (also referred to
as blankets) and loosefill (also referred to as blown in). Fiberglass is the most widely used residential insulation material in the United
States. Cellulose insulation is made primarily of paper and cardboard and has a very high recycled content. Cellulose is only available in
loosefill form and is blown into the structure with specialized equipment. Fiberglass and cellulose insulation accounted for approximately
85% of our insulation sales for the year ended December 31, 2019.

•

Spray Foam Insulation – Spray foam insulation, which is generally a polyurethane foam, is applied at a job site by mixing two chemical
components together in specialized application equipment. While typically having the highest insulating value per inch and sealing
effectiveness of all insulation materials that we offer, spray foam is also typically the most expensive on an installed basis. Spray foam
insulation accounted for approximately 15% of our insulation sales for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Insulation Installation Applications
Local building codes typically require the installation of insulation in multiple areas of a structure. Each of these areas is frequently referred to as a
phase of the insulation installation process and requires a separate trip to the job site by our installers at different points in the construction of a structure.
Building practice and the inspection process differ geographically and require our involvement at different times during the construction process. We
assist the builders with coordinating inspections. We install insulation and sealant materials in many areas of a structure, including:
•

Basement and Crawl Space – These spaces often account for the second most energy loss in a residential structure.

•

Building Envelope – We insulate the exterior walls of both residential and commercial structures by applying insulation on the wall or
between the studs.

•

Attic – We insulate the attics of new and existing residential structures. The attic is the area where the most energy may be lost in a home.

•

Acoustical – Many builder or architect specifications call for acoustical insulation for sound reduction purposes in both residential and
commercial structures. This product is generally installed in the interior walls to minimize sound transmission.

•

In each of these applications, we typically use fiberglass batts, except in attic installations where we typically install loosefill fiberglass or
cellulose.

•

We also install a wide variety of advanced caulk and sealant products that control air infiltration in residential and commercial buildings to
enhance energy efficiency, improve comfort and meet increasingly stringent energy code requirements.

Waterproofing
Some of our locations install waterproofing, caulking and moisture protection systems for commercial and industrial construction projects. We offer a
variety of waterproofing options, including, but not limited to, sheet and hot applied waterproofing membranes, deck coating systems, bentonite systems
and air & vapor systems. The installation and service of waterproofing comprised approximately 7% of our net revenue for the year ended December 31,
2019.
2
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Shower Doors, Closet Shelving and Mirrors
Some of our locations install a variety of shower enclosures, ranging from basic sliding door designs to complex custom designs. We have the ability to
meet our customers’ diverse needs by customizing shower enclosures by size and style according to their specifications, including framing, hardware
and glass options. We design and install closet shelving systems in select markets utilizing some of the highest quality products available from national
brands. We also offer standard and custom designed mirrors for our customers. Shower doors, closet shelving and mirror installations comprised
approximately 7% of our net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Garage Doors
Some of our locations install and service garage doors and openers for new residential construction builders, homeowners and commercial customers.
We offer a variety of options from some of the best-known garage door brands. We offer steel, aluminum, wood and vinyl garage doors as well as
opener systems. Unlike the other products we install, the garage door business has an ongoing aftermarket service component, which represented almost
one-third of the net revenue resulting from garage doors for the year ended December 31, 2019. The installation and service of garage doors comprised
approximately 6% of our net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Rain Gutters
Some of our locations install a wide range of rain gutters, which direct water from a home’s roof away from the structure and foundation. Rain gutters
are typically constructed from aluminum or copper and are available in a wide variety of colors, shapes and widths. They are generally assembled on the
job site using specialized equipment. The installation of rain gutters comprised approximately 3% of our net revenue for the year ended December 31,
2019.
Window Blinds
Some of our locations install different types of window blinds, including cordless blinds, shades and shutters. The installation of window blinds
comprised approximately 3% of our net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Other Building Products
Some of our locations install other complementary building products, none of which is an individually significant percentage of net revenue. Installation
of other building products comprised approximately 10% of our net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Sales and Marketing
We seek to attract and retain customers through exceptional customer service, superior installation quality, broad service offerings and competitive
pricing. Our strategy is centered on building and maintaining strong customer relationships. We also capitalize on cross-selling opportunities from
existing customer relationships and identifying situations where customers may benefit from more than one of our installation service offerings. By
executing this strategy, we believe we can continue to generate incremental sales volumes with new and existing customers.
Experienced sales and service professionals are important to our customer growth and increasing our profitability. Retaining and motivating local
employees has been an important component of our acquisition and operating strategies. As of December 31, 2019, we employed approximately 625
sales professionals and our sales
3

Table of Contents

force has spent an average of approximately nine years with our operations. The local sales staff, which is generally led by the branch manager, is
responsible for maintaining relationships with our customers. These local teams work diligently to increase sales by supporting our existing customers
with excellent service and value while also pursuing new customers with competitive offerings. In addition to the efforts of our sales staff, we market
our product and service offerings on the internet, in the local yellow pages, on the radio and through advertisements in trade journals. We primarily
conduct our marketing using local trademarks and trade names.
COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES
We seek to differentiate ourselves in areas where we believe we have a competitive advantage, including:
National scale with a strong local presence. Our national scale gives us access to the best products, training and innovation available, while our local
teams provide best in class training and installation services and outstanding customer service. Our customers generally select their building products
installer based on quality and timeliness of service, knowledge of local building codes, product application expertise, pricing, relationships and
reputation in the market. For these reasons, we emphasize the importance of developing and maintaining strong customer relationships at the local level
based on the knowledge and experience of our branch management and staff.
Diversified product lines, end markets and geographies. Diversifying our product line offerings provides us opportunity to increase sales to end
customers and leverage our branch costs to improve profitability. We continue to generate revenue synergies by taking advantage of cross-selling
opportunities with our existing customers in markets where we install multiple products. We have successfully diversified our product offering from the
year ended December 31, 2013, when insulation installation comprised approximately 74% of revenues, to the year ended December 31, 2019, where it
comprised 64% of revenues. We service the residential new construction and repair and remodel markets, both of which consist of single-family and
multi-family dwellings, as well as the commercial construction market. We have diversified our end customer demographic from the year ended
December 31, 2013, when revenue from the commercial end market comprised approximately 11% of revenues, to the year ended December 31, 2019
where it comprised 18% of revenues. Our growing exposure to commercial end markets diversifies our customer base and makes our business less
dependent on residential new construction. Commercial construction is also driven by longer term projects which tends to provide greater revenue
visibility. In periods of declining insulation installation volumes, our sales force is able to leverage our diversity of products and reduce the impact of
lost insulation sales by growing sales of complementary building products, further enhancing our ability to perform. Our national geographic footprint
provides us a balanced business not concentrated in any single region.
Engaged employees. We offer competitive benefits to our employees to ensure an engaged workforce. In addition to offering certain benefits to most
employees, including medical insurance, 401k and paid time off benefits, we also offer longevity stock awards, financial wellness training and savings
matching in order to recruit and retain employees. Our retention efforts have reduced our employee turnover by approximately 40% since the beginning
of 2017 to a level significantly below industry averages. Opportunity for professional growth, training and advancement are strongly encouraged.
Engaged, long-tenured employees benefit our business by being highly skilled and efficient, which drives profitability and encourages repeat business
and customer loyalty. Higher employee retention also benefits our business through lower recruitment and training expense. We also consider risk
management and safety to be a core business objective. Significant staffing, funding and other resources are allocated to our management systems that
enhances quality and safety for our employees and our customers. Our branch managers are held accountable for the safety of employees and quality of
workmanship at their locations. We provide our employees with ongoing training and development programs necessary to improve work quality and
safety performance. Our regional managers, local branch managers and sales force have significant experience in the industry and have spent an average
of more than 10 years with our operations. We also created the Installed Building Products Foundation in 2019 as a separate, not-for-profit organization
to help support our employees for their education, financial and philanthropic needs.
Financial strength, variable cost structure and strong free cash flow. We believe that we are among the most financially sound companies in our
industry. We place an emphasis on having a strong balance sheet which
4
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allows us to focus on our strategic initiatives and pursue growth opportunities, drive profitability and generate cash. We have a highly variable cost
structure with a significant portion of operating expenses directly linked to volume. Our largest expenses are materials and labor and most of our
installation employees are paid by completed job. Our minimal capital expenditure requirements support the generation of strong free cash flow.
Execution excellence. We believe that our ability to consistently complete our installations within a customer’s production schedule is recognized by
our customers and is a key component of our high level of service. We have a proven track record of customer satisfaction in managing all aspects of the
installation process for our customers. Throughout the construction process, our branch sales and supervisory staff and installation teams make frequent
site visits to ensure timely and proper installation and to provide general service support. We believe a high level of service is valued by our customers
and generates customer loyalty.
Broad and stable customer base. We benefit from a diverse customer base that includes production and custom homebuilders, multi-family and
commercial construction firms, homeowners and residential repair and remodeling contractors. We continue to enhance our longstanding relationships
with some of the largest builders in the country. While we serve many national and regional builders across multiple markets, we compete for business
at the local level. Given our emphasis on quality service, customer turnover is extremely low.
Well established relationships with suppliers. We have strong long-standing relationships with many of the manufacturers of the materials we install,
including the largest manufacturers of fiberglass and spray foam. The fiberglass insulation manufacturing market is highly consolidated and primarily
served by four major manufacturers. We buy significant volume from all four manufacturers and have relationships with each company spanning more
than two decades. Our national scale allows us to purchase volumes that account for a meaningful portion of the production for these suppliers allowing
them to better plan their production schedules. Our relationships and purchasing power often allow us to negotiate preferred material supply terms.
Highly experienced and incentivized management team. Our senior management team (Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Operating Officer) have been directing our strategy for close to 20 years. This team has led us through multiple housing industry cycles, providing
valuable continuity and a demonstrated ability to improve operations and grow our business both organically and through acquisitions.
BUSINESS STRATEGY
We believe our geographic footprint, longstanding relationships with national insulation manufacturers, streamlined value chain and proven track record
of successful acquisitions provides us with opportunities for continued growth in our existing markets and expansion into new markets. We believe our
continued emphasis on expanding our product offering, further expansion into the commercial construction market, and targeting geographies where we
look to grow market share will reduce potential future cyclicality of our operations. Our current strategic objectives include:
•

capitalize on the new residential and commercial construction markets;

•

continue to strengthen our market share position by working with the best customers. We seek to work with the most profitable and efficient
builders and commercial general contractors in our markets;

•

recruit, develop and retain an exceptional workforce by investing in our employees and our communities and promoting a family-oriented
culture;

•

capitalize on our ability to cross-sell products through existing markets as well as new markets entered as a result of organic expansion and
acquisitions. In addition to insulation and air infiltration products, we install garage doors, rain gutters, mirrors and shower doors,
waterproofing, window blinds and various other products;

•

enhance profitability from our operating leverage and national scale;

•

continue organic expansion in the multibillion-dollar commercial end market. Our commercial strategy includes adding more locations to
serve the large commercial market and increasing commercial sales at our existing new residential locations;
5
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•

pursue value enhancing acquisitions by continuing our disciplined approach to valuations and pricing. We will continue to be selective in
identifying acquisition targets at attractive multiples. We target profitable markets and companies with strong reputations and customer
bases. As part of our acquisition strategy, we seek to maintain the management teams of the companies we acquire as well as retain their
local branding, which further reduces associated risk. We are very experienced in acquiring and integrating companies and have an
experienced team that integrates acquisitions quickly and efficiently; and

•

we integrate new acquisitions quickly and seamlessly into our corporate infrastructure, including our accounting and employee systems. In
addition, we utilize our internal software technology, jobCORE, to integrate acquired operations and provide in-depth branch-level
operational and financial performance data. We realize near term margin enhancement and revenue growth at acquired branches by applying
our national buying power and leveraging relationships with large national homebuilders.

One of our key areas of focus has been diversifying our product and service offerings, customer base, and end markets. We have accomplished this
through organic growth as well as acquisitions. We believe the benefits of this diversification include:
•

Margin enhancement by leveraging branch costs across multiple products

•

Diversified end-market exposure

•

A more diverse customer base

•

Stronger established local relationships

•

Reduced cyclicality

We have historically experienced expanded product diversification in our branches in periods of declining insulation installation volumes as our sales
force looks to maintain volume and replace lost insulation sales with sales of complementary building products. Our oldest and most established
branches tend to exhibit the greatest diversity of service and product offerings. This diversity in turn contributes to enhanced profitability as compared to
branches in our newer, less developed markets.
However, we can provide no assurance that the positive trends reflected in our recent financial and operating results will continue in 2020.
QUALITY CONTROL AND SAFETY
Our quality control process starts with the initial proposal. Our sales staff and managers are knowledgeable about our service offerings and scope of
work. They are trained on manufacturers’ guidelines as well as state and local building codes. Our quality control programs emphasize onsite
inspections, training by manufacturers and various certification programs.
We consider risk management and safety to be a core business objective. Each year, we allocate significant staffing, funding and resources to our
management systems that directly impact safety. We have strong workplace safety measures, including Safety Wanted 365, an initiative focused on
creating a safer working environment for both our employees and other jobsite personnel through year-round education and training. Additionally, our
branch managers are held accountable for the safety of employees and quality of workmanship at their locations.
CUSTOMERS
We serve a broad group of national, regional and local homebuilders, multi-family and commercial construction firms, individual homeowners and
repair and remodeling contractors. Our top ten customers, which are primarily
6
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a combination of national and regional builders, accounted for approximately 15% of net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019. We install a
variety of products in multiple markets for our largest customers, further diversifying our relationship with them. For example, our largest customer is
independently serviced by 67 different IBP branches nationwide despite representing approximately 4% of net revenue for the year ended December 31,
2019. While our largest customers are homebuilders, our customer base is also diverse. We work on a range of commercial projects including office
buildings, airports, sports complexes, museums, hospitals, hotels and educational facilities. 16 of our top 20 customers represent homebuilders and the
remaining four represent commercial customers. We have long-term relationships with many of our customers and have served each of our top ten
customers for more than a decade.
BACKLOG
For contracts that are not complete at the reporting date, we recognize revenue over time utilizing a cost-to-cost input method. When this method is
used, we estimate the costs to complete individual contracts and record as revenue that portion of the total contract price that is considered complete
based on the relationship of costs incurred to date to total anticipated costs. The costs of earned revenue include all direct material and labor costs and
those indirect costs related to contract performance, such as indirect labor, supplies, tools and repairs. Backlog represents the transaction price for
contracts for which work has not been performed and excludes unexercised contract options and potential modifications. Backlog is not a guarantee of
future revenues as contractual commitments may change. There can be no assurance that backlog will result in revenues within the expected timeframe,
if at all. We estimate backlog was $90.7 million as of December 31, 2019 and we estimated it to be $88.0 million as of December 31, 2018.
SUPPLIERS
We have long-term relationships with many of our suppliers and have not experienced any significant disruption in the supply of any of the primary
materials we purchase and install. As one of the largest purchasers of insulation in the United States, we believe that we maintain particularly strong
relationships with the largest manufacturers of these products. The proximity of certain of our branch locations to insulation manufacturers’ facilities
provides additional mutual benefits, including opportunities for cost savings and joint planning regarding future production. Due to the limited number
of large fiberglass insulation manufacturers, our three largest suppliers in the aggregate accounted for approximately 37% of all material purchases for
the year ended December 31, 2019. We also believe that we maintain good relationships with suppliers of the non-insulation products we install. We
have found that using multiple suppliers ensures a stable source of materials and favorable purchasing terms as suppliers compete to gain and maintain
our business. In addition, our national purchasing volumes provide leverage with suppliers as we pursue additional purchasing synergies.
SEASONALITY
We tend to have higher sales during the second half of the year as our homebuilder customers complete construction of homes placed under contract for
sale in the traditionally stronger spring selling season. In addition, some of our larger branches operate in states impacted by winter weather and, as
such, experience a slowdown in construction activity during the first quarter of the calendar year. This winter slowdown contributes to traditionally
lower sales and profitability in our first quarter.
The composition and level of our working capital typically change during periods of increasing sales as we carry more inventory and receivables,
although these changes are generally offset in part by higher trade payables to our suppliers. Working capital levels increase in the summer and fall
seasons due to higher sales during the peak of residential construction activity. Typically, the subsequent collection of receivables and reduction in
inventory levels during the winter months has positively impacted cash flow. In the past, we have from time to time utilized our borrowing availability
under our credit facilities to cover short-term working capital needs.
7
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COMPETITION
We believe that competition in our industry is based on quality and timeliness of service, knowledge of local building codes, pricing, relationships and
reputation in the market. The building products installation industry is highly fragmented. The markets for our non-insulation installation services are
even more fragmented than the markets for insulation installation services. Our competitors include one other large national contractor, several large
regional contractors and numerous local contractors. We expect to continue to effectively compete in our local markets given our long-standing
customer relationships, access to capital, tenure and quality of local staff, quality installation reputation and competitive pricing.
EMPLOYEES
As of December 31, 2019, we had approximately 8,500 employees, consisting of approximately 6,050 installers, approximately 625 sales professionals,
approximately 550 production personnel and approximately 1,275 administrative and management personnel. Approximately 30 of our employees are
covered under collective bargaining agreements. We have never experienced a work stoppage or strike, and we believe that we have good relationships
with our employees.
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
JobCORE is our web-enabled internal software technology used by the majority of our branches. The system is designed to operate our business in a
highly efficient manner and manage our operations. The jobCORE software provides in-depth real-time job-level operational and financial performance
data from each branch to the corporate office. JobCORE provides us, our branch managers and our salespeople with an important operational tool for
monitoring branch level performance. It assists management in assessing important business questions, including customer analysis, sales staff analysis,
branch analysis and other operating activities.
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
We possess intellectual property rights, including trademarks, trade names and know-how and other proprietary rights that are important to our business.
In particular, we maintain registered trademarks and trade names, some of which are the trademarks and trade names under which many of our local
branches operate and we own or have licensed rights to use jobCORE and other software used in the operation of our business. While we do not believe
our business is dependent on any one of our trademarks or trade names, we believe that our trademarks and trade names are important to the
development and conduct of our business as well as to the local marketing of our services. We also maintain domain name registrations for each of our
local branch websites. We make efforts to protect our intellectual property rights, although the actions we take may be inadequate to prevent others from
using similar intellectual property. In addition, third parties may assert claims against our use of intellectual property and we may be unable to
successfully resolve such claims.
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND REGULATORY MATTERS
The Department of Energy, or DOE, states that over half of the energy used in the average American home is for heating and cooling due to many
homes not having proper insulation. Per an insulation fact sheet provided by the DOE, inadequate insulation and air leakage are leading causes of energy
waste in most homes. Through insulating homes and commercial structures, our industry promotes energy efficiency. Our loose-fill cellulose insulation
is manufactured from recycled waste paper and our fiberglass insulation is made from recycled glass which helps reuse resources and reduce our global
footprint.
We are committed to socially responsible corporate practices. Through the Installed Building Products Foundation and other volunteer opportunities, we
give back to the communities we serve. We also provide longevity stock awards and financial wellness training to our employees.
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We are subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations applicable in the jurisdictions in which we operate, including laws and regulations
relating to our relationships with our employees, public health and safety, workplace safety, transportation, zoning and fire codes. We strive to operate in
accordance with applicable laws, codes and regulations.
Our transportation operations are subject to the regulatory jurisdiction of the U.S. Department of Transportation, or DOT, which has broad
administrative powers. We are also subject to safety requirements governing interstate operations prescribed by the DOT. In addition, vehicle dimension
and weight and driver hours of service are subject to both federal and state regulation. Our operations are also subject to the regulatory jurisdiction of the
U.S. Department of Labor’s Occupational Safety and Health Administration, or OSHA, which has broad administrative powers regarding workplace and
jobsite safety.
Our operations and properties are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the use, storage, handling, generation, transportation,
treatment, emission, release, discharge and disposal of hazardous or toxic materials, substances, waste and petroleum products and the investigation,
remediation, removal and monitoring of the presence or release of such materials, substances, waste and petroleum products, including at currently or
formerly owned or occupied premises and off-site disposal locations. We have not previously incurred material costs to comply with environmental laws
and regulations. However, we could be subject to material costs, liabilities or claims relating to environmental compliance in the future, especially in the
event of changes in existing laws and regulations or in their interpretation or enforcement.
As the nature of our business involves the use or handling of certain potentially hazardous or toxic substances, including spray foam applications and
lead-based paint, we may be held liable for claims alleging injury or damage resulting from the release of or exposure to such substances, as well as
claims relating to the presence of mold, fungal growth and moisture intrusion alleged in connection with our business activities. In addition, as owners
and lessees of real property, we may be held liable for, among other things, releases of hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum products on, at, under
or emanating from currently or formerly owned or operated properties, or any off-site disposal locations, or for any known or newly discovered
environmental conditions at or relating to any of our properties, including those arising from activities conducted by previous occupants or at adjoining
properties, without regard to whether we knew of or were responsible for such release. We may be required to investigate, remove, remediate or monitor
the presence or release of such hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum products and may be held liable by a governmental entity for fines and
penalties or to any third parties for damages, including for bodily injury, property damage and natural resource damage in connection with the presence
or release of hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum products.
To date, costs to comply with applicable laws and regulations relating to pollution or the protection of human health and safety, the environment and
natural resources have not had a material adverse effect on our financial condition or operating results, and we do not anticipate incurring material
expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations in the current fiscal year.
In conjunction with our lease agreements and other transactions, we often provide reasonable and customary indemnities relating to various matters,
including environmental issues. To date, we have not had to pay a material amount pursuant to any such indemnification obligations.
In addition, our suppliers are subject to various laws and regulations, including environmental laws and regulations. With our purchase of a cellulose
manufacturer in November 2018, we are subject to similar laws and regulations that apply to our suppliers.
CORPORATE AND AVAILABLE INFORMATION
Installed Building Products, Inc. is a holding company that derives all of its operating income from its subsidiaries. Our principal executive offices are
located at 495 South High Street, Suite 50, Columbus, Ohio 43215. Our main telephone number is (614) 221-3399. Our common stock is listed on the
New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol “IBP.”
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We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, and file annual, quarterly and
current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. These filings are available to the public on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.
Our corporate website is located at www.installedbuildingproducts.com, and our investor relations website is located at
http://investors.installedbuildingproducts.com. Copies of our Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and
amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act are available, free of charge, on our investor
relations website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material with or furnish it electronically to the SEC.
We webcast our earnings calls and post the materials used in meetings with members of the investment community on our investor relations website.
Additionally, we provide notifications of news or announcements regarding our financial performance, including SEC filings, investor events and press
and earnings releases on our investor relations website. We have used, and intend to continue to use, our investor relations website as a means of
disclosing material non-public information and for complying with disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. Further corporate governance
information, including our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, governance guidelines, board committee charters and code of business conduct and
ethics, is also available on our investor relations website under the heading “Corporate Governance.” The contents of our website are not incorporated
by reference in, or otherwise made a part of, this Form 10-K or in any other report or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our websites
are intended to be inactive textual references only.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors

There are a number of business risks and uncertainties that affect our business. These risks and uncertainties could cause our actual results to differ from
past performance or expected results. We consider the following risks and uncertainties to be most relevant to our business activities. Additional risks
and uncertainties not presently known to us, or that we currently believe to be immaterial, may also adversely impact our business, financial condition
and results of operations. We urge investors to consider carefully the risk factors described below in evaluating the information contained in this report.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS
Our business and the industry in which we operate are highly dependent on general and local economic conditions, the housing market, the
level of new residential and commercial construction activity and other important factors, all of which are beyond our control.
Our business is cyclical, seasonal and highly sensitive to economic and housing market conditions over which we have no control, including:
•

the number of new home and commercial building construction starts;

•

short- and long-term interest rates;

•

inflation;

•

employment levels and job and personal income growth;

•

housing demand from population growth, household formation and other demographic changes;

•

housing affordability;

•

rental housing demand;

•

availability and cost of labor;

•

availability and cost of land;

•

changes in material prices;
10
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•

local zoning and permitting processes, including the length of building cycles from permit to completion, based on local economic or
environmental factors;

•

federal, state and local energy efficiency programs, regulations, codes and standards;

•

availability and pricing of mortgage financing for homebuyers and commercial financing for developers of multi-family homes and
commercial projects;

•

foreclosure rates;

•

consumer confidence generally and the confidence of potential homebuyers in particular;

•

U.S. and global financial system and credit market stability;

•

federal government economic, trade, and spending laws and policies;

•

private party and government mortgage loan programs and federal and state regulation, oversight and legal action regarding lending,
appraisal, foreclosure and short sale practices;

•

federal and state personal income tax rates and provisions, including provisions for the deduction of mortgage loan interest payments, state
and local income and real estate taxes and other expenses;

•

general economic conditions, including in the markets in which we compete; and

•

natural disasters, war, acts of terrorism and response to these events.

Unfavorable changes in any of the above conditions could adversely affect consumer spending, result in decreased demand for homes and adversely
affect our business generally or be more prevalent or concentrated in particular markets in which we operate. Any deterioration in economic or housing
market conditions or continuation of uncertain economic or housing market conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.
A downturn in the housing market could materially and adversely affect our business and financial results.
In 2019, the U.S. Census Bureau reported an estimated 1.29 million total housing starts. This is an increase from 1.25 million starts in 2018, but still
below the historical average over the past 60 years. There is significant uncertainty regarding the timing and extent of any further recovery in new home
construction and resulting product demand levels, and any decline may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows. In particular, increases in mortgage interest rates and rising home prices, along with other economic factors, may slow the recovery of
the home construction market or lead to a decline. In addition, concerns over the affordability of housing may reduce demand in the markets we serve.
Some analysts also project that the demand for residential construction may be negatively impacted as the number of renting households has increased in
recent years and a shortage in the supply of affordable housing is expected to result in lower home ownership rates.
Other factors that might impact growth in the homebuilding industry include: uncertainty in financial, credit and consumer lending markets amid slow
growth or recessionary conditions; levels of mortgage repayment; limited credit availability; federal and state personal income tax rates and changes to
the deductibility of certain state and local taxes; Federal Reserve policy changes; shortages of suitable building lots in many regions; shortages of
experienced labor; soft housing demand in certain markets; and rising materials prices. Given these factors, we can provide no assurance that present
growth trends will continue, whether overall or in our markets, or whether the new single-family residential market will ever return to historical levels.
The economic downturn in 2007-2010 severely affected our business. Another reduction in housing demand in the future could have a similar effect on
our business.
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Our business relies on commercial construction activity, which has faced significant challenges and is dependent on business investment.
A portion of the products we sell are for the commercial construction market. If the growth in this market does not continue or gain further momentum,
the growth potential of our business, and our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected.
According to Dodge Data & Analytics, commercial construction put in place began to recover in 2013. However, commercial building starts in 2020,
measured by investment dollars, are expected to decrease 6% from 2019 while institutional building starts (a subset of the nonresidential construction
market in which we participate) are expected to be flat.
The strength of the commercial construction market depends on business investment which is a function of many national, regional and local economic
conditions beyond our control, including capital and credit availability for commercial construction projects, material costs, interest rates, employment
rates, vacancy rates, labor and healthcare costs, fuel and other energy costs and changes in tax laws affecting the real estate industry. Adverse changes or
continued uncertainty regarding these and other economic conditions could result in a decline or postponement in spending on commercial construction
projects, which could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
We cannot predict the duration of the current market conditions or the timing or strength of any future growth of commercial construction activity in our
markets. Weakness in the commercial construction market would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating
results. Continued uncertainty about current economic conditions will continue to pose a risk to our businesses that serve the non-residential markets. If
participants in these industries postpone spending in response to tighter credit, negative financial news and declines in income or asset values or other
factors, this could have a material negative effect on the demand for our products and services and on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
A decline in the economy and/or a deterioration in expectations regarding the housing market or the commercial construction market could
cause us to record significant non-cash impairment charges, which could negatively affect our earnings and reduce stockholders’ equity.
We review our goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment annually during the fourth quarter and when events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. In doing so, we either assess qualitative factors or perform a detailed analysis to determine if it is
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. We did not record any goodwill impairment charges in 2019,
2018, or 2017; however, a decline in the expectation of our future performance, or a decline in our market capitalization, or deterioration in expectations
regarding the general economy and/or the timing and the extent of new home construction and home improvement and commercial construction activity
may cause us to recognize non-cash, pre-tax impairment charges for goodwill or other long-lived assets, which are not determinable at this time. In
addition, as a result of our acquisition strategy, we have recorded goodwill and may incur impairment charges in connection with prior and future
acquisitions. If the value of goodwill or other intangible assets is impaired, our earnings and stockholders’ equity would be adversely affected. As of
December 31, 2019, we had goodwill and other intangible assets in an aggregate amount of $349.2 million, or approximately 32% of our total assets,
which is in excess of our stockholders’ equity.
Our business is seasonal and may be affected by adverse weather conditions, natural disasters or other catastrophic events.
We tend to have higher sales during the second half of the year as our homebuilder customers complete construction of homes placed under contract for
sale in the traditionally stronger spring selling season. In addition, some of our larger branches operate in states impacted by winter weather and, as
such, experience a slowdown in construction activity during inclement months. This winter slowdown contributes to traditionally lower sales and
profitability in our first quarter.
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In addition, adverse weather conditions, such as unusually prolonged cold conditions, rain, blizzards, hurricanes, earthquakes, fires, other natural
disasters, epidemics (such as the coronavirus currently impacting China and other countries) or other catastrophic events could accelerate, delay or halt
construction or installation activity or impact our suppliers. The impact of these types of events on our business may adversely impact quarterly or
annual net revenue, cash flows from operations and results of operations.
Our industry is highly fragmented and competitive, and increased competitive pressure may adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.
The building products installation industry is highly fragmented and competitive. We face significant competition from other national, regional and local
companies. Any of these competitors may: (i) foresee the course of market development more accurately than we do; (ii) offer services that are deemed
superior to ours; (iii) install building products at a lower cost; (iv) develop stronger relationships with homebuilders and suppliers; (v) adapt more
quickly to new technologies, new installation techniques or evolving customer requirements; or (vi) have access to financing on more favorable terms
than we can obtain in the market. As a result, we may not be able to compete successfully with them. If we are unable to compete effectively, our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be adversely affected.
In the event that increased demand leads to higher prices for the products we install, we may have limited, if any, ability to pass on price increases in a
timely manner or at all due to the fragmented and competitive nature of our industry. Residential homebuilders have, in the past, placed pressure on their
suppliers to keep prices low, also contributing to the possibility of not being able to pass on price increases.
Product shortages or the loss of key suppliers could affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Our ability to offer a wide variety of products to our customers depends on our ability to obtain adequate product supply from manufacturers. We do not
typically enter into long-term agreements with our suppliers but have done so from time to time, including in 2018 when we entered into a contract to
provide a portion of the insulation materials we utilize across our businesses during 2019, 2020 and 2021. We have certain agreements that do not
qualify as supply agreements due to a lack of a fixed price and/or lack of a fixed and determinable purchase quantity, but nonetheless may require us to
purchase certain of our products from certain vendors, depending on the specific circumstances. Generally, our products are available from various
sources and in sufficient quantities to meet our operating needs. However, the loss of, or a substantial decrease in the availability of, products from our
suppliers or the loss of key supplier arrangements could adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Historically, unexpected events, such as incapacitation of supplier facilities due to extreme weather or fire, have temporarily reduced manufacturing
capacity and production. In addition, during prior economic downturns in the housing industry, manufacturers have reduced capacity by closing plants
and production lines within plants. Even if such capacity reductions are not permanent, there may be a delay in manufacturers’ ability to increase
capacity in times of rising demand. If the demand for products from manufacturers and other suppliers exceeds the available supply, we may be unable
to source additional products in sufficient quantity or quality in a timely manner and the prices for the products that we install could rise. These
developments could affect our ability to take advantage of market opportunities and limit our growth prospects. We continually evaluate our supplier
relationships and at any given time may move some or all of our purchases from one or more of our suppliers. There can be no assurance that any such
action would have its intended effect.
Failure by our suppliers to continue to provide us with products on commercially favorable terms, or at all, could have a material adverse effect on our
operating margins, financial condition, operating results and/or cash flows. Our inability to source materials in a timely manner could also damage our
relationships with our customers.
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Changes in the costs of the products we install, an inability to increase our selling prices or a delay in the timing of such increases can decrease
our profit margins
The principal building products that we install have been subject to price changes in the past, some of which have been significant. For example, the
industry supply of a portion of the insulation materials we install was disrupted due to a catastrophic failure at a manufacturer’s facility during the fourth
quarter of 2017, resulting in insulation material allocation throughout the industry and, as a result, increased market pricing which impacted our results
of operations in 2018 and 2019. Increased market pricing, regardless of the catalyst, could impact our results of operations in the future to the extent that
price increases cannot be passed on to our customers. While we continue to work with our customers to adjust selling prices to offset the aforementioned
higher costs, there can be no assurance that any such action would have its intended effect. In addition, our results of operations for individual quarterly
periods can be, and have been, adversely affected by a delay between when building product cost increases are implemented and when we are able to
increase prices for our products and services, if at all. Our supplier purchase prices often depend on volume requirements. If we do not meet these
volume requirements, our costs could increase and our margins may be adversely affected. In addition, while we have been able to achieve cost savings
through volume purchasing and our relationships with suppliers, we may not be able to continue to receive advantageous pricing for the products that we
install, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
We may not be able to continue to successfully expand into new products or geographic markets and further diversify our business, which
could negatively impact our future sales and results of operations.
Generally, we seek to acquire businesses that will complement, enhance, or expand our current business or product offerings, or that might otherwise
offer us growth opportunities, including the expansion of our national footprint and end markets. Our business depends in part on our ability to diversify
and grow our business and expand the types of complementary building products that we install. Our product and geographic expansion may not be
successful and may not deliver expected results, which could negatively impact our future sales and results of operations.
Our expansion into new geographic markets may present competitive, local market and other challenges that differ from current ones. We may be less
familiar with the target customers and may face different or additional risks, as well as increased or unexpected costs, compared to existing operations.
Expansion into new geographic markets may also bring us into direct competition with companies with whom we have little or no past experience as
competitors. To the extent we rely upon expansion into new geographic markets for growth and do not meet the new challenges posed by such
expansion, our future sales growth could be negatively impacted, our operating costs could increase, and our business operations and financial results
could be adversely affected.
We may be unable to successfully acquire and integrate other businesses and realize the anticipated benefits of acquisitions.
Acquisitions are a core part of our strategy and we may be unable to continue to grow our business through acquisitions. We may not be able to continue
to identify suitable acquisition candidates and may face increased competition for these acquisition candidates. In addition, acquired businesses may not
perform in accordance with expectations, and our business judgments concerning the value, strengths and weaknesses of acquired businesses may not
prove to be correct. We may also be unable to achieve expected improvements or achievements in businesses that we acquire. At any given time,
including currently, we may be evaluating or in discussions with one or more acquisition candidates, including entering into non-binding letters of
intent. The value of our common stock following the completion of an acquisition could be adversely affected if we are unable to realize the expected
benefits from the acquisition on a timely basis or at all. Future acquisitions may result in the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities, legal liabilities,
goodwill impairments, increased interest expense and amortization expense and significant integration costs. In addition, future acquisitions could result
in dilution of existing stockholders if we issue shares of common stock as consideration.
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Acquisitions involve a number of special risks, including:
•

our inability to manage acquired businesses or control integration costs and other costs relating to acquisitions;

•

potential adverse short-term effects on operating results from increased costs, business disruption or otherwise;

•

diversion of management’s attention;

•

loss of suppliers, customers or other significant business partners of the acquired business;

•

failure to retain existing key personnel of the acquired business and recruit qualified new employees at the location;

•

failure to successfully implement infrastructure, logistics and systems integration;

•

potential impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets;

•

risks associated with the internal controls of acquired businesses;

•

exposure to legal claims for activities of the acquired business prior to acquisition and inability to realize on any indemnification claims,
including with respect to environmental and immigration claims;

•

the risks inherent in the systems of the acquired business and risks associated with unanticipated events or liabilities; and

•

our inability to obtain financing necessary to complete acquisitions on attractive terms or at all.

Our strategy could be impeded if we do not identify, or face increased competition for, suitable acquisition candidates and our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected if any of the foregoing factors were to occur.
Our continued expansion into the commercial construction end market could affect our revenue, margins, financial condition, operating results
and cash flows.
Our commercial construction end market business involves competitive, operational, financial and accounting challenges and other risks that differ from
our traditional residential end market business. For example, the typical contractual terms and arrangements and billing cycle for the commercial
construction end market are different than the residential new construction end market. In addition, our expansion may include opening new branches
that have higher start-up costs compared to our acquired branches. These factors and any other challenges we encounter could adversely affect our
margins, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.
As of December 31, 2019, our estimated backlog was approximately $90.7 million. In accordance with industry practice, many of our contracts are
subject to cancellation, reduction, termination or suspension at the discretion of the customer in respect of work that has not yet been performed. In the
event of a project cancellation, we would generally have no contractual right to the total revenue reflected in our backlog but instead would collect
revenues in respect of all work performed at the time of cancellation as well as all other costs and expenses incurred by us through such date. Projects
can remain in backlog for extended periods of time because of the nature of the project, delays in execution of the project and the timing of the particular
services required by the project. Additionally, the risk of contracts in backlog being canceled, terminated or suspended generally increases at times,
including as a result of periods of widespread macroeconomic and industry slowdown, weather, seasonality and many of the other factors impacting our
business. Many of the contracts in our backlog are subject to changes in the scope of services to be provided as well as adjustments to the costs relating
to the contracts. The revenue for certain contracts included in backlog are based on estimates. Therefore, the timing of performance on our individual
contracts can affect our margins and future profitability. There can be no assurance that backlog will result in revenues within the expected timeframe, if
at all.
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We may be subject to claims arising from the operations of our various businesses for periods prior to the dates we acquired them.
We have consummated over 150 acquisitions. From time to time we are subject to claims or liabilities arising from the ownership or operation of
acquired businesses for the periods prior to our acquisition of them, including environmental, employee-related and other liabilities and claims not
covered by insurance. Any future claims or liabilities could be significant. Our ability to seek indemnification from the former owners of our acquired
businesses for these claims or liabilities may be limited by various factors, including the specific time, monetary or other limitations contained in the
respective acquisition agreements and the financial ability of the former owners to satisfy our indemnification claims. In addition, insurance companies
may be unwilling to cover claims that have arisen from acquired businesses or locations, or claims may exceed the coverage limits that our acquired
businesses had in effect prior to the date of acquisition. If we are unable to successfully obtain insurance coverage of third-party claims or enforce our
indemnification rights against the former owners, or if the former owners are unable to satisfy their obligations for any reason, including because of their
financial position, we could be held liable for the costs or obligations associated with such claims or liabilities, which could adversely affect our
financial condition and results of operations.
Our success depends on our key personnel.
Our business results depend largely upon the continued contributions of our senior management team. We do not have employment agreements with any
of our executive officers other than Jeff Edwards, our Chief Executive Officer and President. Although Mr. Edwards’ employment agreement requires
him to devote the amount of time necessary to conduct our business and affairs, he is also permitted to engage in other business activities that do not
create a conflict of interest or substantially interfere with his service to us, including non-competitive operational activities for his real estate
development business. If we lose members of our management team, our business, financial condition and results of operations, as well as the market
price of our securities, could be adversely affected.
Our business results also depend upon our branch managers and sales personnel, including those of companies recently acquired. While we customarily
sign non-competition agreements, which typically continue for two years following the termination of employment, with our branch managers and sales
personnel in order to maintain key customer relationships in our markets, such agreements do not protect us fully against competition from former
employees.
We are dependent on attracting, training and retaining qualified employees while controlling labor costs.
The labor market for the construction industry is competitive, including within the sector in which we operate. We must attract, train and retain a large
number of qualified employees to install our products while controlling related labor costs. We face significant competition for these employees from
our industry as well as from other industries. Tighter labor markets may make it even more difficult for us to hire and retain installers and control labor
costs. Our ability to attract qualified employees and control labor costs is subject to numerous external factors, including competitive wage rates and
health and other insurance and benefit costs. A significant increase in competition, minimum wage or overtime rates in localities where we have
employees could have a significant impact on our operating costs and may require that we take steps to mitigate such increases, all of which may cause
us to incur additional costs, expend resources responding to such increases and lower our margins.
Higher labor and health care costs could adversely affect our business.
Our labor costs have increased in recent years and may continue to increase as a result of competition, health and other insurance and benefit costs. In
addition, health care coverage requirements, changes in workplace regulations and any future legislation could cause us to experience higher health care
and labor costs in the future. Increased labor, health care and insurance costs could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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Variability in self-insurance liability estimates could adversely impact our results of operations.
We carry insurance for risks including, but not limited to, workers’ compensation, general liability, vehicle liability, property and our obligation for
employee-related health care benefits. In most cases, these risks are insured under high deductible and/or high-retention programs that require us to
carry highly subjective liability reserves on our balance sheet. We estimate these insurance liabilities by considering historical claims experience,
including frequency, severity, demographic factors and other actuarial assumptions, and periodically analyzing our historical trends with the assistance
of external actuarial consultants. Our accruals for insurance reserves reflect these estimates and other management judgments, which are subject to
variability. If our claim experience differs significantly from historical trends and actuarial assumptions and we then need to increase our reserves, our
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Changes in employment laws may adversely affect our business.
Various federal and state labor laws govern the relationship with our employees and impact operating costs. These laws include:
•

employee classification as exempt or non-exempt for overtime and other purposes;

•

workers’ compensation rates;

•

immigration status;

•

mandatory health benefits;

•

tax reporting; and

•

other wage and benefit requirements.

We have a significant exposure to changes in laws governing our relationships with our employees, including wage and hour laws and regulations, fair
labor standards, minimum wage requirements, overtime pay, unemployment tax rates, workers’ compensation rates, citizenship requirements and payroll
taxes, which likely would have a direct impact on our operating costs. Significant additional government-imposed increases in the preceding areas could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our business could be adversely affected by changes in immigration laws or failure to properly verify the employment eligibility of our
employees.
Some states in which we operate are considering or have already adopted new immigration laws or enforcement programs, and the federal government
from time to time considers and implements changes to federal immigration laws, regulations or enforcement programs. These changes may increase our
compliance and oversight obligations, which could subject us to additional costs and make our hiring process more cumbersome, or reduce the
availability of potential employees. Although we verify the employment eligibility status of all our employees, including through participation in the
“E-Verify” program in the states that require it, some of our employees may, without our knowledge, be unauthorized workers. In addition, use of the
“E-Verify” program does not guarantee that we will properly identify all applicants who are ineligible for employment. Unauthorized workers are
subject to deportation and may subject us to fines or penalties and, if any of our workers are found to be unauthorized, we could experience adverse
publicity that negatively impacts our brand and may make it more difficult to hire and retain qualified employees. Termination of a significant number
of employees due to work authorization or other regulatory issues may disrupt our operations, cause temporary increases in our labor costs as we train
new employees and result in additional adverse publicity. We could also become subject to fines, penalties and other costs related to claims that we did
not fully comply with all recordkeeping obligations of federal and state immigration laws. These factors could have a material adverse effect on our
reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Furthermore, immigration laws have been an area of considerable political focus in recent years, and the U.S. Congress, Department of Homeland
Security and the Executive Branch of the U.S. government from time to time consider or implement changes to federal immigration laws, regulations or
enforcement programs. Changes in immigration or work authorization laws may increase our obligations for compliance and oversight, which could
subject us to additional costs and potential liability and make our hiring process more cumbersome, or reduce the availability of potential employees. We
are subject to regulations of U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement, or ICE, and Department of Labor, and we are audited from time to time by
these parties for compliance with work authentication requirements. While we believe we are in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, if we
are found not to be in compliance as a result of any audits, we may be subject to fines or other remedial actions.
Our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be adversely affected if pending or future legal claims against us are not
resolved in our favor.
We are subject to various claims and lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business, including wage and hour lawsuits. The ultimate resolution of
these matters is subject to inherent uncertainties. It is possible that the costs to resolve these matters could have a material adverse effect on our results
of operations, financial condition or cash flows for the periods in which the matters are resolved. Similarly, if additional claims are filed against us in the
future, the negative outcome of one or more of such matters could have a material adverse effect on our results, financial condition and cash flows.
The nature of our business exposes us to product liability, workmanship warranty, casualty, negligence, construction defect, breach of contract
and other claims and legal proceedings.
We are subject to product liability, workmanship warranty, casualty, negligence, construction defect, breach of contract and other claims and legal
proceedings relating to the products we install or manufacture that, if adversely determined, could adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows. We rely on manufacturers and other suppliers to provide us with most of the products we install. Other than for our recently
acquired manufacturer of cellulose insulation, we do not have direct control over the quality of such products manufactured or supplied by such thirdparty suppliers. As such, we are exposed to risks relating to the quality of such products.
In addition, we are exposed to potential claims arising from the conduct of our employees, homebuilders and other subcontractors, for which we may be
contractually liable. We have in the past been, and may in the future be, subject to fines, penalties and other liabilities in connection with injury or
damage incurred in conjunction with the installation of our products. The nature and extent to which we use hazardous or flammable materials in our
manufacturing processes creates risk of damage to persons and property that, if realized, could be material. Although we currently maintain what we
believe to be suitable and adequate insurance, we may be unable to maintain such insurance on acceptable terms or such insurance may not provide
adequate protection against potential liabilities. In addition, some liabilities may not be covered by our insurance.
Product liability, workmanship warranty, casualty, negligence, construction defect, breach of contract and other claims and legal proceedings can be
expensive to defend and can divert the attention of management and other personnel for significant periods of time, regardless of the ultimate outcome.
In addition, lawsuits relating to construction defects typically have statutes of limitations that can run as long as ten years. Claims of this nature could
also have a negative impact on customer confidence in us and our services. Current or future claims could have a material adverse effect on our
reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations. For additional information, see Note 15, Commitments and Contingencies, to our
audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
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In the ordinary course of business, we are required to obtain performance bonds and licensing bonds, the unavailability of which could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows.
We are often required to obtain performance bonds and licensing bonds to secure our performance under certain contracts and other arrangements. In
addition, the commercial construction end market also requires higher levels of performance bonding.
Our ability to obtain performance bonds and licensing bonds primarily depends on our credit rating, capitalization, working capital, past performance,
management expertise and certain external factors, including the overall capacity of the surety market and the underwriting practices of surety bond
issuers. The ability to obtain performance bonds and licensing bonds can also be impacted by the willingness of insurance companies to issue
performance bonds and licensing bonds. If we are unable to obtain performance bonds and licensing bonds when required, our business, financial
condition, results of operations and/or cash flows could be adversely impacted.
Federal, state, local and other laws and regulations could impose substantial costs and/or restrictions on our operations and could adversely
affect our business.
We are subject to various federal, state, local and other laws and regulations, including, among other things, worker and workplace health and safety
regulations promulgated by the OSHA, employment regulations promulgated by the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and tax
regulations promulgated by the Internal Revenue Service and various other state and local tax authorities. Our primary manufacturing facility is also
subject to additional laws and regulations which may increase our exposure to health and safety liabilities. In addition, we are subject to increased
regulation of data privacy and information security, including the adoption of more stringent state laws, such as the California Consumer Privacy Act
which went into effect in January 2020. These types of data privacy and security laws, which continue to evolve, create a range of new compliance
obligations for us and increase financial penalties for non-compliance. Additional or more burdensome regulatory requirements in these or other areas
may increase our expenses, reduce demand for our services or restrict our ability to offer services in certain geographies, all of which could adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Moreover, our failure to comply with any of the regulatory requirements
applicable to our business could subject us to substantial fines and penalties that could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.
Our transportation operations, which we depend on to transport materials from our locations to job sites, are subject to the regulatory jurisdiction of the
DOT. The DOT has broad administrative powers with respect to our transportation operations. More restrictive limitations on vehicle weight and size,
trailer length and configuration or driver hours of service would increase our costs, which may increase our expenses and adversely affect our financial
condition, operating results and/or cash flows. If we fail to comply with DOT regulations or the regulations become more stringent, we could experience
increased inspections, regulatory authorities could take remedial action, including imposing fines or shutting down our operations, and we could be
subject to increased audit and compliance costs. We organize our transportation operations as a separate legal entity in certain states, including Ohio and
Indiana, to take advantage of sales tax exemptions relating to vehicle operating costs. If legislation is enacted that modifies or eliminates these
exemptions, our costs may increase. If any of these events were to occur, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be adversely
affected.
In addition, the residential construction and commercial construction industries are subject to various federal, state and local statutes, ordinances, rules
and regulations concerning zoning, building design and safety, construction, contractors’ licensing, energy conservation and similar matters, including
regulations that impose restrictive zoning and density requirements on the residential new construction industry or that limit the number of homes that
can be built within the boundaries of a particular area. Regulatory restrictions and industry standards may require us to alter our installation processes
and our sourcing, increase our operating expenses and limit the availability of suitable building lots for our customers, any of which could negatively
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We are subject to environmental regulation and potential exposure to environmental liabilities.
We are subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations. Although we believe that we operate our business, including each
of our locations, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations and maintain all material permits required under such laws and regulations to
operate our business, we may be held liable or incur fines or penalties in connection with such requirements. In addition, environmental laws and
regulations, including those related to energy use and climate change, may become more stringent over time, and any future laws and regulations could
have a material impact on our operations or require us to incur material additional expenses to comply with any such future laws and regulations.
Our primary manufacturing facility is also subject to additional laws and regulations which may increase our exposure to environmental liabilities.
Despite providing a benefit to the environment by making structures more energy efficient, certain types of insulation, particularly spray foam
applications, require our employees to handle potentially hazardous or toxic substances. While our employees who handle these and other potentially
hazardous or toxic materials, including lead-based paint, receive specialized training and wear protective clothing, there is still a risk that they, or others,
may be exposed to these substances. Exposure to these substances could result in significant injury to our employees and others, including site
occupants, and damage to our property or the property of others, including natural resource damage. Our personnel and others at our work sites are also
at risk for other workplace-related injuries, including slips and falls.
In addition, as owners and lessees of real property, we may be held liable for, among other things, hazardous or toxic substances, including asbestos or
petroleum products on, at, under or emanating from currently or formerly owned or operated properties, or any off-site disposal locations, or for any
known or newly discovered environmental conditions at or relating to any of our properties, including those arising from activities conducted by
previous occupants or at adjoining properties, without regard to whether we knew of or were responsible for such release. We may be required to
investigate, remove, remediate or monitor the presence or release of such hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum products. We may also be held
liable for fines, penalties or damages, including for bodily injury, property damage and natural resource damage in connection with the presence or
release of hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum products. In addition, expenditures may be required in the future as a result of releases of, or
exposure to, hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum products, the discovery of currently unknown environmental conditions or changes in
environmental laws and regulations or their interpretation or enforcement and, in certain instances, such expenditures may be material.
Increases in union organizing activity and work stoppages could delay or reduce availability of products that we install and increase our costs.
Less than one percent of our employees are currently covered by collective bargaining or other similar labor agreements. However, if a larger number of
our employees were to unionize, including in the wake of any future legislation that makes it easier for employees to unionize, or if we acquire an entity
with unionized workforce in the future, our business could be negatively affected. Any inability by us to negotiate collective bargaining arrangements
could cause strikes or other work stoppages, and new contracts could result in increased operating costs. If any such strikes or other work stoppages
occur, or if other employees become represented by a union, we could experience a disruption of our operations and higher labor costs.
In addition, certain of our suppliers have unionized work forces and certain of our products are transported by unionized truckers. Strikes or work
stoppages could result in slowdowns or closures of facilities where the products that we install are manufactured or could affect the ability of our
suppliers to deliver such products to us. Any interruption in the production or delivery of these products could delay or reduce availability of these
products and increase our costs.
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Increases in fuel costs could adversely affect our results of operations.
The price of oil has fluctuated over the last few years, creating volatility in our fuel costs. We do not currently hedge our fuel costs. Increases in fuel
costs can negatively impact our cost to deliver our products to our customers and thus increase our cost of sales. If we are unable to increase the selling
price of our products to our customers to cover any increases in fuel costs, net income may be adversely affected.
We may be adversely affected by disruptions in our information technology systems.
Our operations are dependent upon our information technology systems, including our web-enabled internal software technology, jobCORE. The
jobCORE software provides in-depth operational and financial performance data from individual branch locations to the corporate office. We rely upon
such information technology systems to manage customer orders on a timely basis, coordinate our sales and installation activities across locations and
manage invoicing. As a result, the proper functioning of our information technology systems is critical to the successful operation of our business.
Although our information technology systems are protected through physical and software safeguards, our information technology systems are still
vulnerable to natural disasters, power losses, unauthorized access, delays and outages in our service, system capacity limits from unexpected increases in
our volume of business, telecommunication failures, computer viruses and other problems. A substantial disruption in our information technology
systems for any prolonged time period could result in delays in receiving inventory and supplies or installing our products on a timely basis for our
customers, which could adversely affect our reputation and customer relationships.
In the event of a cybersecurity incident, we could experience operational interruptions, incur substantial additional costs, become subject to
legal or regulatory proceedings or suffer damage to our reputation.
In addition to the disruptions that may occur from interruptions in our information technology systems, cybersecurity threats and sophisticated and
targeted cyberattacks pose a risk to our information technology systems. We have established security policies, processes and defenses designed to help
identify and protect against intentional and unintentional misappropriation or corruption of our information technology systems and information and
disruption of our operations. Despite these efforts, our information technology systems may be damaged, disrupted or shut down due to attacks by
unauthorized access, malicious software, computer viruses, undetected intrusion, hardware failures or other events, and in these circumstances our
disaster recovery plans may be ineffective or inadequate. These breaches or intrusions could lead to business interruption, exposure of proprietary or
confidential information, data corruption, damage to our reputation, exposure to legal and regulatory proceedings and other costs. Such events could
have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, we could be adversely affected if any of our
significant customers or suppliers experiences any similar events that disrupt their business operations or damage their reputation.
As cyberattacks become more sophisticated generally, we may be required to incur significant costs to strengthen our systems to protect against outside
intrusions and/or continue to maintain insurance coverage related to the threat of such attacks. While we have invested in industry appropriate
protections and monitoring practices of our data and information technology to reduce these risks and test our systems on an ongoing basis for any
current or potential threats, there can be no assurance that our efforts will prevent breakdowns or breaches of our or our third-party providers’ databases
or systems that could adversely affect our business.
We carry cybersecurity insurance to help mitigate the financial exposure and related notification procedures in the event of intentional intrusion. The
measures that we implement to reduce and mitigate these risks may not be effective. While to date these threats have not had a material impact on our
business or operations, if such an event occurred, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.
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Because we operate our business through highly dispersed locations across the United States, our operations may be materially adversely
affected by inconsistent practices and the operating results of individual branches may vary.
We operate our business through a network of highly dispersed locations throughout the United States, supported by executives and services at our
corporate office, with local branch management retaining responsibility for day-to-day operations and adherence to applicable local laws. Our operating
structure can make it difficult for us to coordinate procedures across our operations in a timely manner or at all. In addition, our branches may require
significant oversight and coordination from our corporate office to support their growth. Inconsistent implementation of corporate strategy and policies
at the local level could materially and adversely affect our overall profitability, business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
In addition, the operating results of an individual branch may differ from those of another branch for a variety of reasons, including market size,
management practices, competitive landscape, regulatory requirements, state and local taxes and local economic conditions. As a result, certain of our
branches may experience higher or lower levels of growth than other branches. Therefore, our overall financial performance and results of operations
may not be indicative of the performance and results of operations of any individual branch.
We have debt principal and interest payment requirements that may restrict our future operations and impair our ability to meet our
obligations.
Our degree of leverage and level of interest expense may have important consequences, including:
•

our leverage may place us at a competitive disadvantage as compared with our less leveraged competitors and make us more vulnerable in
the event of a downturn in general economic conditions or in any of our businesses;

•

our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our businesses and the industries in which we operate may be limited;

•

a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations will be dedicated to the payment of interest and principal on our indebtedness, thereby
reducing the funds available to us for operations, capital expenditures, acquisitions, future business opportunities or obligations to pay rent
in respect of our operating leases; and

Our ability to service our debt and other obligations will depend on our future operating performance, which will be affected by prevailing economic
conditions and financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. Our business may not generate sufficient cash flow, and
future financings may not be available to provide sufficient net proceeds, to meet these obligations or to successfully execute our business strategies. See
Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Liquidity and Capital Resources, Credit Facilities.
Restrictions in our existing credit facilities and any future facilities or any other indebtedness we may incur in the future, limit our ability to
take certain actions and could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and the value of our common stock.
Our credit facilities, or any future facilities we enter into or other indebtedness we incur, impose certain restrictions and obligations on us. Under certain
of these instruments, we must comply with defined covenants that limit our ability to, among other things:
•

incur or guarantee additional debt and issue preferred stock;

•

make distributions or dividends on or redeem or repurchase shares of common stock;

•

make certain investments and acquisitions;
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•

make capital expenditures;

•

incur certain liens or permit them to exist;

•

enter into certain types of transactions with affiliates;

•

acquire, merge or consolidate with another company; or

•

transfer, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets.

Our credit facilities contain, and any future facilities or other debt instruments we may enter into may contain, covenants requiring us to maintain certain
financial ratios and meet certain tests, such as an excess cash flow test, fixed charge coverage ratio, leverage ratio or debt to earnings ratio. See Item 7,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Liquidity and Capital Resources, Credit Facilities. Our ability
to comply with those financial ratios and tests can be affected by events beyond our control, and we may not be able to comply with those ratios and
tests when required to do so under the applicable debt instruments.
The provisions of our credit facilities, or other debt instruments, may affect our ability to obtain future financing and pursue attractive business
opportunities and our flexibility in planning for, and reacting to, changes in business conditions. In addition, a failure to comply with the provisions of
our credit facilities, any future credit facility or other debt instruments could result in a default or an event of default that could enable our lenders or
other debt holders to declare the outstanding principal of that debt, together with accrued and unpaid interest, to be immediately due and payable. If the
payment of our debt is accelerated, our assets may be insufficient to repay such debt in full, and our stockholders could experience a partial or total loss
of their investment.
If we default on our obligations under the instruments governing our indebtedness, we may not be able to make payments on the notes.
A failure by us to comply with the agreements governing our indebtedness including, without limitation, our existing credit facilities or any future
facilities, the indenture governing the notes offered hereby and our other contractual obligations (including restrictive, financial and other covenants
included therein), to pay our indebtedness and fixed costs or to post collateral (including under hedging arrangements) could result in a variety of
material adverse consequences, including a default under our indebtedness and the exercise of remedies by our creditors, lessors and other contracting
parties, and such defaults could trigger additional defaults under other indebtedness or agreements.
Any such default under the agreements governing our existing or future indebtedness and the remedies sought by the holders of such indebtedness could
make us unable to make payments to pay principal of, or premium, if any, and interest on the notes, substantially decrease the market value of the notes
and result in a cross-default under the notes. In the event of a default under our existing credit facilities or any future facilities or in respect of other
indebtedness, the holders of such indebtedness may be able to cause all of our available cash flow to be used to pay such indebtedness, may be able to
terminate outstanding credit commitments and/or may be able to cease making loans to us and, in any event, could elect to declare all of the funds
borrowed under the applicable agreement to be immediately due and payable, together with accrued and unpaid interest, and we could be forced into
bankruptcy or liquidation.
If our operating performance declines, we may need to seek waivers from the holders of our indebtedness to avoid being in default under the instruments
governing such indebtedness. If we breach our covenants under our indebtedness, we may not be able to obtain a waiver from the holders of such
indebtedness on terms acceptable to us or at all. If this occurs, we would be in default under such indebtedness, the holders of such indebtedness and
other lenders could exercise their rights as described above, and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation.
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Adverse credit ratings could increase our costs of borrowing money and limit our access to capital markets and commercial credit.
Moody’s Investor Service and Standard & Poor’s routinely evaluate our credit profile on an ongoing basis and have assigned ratings for our long-term
debt. If these rating agencies downgrade any of our current credit ratings, our borrowing costs could increase and our access to the capital and
commercial credit markets could be adversely affected.
Our indebtedness exposes us to interest expense increases if interest rates increase.
If interest rates increase, our debt service obligations on our variable rate indebtedness, if any exists at the balance sheet date, would increase even
though the amount borrowed would remain the same, and our net income and cash flows would correspondingly decrease. Specifically, we had no
outstanding borrowings on our Revolver, as hereinafter defined, as of December 31, 2019, but should we have a balance in the future, we would incur
interest based on a rate that varies per the conditions set forth in our agreement.
In addition, advances under our credit facilities generally bear interest based on, at our election, either the Eurodollar rate (“LIBOR”) or the base rate
(which approximated the prime rate) plus a margin based on the type of rate applied and leverage ratio. On July 27, 2017, the Financial Conduct
Authority (the authority that regulates LIBOR) announced that it intends to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after
2021, and it is unclear whether new methods of calculating LIBOR will be established. Our Term Loan Agreement, as hereinafter defined, includes a
mechanism to establish an alternative Eurodollar rate if certain circumstances arise such that LIBOR may no longer be used. Additionally, our ABL
Credit Agreement, as hereinafter defined, includes a provision related to the potential discontinuance of LIBOR to be replaced with one or more Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) values or another alternate benchmark rate. However, if LIBOR ceases to exist after 2021, the interest rates under the
alternative rate could be higher than LIBOR. To the extent that these interest rates are higher, our interest expense will increase, which could adversely
affect our financial condition, operating results and cash flows.
Our term loan bears interest at a variable rate, however interest rate hedges in place mitigate the risk of interest rate fluctuations associated with a
portion of the outstanding debt balance. These derivative instruments are indexed to LIBOR, the value of which could also be impacted if LIBOR is
limited or discontinued. For some instruments, the method of transitioning to an alternative reference rate may be challenging, especially if we cannot
agree with the respective counterparty about how to make the transition. If a contract is not transitioned to an alternative reference rate and LIBOR is
discontinued, the impact on our contracts is likely to vary by contract. If LIBOR is discontinued or if the methods of calculating LIBOR change from
their current form, interest rates on our current or future indebtedness may be adversely affected. While we expect LIBOR to be available in
substantially its current form until the end of 2021, it is possible that LIBOR will become unavailable prior to that point. This could result, for example,
if sufficient banks decline to make submissions to the LIBOR administrator. In that case, the risks associated with the transition to an alternative
reference rate will be accelerated and magnified.
We may require additional capital in the future, which may not be available on favorable terms or at all.
Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including industry and market conditions, our ability to successfully complete future
business combinations and expansion of our existing operations. We anticipate that we may need to raise additional funds in order to grow our business
and implement our business strategy. We anticipate that any such additional funds may be raised through equity or debt financings. Any equity or debt
financing, if available at all, may be on terms that are not favorable to us and will be subject to changes in interest rates and the capital markets
environment. Even if we are able to raise capital through equity or debt financings, as to which there can be no assurance, the interest of existing
stockholders in our company may be diluted, and the securities we issue may have rights, preferences and privileges that are senior to those of our
common stock or may otherwise materially and adversely affect the holdings or rights of our existing stockholders. If we cannot obtain adequate capital,
we may not be able to fully implement our business strategy and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.
24

Table of Contents

Terrorist attacks or acts of war against the United States or increased domestic or international instability could have an adverse effect on our
operations.
Adverse developments in the war on terrorism, terrorist attacks against the United States or any outbreak or escalation of hostilities between the United
States and any foreign power may cause disruption to the economy, our business, our employees and our customers, which could negatively impact our
financial condition and results of operations.
RISKS RELATED TO OWNERSHIP OF OUR COMMON STOCK
The price of our common stock may fluctuate substantially and your investment may decline in value.
The market price of our common stock may be significantly affected by factors, such as:
•

market conditions affecting the residential construction, commercial construction and building products industries;

•

quarterly variations in our results of operations;

•

changes in government regulations;

•

the announcement of acquisitions by us or our competitors;

•

changes in general economic and political conditions;

•

volatility in the financial markets;

•

results of our operations and the operations of others in our industry;

•

changes in interest rates;

•

threatened or actual litigation and government investigations;

•

the addition or departure of key personnel;

•

actions taken by our stockholders, including the sale or disposition of their shares of our common stock; and

•

differences between our actual financial and operating results and those expected by investors and analysts and changes in analysts’
recommendations or projections.

These and other factors may lower the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance.
Furthermore, in recent years the stock market and the price of our common stock has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations. This
volatility has had a significant impact on the market price of securities issued by many companies, including companies in our industry. The changes
frequently appear to occur without regard to the operating performance of the affected companies. Hence, the price of our common stock could fluctuate
based upon factors that have little or nothing to do with us, and these fluctuations could materially reduce the price of our common stock and materially
affect the value of your investment.
Our internal controls over financial reporting may not be effective, which could have a significant and adverse effect on our business and
reputation.
As a public company, we are required to comply with the SEC’s rules implementing Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which require
management to certify financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual management report on the effectiveness
of controls over financial reporting.
To comply with the requirements of being a public company, we may undertake various actions, such as implementing additional internal controls and
procedures and hiring additional accounting or internal audit staff.
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Testing and maintaining internal controls can divert our management’s attention from other matters that are important to the operation of our business. If
we identify material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting or are unable to comply with the requirements of Section 404 or are
unable to assert that our internal controls over financial reporting are effective, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our
financial reports and the market price of our common stock could be negatively affected, and we could become subject to investigations by the SEC or
other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources.
Future sales of our common stock, or the perception in the public markets that these sales may occur, may depress our stock price.
The market price of our common stock could decline significantly as a result of sales of a large number of shares of our common stock. These sales, or
the perception that these sales might occur, could depress the market price of our common stock or make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities
in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate.
We have approximately 30.0 million shares of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2019. The shares of common stock are freely tradable,
except for any shares of common stock that may be held or acquired by our directors, executive officers and other affiliates, the sale of which will be
restricted under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. As of December 31, 2019, approximately 2.2 million of the 3.0 million shares of common stock
authorized for issuance under the 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan were available for issuance. These shares will become eligible for sale in the public
market in the future, subject to certain legal and contractual limitations. If our existing stockholders sell substantial amounts of our common stock in the
public market, or if the public perceives that such sales could occur, this could have an adverse impact on the market price of our common stock, even if
there is no relationship between such sales and the performance of our business.
Jeff Edwards has significant ownership of our common stock and may have interests that conflict with those of our other stockholders.
As of December 31, 2019, Jeff Edwards beneficially owns approximately 23.0% of our outstanding common stock. As a result of his beneficial
ownership of our common stock, he has sufficient voting power to significantly influence all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the
election of directors, amendment of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and approval of significant corporate transactions, and he has
significant influence over our management and policies. This concentration of voting power may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in
control of us or discouraging others from making tender offers for our shares of common stock, which could prevent stockholders from receiving a
premium for their shares of common stock. These actions may be taken even if other stockholders oppose them. The interests of Jeff Edwards may not
always coincide with the interests of other stockholders, and he may act in a manner that advances his best interests and not necessarily those of our
other stockholders. In addition, under our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, Jeff Edwards is permitted to pursue corporate opportunities
for himself, rather than for us.
Provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law could delay, discourage or prevent an acquisition of us, even if the acquisition would be
beneficial to our stockholders, and could make it more difficult for our stockholders to change our management.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control that
stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares of our common
stock. In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempt by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it
more difficult to replace or remove members of our board of directors. These provisions include the following:
•

a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms;

•

no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;
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•

the exclusive right of our board of directors to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the board of directors or the resignation, death or
removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors;

•

the ability of our board of directors to authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those
shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of
the holders of our stock or a hostile acquirer;

•

a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our
stockholders;

•

a requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by a resolution duly adopted by our board of directors; and

•

advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose
matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of
proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

In addition, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in
any of a broad range of business combinations with a stockholder owning 15% or more of such corporation’s outstanding voting stock for a period of
three years following the date on which such stockholder became an “interested” stockholder. In order for us to consummate a business combination
with an “interested” stockholder within three years of the date on which the stockholder became “interested,” either (1) the business combination or the
transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming “interested” must be approved by our board of directors prior to the date the stockholder became
“interested,” (2) the “interested” stockholder must own at least 85% of our outstanding voting stock at the time the transaction commences (excluding
voting stock owned by directors who are also officers and certain employee stock plans) or (3) the business combination must be approved by our board
of directors and authorized by at least two-thirds of our stockholders (excluding the “interested” stockholder). This provision could have the effect of
delaying or preventing a change of control, whether or not it is desired by or beneficial to our stockholders. Any delay or prevention of a change of
control transaction or changes in our board of directors and management could deter potential acquirers or prevent the completion of a transaction in
which our stockholders could receive a substantial premium over the then-current market price for their shares of our common stock.
We have not historically paid any dividends and may not pay any dividends in the future.
Part of our business strategy includes retaining our future earnings, if any, in order to reinvest in the development and growth of our business and,
therefore, we have not paid dividends on our common stock in the past. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board
of directors and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, the limits imposed by the terms of our credit
facilities, or any then-existing debt instruments, and such other factors as our board of directors deems relevant. Accordingly, investors in our common
stock may need to sell their shares to realize a return on their investment in our common stock, and investors may not be able to sell their shares at or
above the prices paid for them.
If securities analysts do not publish favorable reports about us or if we, or our industry, are the subject of unfavorable commentary, the price of
our common stock could decline.
The trading price for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports about us that are published by analysts in the financial industry.
Analysts could issue negative commentary about us or our industry, or they could downgrade our common stock. We may also not receive sufficient
research coverage or visibility in the market. Any of these factors could result in the decline of the trading price of our common stock, causing investors
in our common stock to lose all or a portion of their investment.
Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2.

Properties

Real Property
We lease office and warehouse space in 38 states, including our corporate office in Columbus, Ohio. Our leases are typically short in duration with
customary extensions at our option. We believe suitable alternative space is available in all of our markets. We also own our cellulose manufacturing
facility in Bucyrus, Ohio. The table below summarizes our locations as of December 31, 2019.

State

Number of
Locations

Approximate
Total Square
Footage

Alabama
Arizona
California
Colorado
Connecticut
Delaware
Florida
Georgia
Idaho
Illinois
Indiana
Kansas
Kentucky
Louisiana
Maine
Maryland
Massachusetts
Michigan
Minnesota

3
2
16
9
2
4
22
11
3
5
13
1
4
1
4
3
4
1
6

29,150
25,846
170,852
80,162
26,128
31,175
175,997
159,704
43,000
60,118
237,536
14,206
46,330
10,000
38,750
34,710
45,303
34,800
114,890

State

Mississippi
Nebraska
Nevada
New Hampshire
New Jersey
New York
North Carolina
Ohio
Oklahoma
Oregon
Pennsylvania
South Carolina
Tennessee
Texas
Utah
Vermont
Virginia
Washington
Wisconsin

Number of
Locations

Approximate
Total Square
Footage

1
1
2
7
2
10
15
12
3
1
3
7
6
18
4
1
5
3
9

8,000
12,000
15,350
60,812
30,300
100,900
142,940
445,165
29,008
30,013
30,200
99,511
71,482
281,272
77,955
31,020
62,341
56,393
174,228

Our Fleet
As of December 31, 2019, our fleet consisted of approximately 4,600 total vehicles that we either leased or owned, including approximately 4,400
installation vehicles, which our installers use to deliver and install products from our locations to job sites, and approximately 200 other vehicles that are
utilized by our sales staff, branch managers and various senior management personnel. For additional information, see Note 7, Long-Term Debt, and
Note 15, Commitments and Contingencies, to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various claims and lawsuits incidental to the conduct of our business in the ordinary course, including wage and hour lawsuits. We
carry insurance coverage that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, although insurance may or may not cover any or all of our liabilities
in respect to claims and lawsuits. While management currently believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters, individually or in the aggregate,
will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows, such matters are subject to inherent
uncertainties. See Note 15, Commitments and Contingencies, within Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional information on significant legal
proceedings.
Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information for Common Stock
Our common stock is traded on the NYSE under the symbol “IBP.”
Holders of Record
As of February 18, 2020, there were 799 holders of record of our common stock, one of which was Cede & Co., which is the holder of shares held
through the Depository Trust Company.
Dividend Policy
During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we did not declare or pay any cash dividends on our capital stock. Any future determination
relating to dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on a number of factors, including our future earnings,
capital requirements, financial condition, future prospects, contractual restrictions, legal requirements and other factors our board of directors may deem
relevant.
Stock Performance Graph
The table below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common stock with the cumulative total return of (i) the Russell 2000 Index
(“Russell 2000”), (ii) the Standard & Poor’s Industrials Index (“S&P 500 Industrials”) and (iii) the S&P Smallcap 600 Index (“S&P Smallcap 600”).
The graph assumes investments of $100 in our common stock and in each of the three indices and the reinvestment of dividends for the last five fiscal
years through December 31, 2019.

IBP
Russell 2000
S&P 500 Industrials
S&P Smallcap 600

12/31/2014

12/31/2015

12/31/2016

12/29/2017

12/31/2018

12/31/2019

100
100
100
100

139
96
97
98

232
116
116
124

426
133
140
140

189
118
121
128

386
148
157
157
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer
The following table shows the stock repurchase activity for the three months ended December 31, 2019:

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased

October 1—31, 2019
November 1—30, 2019
December 1—31, 2019

(1)

Average Price
Paid Per Share

—
—
—
—

$

$

—
—
—
—

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced
Plans or
Programs

—
—
—
—

Approximate
Dollar Value of
Shares that May
Yet Be Purchased
under the Plans
or Programs (1)

—
—
—
$ 60.6 million

On February 26, 2018, our board of directors authorized a $50 million stock repurchase program effective March 2, 2018 and on October 31,
2018, our board of directors approved an additional stock repurchase program, effective November 6, 2018, pursuant to which we may purchase
up to an additional $100 million of our outstanding common stock. In February 2020, our board of directors approved extending the current stock
repurchase program to March 1, 2021. During the year ended December 31, 2019, we did not repurchase any shares under our stock repurchase
program.
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Item 6.

Selected Financial Data

The following tables set forth selected historical consolidated financial data that should be read in conjunction with Item 7, Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in Part II, Item 8,
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Form 10-K. The Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income data for the
years ended and the Consolidated Balance Sheets data as of December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are derived from our audited consolidated
financial statements. The selected historical consolidated financial data in this section is not intended to replace our historical consolidated financial
statements and the related notes thereto. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results.

Statement of operations (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Net revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Selling
Administrative and other
Operating income
Other expense
Income before income taxes
Income tax provision
Net income
Basic net income per share
Diluted net income per share
Cash flow data (in thousands):
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Balance sheet data (in thousands):
Cash
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Total assets
Total debt (3)
Total stockholders’ equity
(1)
(2)
(3)

Years ended December 31,
2017

2019 (1)

2018 (2)

$ 1,511,629
1,076,809
434,820

$ 1,336,432
964,841
371,591

75,016
238,644
121,160
28,555
92,605
24,446
68,159
2.29
2.28

$
$

67,105
211,269
93,217
21,031
72,186
17,438
54,748
1.76
1.75

$
$

$ 123,067
$ (131,733)
$
96,113

$
$
$

96,633
(74,069)
5,368

$ 177,889
$ 581,949
$ 106,410
$ 1,099,479
$ 575,539
$ 250,031

$
$
$
$
$
$

90,442
411,545
90,117
834,658
463,454
182,498

$
$

2016

2015

$ 1,132,927
808,901
324,026

$ 862,980
610,532
252,448

$ 662,719
474,426
188,293

58,450
191,310
74,266
18,446
55,820
14,680
41,140
1.30
1.30

49,667
136,731
66,050
6,440
59,610
21,174
38,436
$
1.23
$
1.23

37,702
105,639
44,952
3,022
41,930
15,413
26,517
$
0.85
$
0.85

$
68,772
$ (200,443)
$ 179,699

$ 73,266
$ (79,597)
$ 13,995

$ 34,547
$ (111,365)
$ 72,875

$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$

62,510
354,942
81,075
738,746
359,722
210,528

14,482
192,391
67,788
462,095
166,720
153,977

6,818
150,232
57,592
373,572
143,677
114,483

Amounts prior to 2019 do not reflect the impact of the adoption of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), in the
first quarter of 2019. See Note 8, Leases, within Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional information.
Amounts prior to 2018 do not reflect the impact of the adoption of ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), in the first
quarter of 2018. See Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, within Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional information.
Total debt consists of current and long-term portions of long-term debt, finance lease obligations and vehicle financing arrangements. For the year
ended December 31, 2016, we adopted ASU 2015-03 which resulted in a retrospective reclassification of $0.5 million of debt issuance costs
related to our long-term debt from other non-current assets to long-term debt as of December 31, 2015.
31

Table of Contents

We completed multiple business combinations in each year presented, with acquired net revenue, net income and total assets varying considerably
depending on the number and size of the acquisitions completed in each year. This may affect comparability of results from year to year with the
greatest impact being the acquisition of Alpha Insulation and Waterproofing on January 5, 2017, resulting in additional net revenue of $116.1 million in
that year. See Note 16, Business Combinations, within Item 8 of this Form 10-K for additional information.
Item 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included in Item 8, Financial
Statements and Supplemental Data, of Part II of this Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements reflecting current expectations
that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results and the timing of events may differ materially from those contained in these forward-looking
statements due to a number of factors, including those discussed in the section captioned “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
OVERVIEW
We are one of the nation’s largest insulation installers for the residential new construction market and are also a diversified installer of complementary
building products, including waterproofing, fire-stopping and fireproofing, garage doors, rain gutters, window blinds, shower doors, closet shelving,
mirrors and other products throughout the United States. We offer our portfolio of services for new and existing single-family and multi-family
residential and commercial building projects in all 48 continental states and the District of Columbia from our national network of over 180 branch
locations. Substantially all of our net revenue comes from service-based installation of these products in the residential new construction, repair and
remodel and commercial construction end markets. We believe our business is well positioned to continue to profitably grow due to our strong balance
sheet, liquidity and our continuing acquisition strategy.
A large portion of our net revenue comes from the U.S. residential new construction market, which depends upon a number of economic factors,
including demographic trends, interest rates, consumer confidence, employment rates, housing inventory levels, foreclosure rates, the health of the
economy and availability of mortgage financing. The strategic acquisitions of multiple companies over the last several years contributed meaningfully to
our 13.1% increase in net revenue during the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to 2018.
We have omitted discussion of 2017 results where it would be redundant to the discussion previously included in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.
2019 Highlights
Net revenues increased 13.1%, or $175.2 million, during 2019 compared to 2018, primarily driven by increased selling prices, the continued recovery of
housing markets, the contributions of our recent acquisitions and growth across our end markets and products. We experienced strong sales growth yearover-year of approximately 11% in our combined residential new construction and repair and remodel end markets and approximately 25% in our
commercial end-market. Gross margin of 28.8% benefited from selling price increases in 2019 resulting from significant insulation materials price
increases in 2018.
In September 2019, we modified our debt structure in order to take advantage of the attractive market conditions. We issued $300.0 million aggregate
principal amount at maturity of senior unsecured notes (the “Senior Notes”) with interest payable semi-annually in cash in arrears on February 1 and
August 1, commencing on February 1, 2020. The net proceeds from the Senior Notes offering were $295.0 million after debt issuance costs, a portion of
which we used to partially repay our outstanding obligations (including accrued and unpaid interest) under our term loan credit agreement (the “Term
Loan Agreement”) and pay fees and expenses related to entry into the ABL Credit Agreement as defined below. In September 2019, we also entered into
a new asset-based lending
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credit agreement (the “ABL Credit Agreement”). The ABL Credit Agreement provides for an asset-based lending credit facility (the “ABL Revolver”)
of up to $200.0 million with a five-year maturity, which replaced our previous revolving credit facility of up to $150.0 million. As of December 31,
2019, we had no amounts outstanding on the ABL Revolver. In December 2019, we amended and restated our Term Loan. The amended Term Loan
(i) effects a repricing of the interest rate applicable to the term loans thereunder from LIBOR plus 2.50% to LIBOR plus 2.25% and (ii) replaces Royal
Bank of Canada with Bank of America, N.A. as the administrative agent and collateral agent thereunder. See Liquidity and Capital Resources section
below for further information about our debt.
We were successful at realizing selling price increases during the year to offset previous cost increases on the material we install. While we continue to
proactively work with customers and suppliers to mitigate these cost impacts, we will likely continue to experience inflation on the materials we
purchase in 2020.
We believe there are several trends that should drive long-term growth in the housing market, even if there are temporary periods of slowed growth.
These long-term trends include an aging housing stock, population growth, household formation growth and the fact that housing starts are currently
below long-term historic averages. We expect that our net revenue, gross profit and operating income will benefit from this growth.
2018 Highlights
Net revenues increased 18.0%, or $203.5 million, during 2018 compared to 2017, primarily driven by the continued recovery of housing markets, the
contributions of our recent acquisitions and growth across our end markets and products. However, gross margin was affected by price increases on our
insulation materials and costs to organically expand our commercial branches. During 2018, we maintained momentum in our acquisition strategy, as we
completed ten acquisitions, not including several small tuck-in acquisitions merged into existing operations, which expanded our product line offerings
and geographical reach. Acquisitions accounted for $73.5 million of the increase in net revenues.
In June 2018, we extended the maturity date of our Term Loan (as hereinafter defined) from April 15, 2024 to April 15, 2025 and increased the
aggregate principal amount of the facility from $297.8 million to $397.8 million, and extended the maturity date on our ABL Revolver (as hereinafter
defined) from April 13, 2022 to June 19, 2023 and increased the aggregate revolving loan commitments from $100.0 million to $150.0 million.
In July 2018, we entered into a seven-year interest rate swap with a beginning notional of $100.0 million as well as a forward interest rate swap
beginning May 31, 2022 with a beginning notional of $100.0 million. Including our pre-existing swap, these three swaps serve to hedge $200.0 million
of the variable cash flows on our Term Loan until maturity.
In February 2018, our board of directors authorized a $50 million stock repurchase program, effective March 2, 2018, and in October 2018, our board of
directors approved an additional stock repurchase program, effective November 6, 2018, pursuant to which we may purchase up to an additional
$100 million of our outstanding common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we repurchased 2.1 million shares for $89.4 million under
our stock repurchase program.
Net revenue, cost of sales and gross profit
The components of gross profit for 2019, 2018 and 2017 were as follows (dollars in thousands):
Net revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Gross profit percentage

2019

Change

2018

Change

2017

$ 1,511,629
1,076,809
$ 434,820
28.8%

13.1%
11.6%
17.0%

$ 1,336,432
964,841
$ 371,591
27.8%

18.0%
19.3%
14.7%

$ 1,132,927
808,901
$ 324,026
28.6%
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Net revenues increased during the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily driven by acquisitions,
organic growth from our existing branches and increased selling prices. As a percentage of net revenues, gross profit increased during the year ended
December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018 attributable primarily to achieving higher selling prices resulting from the higher
material costs we experienced in 2018. Labor utilization improved, in part, as a result of lower installer turnover due to investments in our financial
wellness plan, our longevity stock compensation plan for installers and our Installed Building Products Foundation. On a dollar basis, cost of sales
included increases from acquired businesses of approximately $43.1 million and depreciation expense increased $5.4 million as a result of increased
investment in vehicles and equipment to support our growth, including growth from acquisitions. See Note 16, Business Combinations, in Part II, Item
8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Form 10-K for information on our acquisitions.
The following table shows additional key measures of performance we utilize to evaluate our results:
Twelve months ended
December 31,
2019
2018
2017

Period-over-period Growth
Sales Growth
Same Branch Sales Growth (1)

13.1%
8.6%

18.0%
11.5%

31.3%
9.8%

Single-Family Sales Growth (2)
Single-Family Same Branch Sales Growth (1)(2)

10.5%
4.8%

20.0%
12.1%

17.6%
7.9%

Residential Sales Growth (3)
Residential Same Branch Sales Growth (1)(3)

10.9%
5.9%

18.4%
11.4%

24.6%
11.3%

Same Branch Sales Growth
Volume Growth (1)(4)
Price/Mix Growth (1)(5)
Large Commercial Sales Growth (1)

2.6%
5.4%
14.3%

6.1%
5.4%
11.5%

5.8%
4.0%
N/A

6.0%
7.6%

2.8%
5.6%

8.8%
7.7%

U.S. Housing Market (6)
Total Completions Growth
Single-Family Completions Growth (2)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

Same-branch basis represents period-over-period growth for branch locations owned greater than 12 months as of each financial statement date.
Calculated based on period-over-period growth in the single-family subset of the residential new construction end market.
Calculated based on period-over-period growth in the residential new construction end market.
Excludes the large commercial end market; calculated as period-over-period change in the number of completed same-branch residential new
construction and repair and remodel jobs.
Excludes the large commercial end market; defined as change in the mix of products sold and related pricing changes and calculated as the change
in period-over-period average selling price per same-branch residential new construction and repair and remodel jobs multiplied by total current
year jobs. The mix of end customer and product would have an impact on the year-over-year price per job.
U.S. Census Bureau data, as revised.

We feel the revenue growth measures are important indicators of how our business is performing during the current growth phase of the company;
however, we may rely on different metrics in the future as the company matures and enters a new phase. We utilize gross profit percentage to monitor
our most significant variable costs and to evaluate labor efficiency and success at passing increasing costs of materials to customers.
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Operating Expenses
Operating expenses for 2019, 2018 and 2017 were as follows (dollars in thousands):
Selling
Percentage of total net revenue
Administrative
Percentage of total net revenue
Amortization
Percentage of total net revenue

2019

Change

75,016
5.0%
$ 214,134
14.2%
$ 24,510
1.6%

11.8%

$

15.2%
-3.6%

2018

Change

67,105
5.0%
$ 185,850
13.9%
$ 25,419
1.9%

14.8%

$

13.0%
-5.4%

2017

$

58,450
5.2%
$ 164,453
14.5%
$ 26,857
2.4%

Selling
The dollar increase in selling expenses in 2019 was primarily driven by a year-over-year increase in selling wages, benefits and commissions of
$6.0 million, or 10.0%, which supported our increased net revenue of 13.1%. Selling expense remained flat as a percentage of sales primarily due to
maintaining our selling leverage as we increased sales.
Administrative
The increase in administrative expenses in 2019 was primarily due to an increase in wages and benefits in the amount of $16.1 million, which was
attributable to both acquisitions and organic growth as well as company performance. During 2019, we saw our costs related to liability insurance
increase $5.2 million and our costs related to facilities increase $4.0 million due to overall growth in our business.
Amortization
Our intangible assets include non-competes, customer listings, trade names and backlog. Amortization of intangibles attributable to acquisitions
decreased by $0.9 million in 2019 due to no longer amortizing the backlog intangible asset associated with our acquisition of Alpha during the year
ended December 31, 2019 compared to expense of $13.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2018. This decrease was offset by additional
amortization expense resulting from new intangible assets from 2019 acquisitions.
Other Expense
Other expense, net for 2019, 2018 and 2017 was as follows (dollars in thousands):
Interest expense, net
Other
Total other expense

2019

Change

2018

Change

2017

$ 28,104
451
$ 28,555

37.1%
-15.7%
35.8%

$ 20,496
535
$ 21,031

17.9%
-49.8%
14.0%

$ 17,381
1,065
$ 18,446

The year-over-year increase in other expense, net during 2019 and 2018 was primarily a result of increased debt levels associated with our debt-related
financing transactions to support acquisition-related growth. See Note 7 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for
further information regarding debt balances, our Senior Notes offering and Term Loan modification/extinguishment.
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Income Tax Provision
Income tax provision and effective tax rates for 2019, 2018 and 2017 were as follows (dollars in thousands):
Income tax provision
Effective tax rate

2019

2018

2017

$24,446
26.4%

$17,438
24.2%

$14,680
26.3%

During the year ended December 31, 2019, our tax rate was unfavorably impacted by the tax effect of losses incurred by separate companies to which no
benefit can be recognized due to a full valuation allowance against the losses and various permanent items.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, our tax rate was favorably impacted by excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements and
by the usage of net operating losses for a tax filing entity which previously had a full valuation allowance. This favorability was offset by the tax effect
of losses incurred by separate companies to which no benefit can be recognized due to a full valuation allowance against the losses.
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax was as follows (in thousands):
Unrealized (loss) gain on cash flow hedge, net of taxes

2019

2018

2017

$ (6,712)

$ (1,050)

$ 507

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, our cash flow hedge position decreased primarily due to unexpected declines in interest rates.
KEY FACTORS AFFECTING OUR OPERATING RESULTS
Trends in the Construction Industry
Our operating results may vary based on the amount and type of products we install and the mix of our end markets among new single-family, multifamily and commercial builders and owners of existing homes. We expect to benefit from the continued growth in single-family new residential
construction as housing returns to historic stabilized levels. We maintain a mix of business among all types of homebuilders ranging from small custom
builders to large regional and national homebuilders as well as a wide range of commercial builders. Net revenue derived from our ten largest
homebuilder customers in the United States was approximately 15% for the year ended December 31, 2019. The residential new construction and repair
and remodel markets represented approximately 82% and 84% of our total net revenue for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively,
with the remaining portion attributable to the commercial construction end market.
Cost of Materials
We purchase the materials that we install primarily from manufacturers. The industry supply of materials we install has experienced disruptions in the
past but stabilized in 2019. Increased market pricing, regardless of the catalyst, has and could continue to impact our results of operations in 2020, to the
extent that price increases cannot be passed on to our customers. We began to see improvement in our selling prices in the second quarter of 2019, and
this continued throughout 2019 as evidenced by our 1.0% improvement in gross profit as a percentage of sales during the year ended December 31, 2019
compared to the year ended December 31, 2018. We will continue to work with our customers to adjust selling prices to offset higher costs as they
occur.
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Cost of Labor
Our business is labor intensive. As of December 31, 2019, we had approximately 8,500 employees, most of whom work as installers on local
construction sites. We expect to spend more to hire, train and retain installers to support our growing business in 2020, as tight labor availability
continues within the construction industry. We offer a comprehensive benefits package, which many of our local competitors are not able to provide,
which will increase costs as we hire additional personnel. Our workers’ compensation costs also continue to increase as we increase our coverage for
additional personnel.
While the availability of labor in many markets continued to tighten as the demand for employees, particularly installers, increases, we experienced
improved employee retention, turnover and labor efficiency rates in the year ended December 31, 2019. We believe this is partially a result of various
programs meant to benefit our employees, including our financial wellness plan, longevity stock compensation plan for employees and our new Installed
Building Products Foundation meant to benefit our employees, their families and their communities. While improved retention drives lower costs to
recruit and train new employees, resulting in greater installer productivity, these improvements are somewhat offset by the additional costs of these
incentives. In 2019, we donated $1.4 million to the Foundation.
Other Factors
We expect our selling and administrative expenses to continue to increase as our business grows, which could impact our future operating profitability.
INFLATION
Our performance is dependent to a significant extent upon the levels of U.S. residential new construction spending, which is affected by factors such as
interest rates, inflation, consumer confidence and unemployment. We do not believe that inflation has had a material impact on our business, financial
condition or results of operations in 2019.
SEASONALITY
We tend to have higher sales during the second half of the year as our homebuilder customers complete construction of homes placed under contract for
sale in the traditionally stronger spring selling season. In addition, some of our larger branches operate in states impacted by winter weather and as such
experience a slowdown in construction activity during the first quarter of the calendar year. This winter slowdown contributes to traditionally lower
sales and profitability in our first quarter. See Item 1, Business, for further information.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Our capital resources primarily consist of cash from operations and borrowings under our various debt agreements and capital equipment leases and
loans. Our primary capital requirements are to fund working capital needs, operating expenses, acquisitions and capital expenditures and to meet
required principal and interest payments. We may also use our resources to fund our optional stock repurchase program. Our investments consist of
highly liquid instruments primarily including corporate bonds and commercial paper. As of December 31, 2019, we had no outstanding borrowings
under our asset-based lending credit facility (as defined below).
We believe that our cash flows from operations, combined with our current cash levels, highly liquid investments and available borrowing capacity, will
be adequate to support our ongoing operations and to fund our debt service requirements, capital expenditures and working capital for at least the next
12 months as evidenced by our net positive cash flows from operations for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
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LIBOR is used as a reference rate for our Term Loan and our interest rate swap agreements we use to hedge our interest rate exposure. In 2017, the
Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”), the authority that regulates LIBOR, announced that it intends to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the
calculation of LIBOR after 2021, and it is unclear whether new methods of calculating LIBOR will be established. Our Term Loan Agreement, as
hereinafter defined, was amended on November 30, 2017 to include a mechanism to establish an alternative Eurodollar rate if certain circumstances
arise such that LIBOR may no longer be used. Additionally, our ABL Credit Agreement includes a provision related to the potential discontinuance of
LIBOR to be replaced with one or more Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) values or another alternate benchmark rate. However, if LIBOR
ceases to exist after 2021, the interest rates under the alternative rate could be higher than LIBOR. In addition, the value of derivative instruments tied to
LIBOR could also be impacted if LIBOR is limited or discontinued. We continue to review the impact the LIBOR phase-out will have on the Company.
The following table summarizes our liquidity as of December 31 (in thousands):
2019

Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
ABL Revolver
Less: outstanding letters of credit and cash collateral
Total liquidity (1)
(1)

$ 177,889
37,961
200,000
(38,672)
$ 377,178

2018

$

90,442
10,060
150,000
(28,887)
$ 221,615

Total liquidity reflects full borrowing base capacity under our asset-based lending credit facility (as defined below) and may be limited by certain
cash collateral limitations depending upon the status of our borrowing base availability. These potential deductions would lower our available cash
and cash equivalents balance shown in the table above. As of December 31, 2019, total liquidity would be reduced by $31.9 million due to these
cash collateral limitations. In addition, total liquidity is further reduced by $10.0 million within cash and cash equivalents above which was
deposited into a trust to serve as additional collateral for our workers’ compensation and general liability policies. This amount can be converted
to a letter of credit at our discretion and would reduce the availability on our asset-based lending credit facility (as defined below) included in the
table above.

5.75% Senior Notes due 2028
In September 2019, we issued $300.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 5.75% senior unsecured notes (the “Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes
will mature on February 1, 2028 and interest will be payable semi-annually in cash in arrears on February 1 and August 1, commencing on February 1,
2020. The net proceeds from the Senior Notes offering were $295.0 million after debt issuance costs. We used some of the net proceeds to repay a
portion of our outstanding obligations (including accrued and unpaid interest) under our term loan credit agreement (as defined below) and to pay fees
and expenses related to the entry into a new revolving credit facility described below.
The indenture covering the Senior Notes contains restrictive covenants that, among other things, limit the ability of the Company and certain of our
subsidiaries (subject to certain exceptions) to: (i) incur additional debt and issue preferred stock; (ii) pay dividends on, redeem or repurchase stock;
(iii) prepay subordinated debt; (iv) create liens; (v) make specified types of investments; (vi) apply net proceeds from certain asset sales; (vii) engage in
transactions with affiliates; (viii) merge, consolidate or sell substantially all of our assets; and (ix) pay dividends and make other distributions from
subsidiaries.
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Credit Facilities
In December 2019, we amended and restated our $400 million, seven-year term loan facility due April 2025 (the “Term Loan”) under our credit
agreement (the “Term Loan Agreement”), dated as of April 13, 2017 (as previously amended by the First Amendment thereto dated November 30, 2017
and by the Second Amendment thereto dated June 19, 2018). The amended Term Loan (i) effects a repricing of the interest rate applicable to the term
loans thereunder from LIBOR plus 2.50% to LIBOR plus 2.25% and (ii) replaces Royal Bank of Canada with Bank of America, N.A. as the
administrative agent and collateral agent thereunder. As of December 31, 2019, we had $198.3 million, net of unamortized debt issuance costs, due on
our Term Loan. The amended Term Loan also has a margin of 1.50% in the case of base rate loans.
In September 2019, we entered into a new asset-based lending credit agreement (the “ABL Credit Agreement”). The ABL Credit Agreement provides
for an asset-based lending credit facility (the “ABL Revolver”) of up to $200.0 million with a five-year maturity, which replaced the Company’s
previous revolving credit facility. Borrowing availability under the ABL Revolver is based on a percentage of the value of certain assets securing the
Company’s obligations and those of the subsidiary guarantors thereunder. In connection with the Amended and Restated Term Loan, we entered into a
Second Amendment (the “Second Amendment”) to the ABL/Term Loan Intercreditor Agreement with Bank of America, N.A., as ABL Agent for the
lenders under the ABL Credit Agreement, and Bank of America, N.A., as Term Loan Agent for the lenders under the Term Loan. Including outstanding
letters of credit, our remaining availability under the ABL Revolver as of December 31, 2019 was $161.3 million.
The ABL Revolver bears interest at either the Eurodollar rate or the base rate (which approximated the prime rate), at the Company’s election, plus a
margin of (A) 1.25% or 1.50% in the case of Eurodollar rate loans (based on a measure of availability under the ABL Credit Agreement) and (B) 0.25%
or 0.50% in the case of base rate loans (based on a measure of availability under the ABL Credit Agreement).
The ABL Revolver also provides incremental revolving credit facility commitments of up to $50.0 million. The terms and conditions of any incremental
revolving credit facility commitments must be no more favorable than the terms of the ABL Revolver. The ABL Revolver also allows for the issuance
of letters of credit of up to $75.0 million in aggregate and borrowing of swingline loans of up to $20.0 million in aggregate.
The ABL Credit Agreement contains a financial covenant requiring the satisfaction of a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.0x in the event that
we do not meet a minimum measure of availability under the ABL Revolver.
All of the obligations under the Term Loan and ABL Revolver are guaranteed by all of the Company’s existing restricted subsidiaries and will be
guaranteed by the Company’s future restricted subsidiaries. Additionally, all obligations under the Term Loan and ABL Revolver, and the guarantees of
those obligations, are secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company and the guarantors, subject to certain exceptions and permitted liens,
including a first-priority security interest in such assets that constitute ABL Priority Collateral, as defined in the ABL Credit Agreement, and a secondpriority security interest in such assets that constitute Term Loan Priority Collateral, as defined in the Term Loan Agreement.
At December 31, 2019, we were in compliance with all applicable covenants under the Term Loan Agreement, ABL Credit Agreement and the Senior
Notes.
Derivative Instruments
As of December 31, 2019, we had two interest rate swaps, each with an associated floor, with a total beginning notional of $200.0 million, one that
amortizes quarterly to $95.3 million at a maturity date of May 31, 2022 and one that amortizes quarterly to $93.3 million at a maturity date of April 15,
2025. These two swaps combined serve to hedge $196.5 million of the variable cash flows on our Term Loan as of December 31, 2019. We also had a
forward interest rate swap with an associated floor beginning May 31, 2022 with a beginning notional of $100.0 million that amortizes quarterly to
$97.0 million at a maturity date of April 15, 2025. These three swaps serve to hedge substantially all of the variable cash flows on our Term Loan until
maturity.
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Vehicle and Equipment Notes
We have financing loan agreements with various lenders to provide financing for the purpose of purchasing or leasing vehicles and equipment used in
the normal course of business. Vehicles and equipment purchased or leased under each financing arrangement serve as collateral for the note applicable
to such financing arrangement. Regular payments are due under each note for a period of typically 60 consecutive months after the incurrence of the
obligation.
Total gross assets and respective outstanding loan balances relating to our master loan and equipment agreements were $130.2 million and $72.7 million
as of December 31, 2019, respectively, and $98.7 million and $60.4 million as of December 31, 2018, respectively. See Note 7 to our audited
consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for more information regarding our Master Loan and Security Agreement, Master
Equipment Lease Agreement and Master Loan Agreements.
Letters of Credit and Bonds
We may use performance bonds to ensure completion of our work on certain larger customer contracts that can span multiple accounting periods.
Performance bonds generally do not have stated expiration dates; rather, we are released from the bonds as the contractual performance is completed. In
addition, we occasionally use letters of credit and cash to secure our performance under our general liability and workers’ compensation insurance
programs. Permit and license bonds are typically issued for one year and are required by certain municipalities when we obtain licenses and permits to
perform work in their jurisdictions. The following table summarizes our outstanding bonds, letters of credit and cash-collateral (in thousands):
As of December 31, 2019

Performance bonds
Insurance letters of credit and cash collateral
Permit and license bonds
Total bonds and letters of credit

$

$

59,816
49,712
7,156
116,684

In January 2018, we posted $10.0 million into a trust to serve as additional collateral for our workers’ compensation and general liability policies. This
$10.0 million can be converted to a letter of credit at our discretion and is therefore not considered to be restricted cash.
Historical cash flow information
Working Capital
We carefully manage our working capital and operating expenses. As of December 31, 2019, and 2018, our working capital, including cash, was
$367.8 million, or 24.3% of net revenue, and $229.9 million, or 17.2% of net revenue, respectively. The increase in working capital year-over-year in
2019 was driven primarily by a $115.3 million increase in cash and cash equivalents and investments resulting from issuance of our Senior Notes and
positive operating cash flows, and an increase in accounts receivable and inventories resulting from, and supporting, our increased net revenue. These
increases were offset by a partial payment of our Term Loan and an increase in accounts payable. We continue to look for opportunities to reduce our
working capital as a percentage of net revenue.
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities was $123.1 million and $96.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Generally, the primary drivers of our cash flow from operations are operating income, adjusted for certain non-cash items, offset by cash payments for
taxes and interest on our outstanding
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debt. Our cash flows from operations can be impacted by the timing of our cash collections on sales and collection of retainage amounts. In addition,
cash flows are generally stronger in the third quarter as a result of increased construction activity.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Business Combinations . In 2019 and 2018, we made cash payments, net of cash acquired, of $51.7 million and $57.7 million, respectively, on business
combinations. See Note 16, Business Combinations, to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for more information
regarding our business acquisitions in 2019, 2018 and 2017.
Capital Expenditures . Total cash paid for property and equipment was $50.2 million and $35.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively, and primarily related to purchases of vehicles and various equipment to support our growing operations and increased net revenue.
We expect to continue to support any increases in 2020 net revenue through further capital expenditures. A majority of these capital expenditures were
subsequently reimbursed via various vehicle and equipment notes payable, with related cash inflows shown in cash flows from financing activities.
Other. In 2019 and 2018, we invested $52.8 million and $22.8 million, respectively, in short-term investments consisting primarily of corporate bonds
and commercial paper and had $25.1 million and $42.8 million in short-term investments mature in 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
We utilize our credit facilities and Senior Notes to support our operations and continuing acquisitions. To support those initiatives, we received
$300.0 million in proceeds from issuance of our Senior Notes, paid off $195.8 million of our Term Loan balance and paid $6.7 million in debt issuance
costs during the year ended December 31, 2019, resulting in a net cash inflow of $97.5 million. We received $100.0 million in cash, reduced by
$2.0 million in debt issuance costs, by amending our Term Loan during the year ended December 31, 2018. During the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018, we also received proceeds of $33.1 million and $25.4 million, respectively, from our fixed asset loans which serve to offset a significant
portion of the capital expenditures included in cash outflows from investing activities as described above. We made payments on these fixed asset loans
and various other notes payable of $21.3 million and $14.1 million during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. In addition, we
made $4.2 million and $5.6 million in principal payments on our finance leases during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Lastly, we repurchased approximately 2.1 million shares of our common stock for $89.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2018 as part of our
stock repurchase plan. We did not repurchase any shares under our stock repurchase plan during the year ended December 31, 2019. See Note 11,
Stockholders’ Equity, for more information surrounding our stock repurchase plan.
Capped Call Agreement
Certain of our stockholders entered into a capped call agreement with the underwriters of the secondary offering of our common stock completed on
June 17, 2014. This agreement provided these stockholders with an option to call from the underwriters a total of approximately 1.0 million shares of
our common stock at a capped price, with settlement required to be made in cash. During 2016, these stockholders exercised the call option with respect
to approximately 0.7 million of the shares. In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2016, these stockholders simultaneously cancelled the remaining portion
of the call option and purchased a new call option from the underwriters. This new capped call agreement provided these stockholders with the option to
call from the underwriters a total of approximately 0.4 million shares of our common stock at a capped price. The option was exercised on April 16,
2018 and was settled in cash. The capped call agreement was between these stockholders and the underwriters and does not represent compensation to
the stockholders for services rendered to us. The
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price paid for the option represents the fair value of that transaction and we are not a party to the agreement. Accordingly, we have not recorded any
expense related to this transaction. There were no capped call agreements as of December 31, 2019 or 2018.
Contractual Obligations
In the table below, we set forth our enforceable and legally binding obligations as of December 31, 2019. Some of the amounts included in the table are
based on management’s estimates and assumptions about these obligations, including their duration, the possibility of renewal, anticipated actions by
third parties and other factors. Because these estimates and assumptions are necessarily subjective, our actual payments may vary from those reflected in
the table. In addition, certain other long-term liabilities included on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as well as our unrecognized tax benefits under
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, “Income Taxes,” have been excluded from the contractual obligations table because of the inherent
uncertainty and the inability to reasonably estimate the timing of cash outflows.
(in thousands)

Long-term debt obligations (1)
Finance lease obligations (2)
Operating lease obligations (3)
Purchase obligations (4)
(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)

Payments due by period
2022
2023

Total

2020

2021

$ 764,694
7,023
50,407
35,132

$ 52,368
3,081
17,047
21,132

$ 46,588
1,973
12,247
14,000

$ 42,025
1,037
7,438
—

$ 36,142
673
4,207
—

2024

Thereafter

$ 30,014
259
2,643
—

$ 557,557
—
6,825
—

Long-term debt obligations include interest payments on our Senior Notes, Term Loan, our notes payable to sellers of acquisitions, and vehicles
purchased under the Master Loan and Security Agreement, the Master Equipment Agreement and the Master Loan Agreements. Long-term debt
obligations do not include commitment fees on the unused portion of the ABL Revolver since those fees are subject to change based on the factors
described in the ABL Credit Agreement. Interest on seller obligations maturing through March 2025 is estimated using current market rates. For
additional information, see Note 7, Long-Term Debt, to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
We maintain certain production vehicles under a finance lease structure. The leases expire on various dates through December 2024. Finance lease
obligations, as disclosed above, include estimated interest expense payments. In determining expected interest expense payments, we utilize the
rates embedded in the lease documentation.
We lease certain locations, vehicles and equipment under operating lease agreements, including, but not limited to, corporate offices, branch
locations and various office and operating equipment. In some instances, these lease agreements exist with related parties. For additional
information, see Note 14, Related Party Transactions, to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
As of December 31, 2019, we had a product supply agreement extending through December 31, 2021. For additional information, see Note 15,
Commitments and Contingencies, to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, other than letters of credit issued under our ABL Revolver and performance and license bonds, we had no material
off-balance sheet arrangements with unconsolidated entities. Upon adoption of ASU 2016-02 on January 1, 2019, long-term operating leases were
recorded on the balance sheet as a lease liability measured as the present value of the future lease payments with a corresponding right-of-use asset.
Therefore, as of December 31, 2018, our operating leases were accounted for under Topic 840 and considered material off-balance sheet arrangements.
See Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for further information.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of our consolidated financial
statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Certain accounting policies involve judgments and uncertainties to such an extent that there is a reasonable
likelihood that materially different amounts could have been reported using different assumptions or under different conditions. We evaluate our
estimates and assumptions on a regular basis. We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of our assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions used in preparation of our consolidated
financial statements. We provide discussion of our more significant accounting policies, estimates, assumptions and judgments used in preparation of
our consolidated financial statements below.
Revenue Recognition
Our revenues are derived primarily through contracts with customers whereby we install insulation and other complementary building products and are
recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be
entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. We account for a contract when it has approval and commitment from both parties, the rights of the
parties are identified, payment terms are identified, the contract has commercial substance and collectability of consideration is probable. An
insignificant portion of our sales, primarily retail sales, is accounted for on a point-in-time basis when the sale occurs, adjusted accordingly for any
return provisions. We do offer assurance-type warranties on certain of our installed products and services that do not represent a separate performance
obligation and, as such, do not impact the timing or extent of revenue recognition.
For contracts that are not complete at the reporting date, we recognize revenue over time utilizing a cost-to-cost input method as we believe this
represents the best measure of when goods and services are transferred to the customer. When this method is used, we estimate the costs to complete
individual contracts and record as revenue that portion of the total contract price that is considered complete based on the relationship of costs incurred
to date to total anticipated costs. Under the cost-to-cost method, the use of estimated costs to complete each contract is a significant variable in the
process of determining recognized revenue, requires significant judgment and can change throughout the duration of a contract due to contract
modifications and other factors impacting job completion. The costs of earned revenue include all direct material and labor costs and those indirect costs
related to contract performance, such as indirect labor, supplies, tools and repairs. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in
the period in which such losses are determined.
Our long-term contracts can be subject to modification to account for changes in contract specifications and requirements. We consider contract
modifications to exist when the modification either creates new, or changes the existing, enforceable rights and obligations. Most of our contract
modifications are for goods or services that are not distinct from the existing contract due to the significant integration service provided in the context of
the contract and are accounted for as if they were part of that existing contract. The effect of a contract modification on the transaction price and our
measure of progress for the performance obligation to which it relates, is recognized as an adjustment to revenue (either as an increase in or a reduction
of revenue) on a cumulative catch-up basis.
Billing on our long-term contracts occurs primarily on a monthly basis throughout the contract period whereby we submit invoices for customer
payment based on actual or estimated costs incurred during the billing period. On certain of our long-term contracts the customer may withhold payment
on an invoice equal to a percentage of the invoice amount, which will be subsequently paid after satisfactory completion of each installation project.
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This amount is referred to as retainage and is common practice in the construction industry, as it allows for customers to ensure the quality of the service
performed prior to full payment. Retainage receivables are classified as current or long-term assets based on the expected time to project completion.
We disaggregate our revenue from contracts with customers by end market and product, as we believe it best depicts how the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of our revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors.
Accounts Receivable
We account for trade receivables based on amounts billed to customers. Past due receivables are determined based on contractual terms. We do not
accrue interest on any of our trade receivables.
Retainage receivables represent the amount retained by our customers to ensure the quality of the installation and is received after satisfactory
completion of each installation project. Management regularly reviews aging of retainage receivables and changes in payment trends and records an
allowance when collection of amounts due are considered at risk. Amounts retained by project owners under construction contracts and included in
accounts receivable were $33.4 million and $28.0 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Goodwill
Goodwill results from business combinations and represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of acquired tangible assets and liabilities
and identifiable intangible assets. Annually, on October 1, or if conditions indicate an earlier review is necessary, we either perform a quantitative test or
assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount and if it is
necessary to perform the quantitative two-step goodwill impairment test. If we perform the quantitative test, we compare the carrying value of the
reporting unit to an estimate of the reporting unit’s fair value to identify potential impairment. The estimate of the reporting unit’s fair value is
determined by weighting a discounted cash flow model and a market-related model using current industry information that involve significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs). In determining the estimated future cash flow, we consider and apply certain estimates and judgments, including
current and projected future levels of income based on management’s plans, business trends, prospects, market and economic conditions and marketparticipant considerations. If the estimated fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value, a second step is performed to determine the
amount of the potential goodwill impairment. If impaired, goodwill is written down to its estimated implied fair value.
Leases
On January 1, 2019, we adopted ASC 842, “Leases” which, among other changes, requires us to record liabilities classified as operating leases on our
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets along with a corresponding right-of-use asset. Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2019 are
presented under Topic 842, while prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with our historic accounting under
Topic 840. See Note 8, “Leases,” to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for additional information.
Derivatives and Hedging Activities
We record all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives depends on the intended use of
the derivative, whether we have elected to designate a derivative in a hedging relationship and apply hedge accounting and whether the hedging
relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge accounting. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to
variability in expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow
44

Table of Contents

hedges. Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss recognition on the hedging instrument with the recognition
of the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge. We may enter into derivative contracts that are intended to
economically hedge certain of our risks, even though hedge accounting does not apply or we elect not to apply hedge accounting. See Note 10,
Derivatives and Hedging, to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for additional information on our accounting
policy for derivative instruments and hedging activities.
Share-Based Compensation
Our share-based compensation program is designed to attract and retain employees while also aligning employees’ interests with the interests of our
stockholders. Restricted stock awards are periodically granted to certain employees, officers and non-employee members of our board of directors under
the stockholder-approved 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan.
Certain of our stock awards are deemed to be equity-based with a service condition and do not contain a market or performance condition with the
exception of performance-based awards granted to certain officers and performance-based stock units. Fair value of the non-performance-based awards
to employees and officers is measured at the grant date and amortized to expense over the vesting period of the awards using the straight-line attribution
method for all service-based awards with a graded vesting feature. This fair value is reduced by assumed forfeitures and adjusted for actual forfeitures
until vesting. We also issue performance-based stock awards to certain officers under our 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan. The performance-based
compensation expense is recorded over the requisite service period using the graded-vesting method for the entire award. Performance-based stock
awards are accounted for at fair value at date of grant. We also periodically grant performance-based stock units to certain employees under the
stockholder-approved 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan. These units convert to shares upon meeting time- and performance-based requirements.
Compensation expense for performance-based stock units is recorded based on an assessment each reporting period of the probability that certain
performance goals will be met during the contingent vesting period. If performance goals are not probable of occurrence, no compensation expense will
be recognized. If performance goals that were previously deemed probable are not or are not expected to be met, the previously recognized
compensation cost related to such performance goals will be reversed. Employees and officers are subject to tax at the vesting date based on the market
price of the shares on that date, or on the grant date if an election is made.
Business Combinations
The purchase price for business combinations is allocated to the estimated fair values of acquired tangible and intangible assets, including goodwill and
assumed liabilities, where applicable. Additionally, we recognize customer relationships, trademarks and trade names and non-competition agreements
as identifiable intangible assets. These assets are recorded at fair value as of the transaction date. The fair value of these intangibles is determined
primarily using the income approach and using current industry information which involves significant unobservable inputs classified as Level 3 inputs.
These inputs include projected sales, margin and tax rate. At times, the total purchase price for a business combination could be less than the estimated
fair values of acquired tangible and intangible assets. In these cases, we record a gain on bargain purchase within Other Expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income rather than goodwill in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Insurance Liabilities
We carry insurance for a number of risks, including, but not limited to, workers’ compensation, general liability, vehicle liability, property and our
obligation for employee-related health care benefits. Liabilities relating to claims associated with these risks are estimated by considering historical
claims experience, including frequency, severity, demographic factors and other actuarial assumptions. In estimating our liability for such claims, we
periodically analyze our historical trends, including loss development, and apply appropriate loss development
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factors to the incurred costs associated with the claims with the assistance of external actuarial consultants. While we do not expect the amounts
ultimately paid to differ significantly from our estimates, our reserves and corresponding expenses could be affected if future claim experience differs
significantly from historical trends and actuarial assumptions.
Taxes
We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, the amount of taxes currently payable or refundable are accrued
and deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences of temporary differences that currently exist between the
tax basis and financial reporting basis of our assets and liabilities.
Valuation allowances are established against deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that the realization of those deferred tax assets will not
occur. In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise, we consider all available positive and
negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, the ability to produce future taxable income, tax planning strategies available
and recent financial operations. In projecting future taxable income, we begin with historical results adjusted for the results of discontinued operations
and changes in accounting policies and incorporate assumptions, including the amount of future federal and state pretax operating income, the reversal
of temporary differences and the implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates in effect in the years when those temporary differences are expected to
reverse. The effect on deferred taxes from a change in tax rate is recognized through operations in the period that includes the enactment date of the
change. Changes in tax laws and rates could also affect recorded deferred tax assets and liabilities in the future. The Tax Act that was enacted on
December 22, 2017 reduced the U.S. federal corporate tax rate from 35% to 21% effective January 1, 2018. During the year end December 31, 2018, the
Company recognized a $0.8 million benefit due to timing provision to return adjustments which impacted deferred balances at the 35% rate that were
then revalued at the lower corporate rate. See Note 13, Income Taxes, for additional information.
A tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination,
including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits. We recognize tax liabilities for uncertain tax positions
and adjust these liabilities when our judgment changes as a result of the evaluation of new information not previously available.
Our income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities and reserves for unrecognized tax benefits reflect management’s best assessment of estimated
future taxes to be paid. We are subject to income taxes in the United States, which includes numerous state and local jurisdictions. Significant judgments
and estimates are required in determining the income tax expense.
Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 approximate fair value due to the short-term maturities
of these financial instruments. The carrying amounts of our long-term debt, including the Term Loan and our ABL Revolver as of December 31, 2019
and 2018, approximate fair value due to the variable rate nature of the agreements. The carrying amounts of the obligations associated with our
operating and finance leases as well as our vehicle and equipment notes approximate fair value as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. Our Senior Notes are
not recorded at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 9, Fair Value Measurements, for estimated fair value of the Senior Notes,
assessed by utilizing third-party quotes derived from market pricing. All debt classifications represent Level 2 fair value measurements.
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Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value based on observable market information and appropriate valuation methods. Contingent
consideration liabilities arise from future earnout payments to the sellers associated with certain acquisitions and are based on predetermined
calculations of certain future results. These future payments are estimated by considering various factors, including business risk and projections. The
contingent consideration liabilities are measured at fair value by discounting estimated future payments to their net present value using the appropriate
weighted average cost of capital (WACC).
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
For a description of recently issued and/or adopted accounting pronouncements, see Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, to our audited consolidated
financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates on our outstanding variable rate debt. As of December 31, 2019, we had
$198.3 million outstanding on the Term Loan, net of unamortized debt issuance costs, no outstanding borrowings on the ABL Revolver and $0.1 million
outstanding under various finance leases subject to variable interest rates. Our two interest rate swaps, each with an associated floor, combine to reduce
exposure to market risks on our Term Loan by $196.0 million as of December 31, 2019. As a result, total variable rate debt of $4.1 million was exposed
to market risks as of December 31, 2019. A hypothetical one percentage point increase (decrease) in interest rates on our variable rate debt would
increase (decrease) our annual interest expense by approximately $41 thousand. Our Senior Notes accrued interest at a fixed rate of 5.75%.
For variable rate debt, interest rate changes generally do not affect the fair value of the debt instrument, but do impact future earnings and cash flows,
assuming other factors are held constant. We have not entered into and currently do not hold derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.
LIBOR is used as a reference rate for our Term Loan and our interest rate swap agreements we use to hedge our interest rate exposure. In 2017, the FCA
announced that it intends to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021, and it is unclear whether new methods of
calculating LIBOR will be established. Our Term Loan Agreement was amended on November 30, 2017 to include a mechanism to establish an
alternative Eurodollar rate if certain circumstances arise such that LIBOR may no longer be used. Additionally, our ABL Credit Agreement includes a
provision related to the potential discontinuance of LIBOR to be replaced with one or more Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) values or another
alternate benchmark rate. However, if LIBOR ceases to exist after 2021, the interest rates under the alternative rate could be higher than LIBOR. In
addition, the value of derivative instruments tied to LIBOR could also be impacted if LIBOR is limited or discontinued. We continue to review the
impact the LIBOR phase-out will have on the Company.
Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Installed Building Products, Inc
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Installed Building Products, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019 and
2018, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 27, 2020, expressed an unqualified
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 8 to the financial statements, effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting
Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), using the modified retrospective approach.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2)
involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our
opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on
the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Revenue on certain contracts recognized over time – Refer to Notes 2 and 3 to the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description
The Company recognizes revenue from the majority of its installation contracts when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to
customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. For contracts that
are not complete at the reporting date (“uncompleted contracts”), the Company recognizes revenue over time utilizing a cost-to-cost input method, as the
Company believes this represents the best measure of when goods and services are transferred to the customer. When this method is used, the Company
estimates the cost to complete individual contracts and records as revenue that portion of the total contract price that is considered complete based on the
relationship of costs incurred to date to total anticipated costs. Under the cost-to-cost method, the estimated costs to complete each contract requires
judgment and can change throughout the duration of a contract due to contract modifications and other factors impacting job completion. The costs
related to earned revenue include all direct material and labor costs and those indirect costs related to contract performance, such as indirect labor,
supplies, tools and repairs.
The Company’s estimation process for determining revenues for uncompleted contracts accounted for under the cost-to-cost approach is based upon
historical experience, the professional judgment and knowledge of the Company’s project management, operational and financial professionals, and an
assessment of the key underlying factors, such as the value of executed contracts, change orders, and related contract costs, that may impact the
revenues and costs of uncompleted contracts.
Given the judgments necessary to estimate the relationship between executed contract value and contract costs, auditing the amount of revenue
recognized for uncompleted contracts involves a high degree of auditor judgment.
How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to estimated revenue recognized on uncompleted contracts included the following, among others:
•

We tested the effectiveness of the Company’s controls over the determination of uncompleted contract revenue, including those over
estimated total costs and revenues recognized through performance obligations.

•

We inquired of project managers, observed selected projects, and evaluated the reasonableness of management’s ability to accurately
estimate costs by comparing incurred contract costs on uncompleted contracts to management’s projections.

•

We compared accounting records to executed contracts and change orders to verify accuracy of contract values in the Company’s estimates.

•

We considered the impact of change orders and other related contract costs that may impact the determination of revenue and estimated
costs to completion.

•

We tested the mathematical accuracy of the Company’s calculation of revenue recognized over time.

•

We selected a sample of contract costs incurred as of December 31, 2019, agreed the costs to supplier invoices or other supporting
documents, and evaluated whether the costs were properly allocated to the contracts included in management’s calculation of revenue
recognized over time.

•

We developed an expectation of revenue for uncompleted contracts with remaining performance obligations as of December 31, 2019 based
on (1) consideration of incurred contract costs and (2) results realized by the Company on completed contracts. We compared this
expectation to the Company’s revenue recognized on uncompleted contracts at December 31, 2019.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Columbus, Ohio
February 27, 2020
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.
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INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable (less allowance for doubtful accounts of $ 6,878 and $5,085 at December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively)
Inventories
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Goodwill
Intangibles, net
Other non-current assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Current maturities of long-term debt
Current maturities of operating lease obligations
Current maturities of finance lease obligations
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Operating lease obligations
Finance lease obligations
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred Stock; $0.01 par value: 5,000,000 authorized and 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively
Common stock; $0.01 par value: 100,000,000 authorized, 32,871,504 and 32,723,972 issued and 30,016,340
and 29,915,611 shares outstanding at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively
Additional paid in capital
Retained earnings
Treasury stock; at cost: 2,855,164 and 2,808,361 shares at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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As of December 31,
2019
2018

$

177,889
37,961

$ 90,442
10,060

244,519
74,606
46,974
581,949
106,410
45,691
195,652
153,562
16,215
$ 1,099,479

214,121
61,162
35,760
411,545
90,117
—
173,049
149,790
10,157
$ 834,658

$

$ 22,642
—
4,806
96,949
27,923
29,366
181,686
432,182
—
3,824
6,695
27,773
652,160

24,164
15,459
2,747
98,871
33,636
39,272
214,149
545,031
29,785
3,597
9,175
47,711
849,448

—
329
190,230
173,371
(106,756)
(7,143)
250,031
$ 1,099,479

—
327
181,815
105,212
(104,425)
(431)
182,498
$ 834,658
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INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Net revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Selling
Administrative
Amortization
Operating income
Other expense
Interest expense, net
Other
Income before income taxes
Income tax provision
Net income
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Unrealized (loss) gain on cash flow hedge, net of tax benefit (provision) of $2,225, $284 and
($206) for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively
Comprehensive income
Basic net income per share
Diluted net income per share
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

2019

Years ended December 31,
2018

2017

$ 1,511,629
1,076,809
434,820

$ 1,336,432
964,841
371,591

$ 1,132,927
808,901
324,026

75,016
214,134
24,510
121,160

67,105
185,850
25,419
93,217

58,450
164,453
26,857
74,266

$

28,104
451
92,605
24,446
68,159

$

20,496
535
72,186
17,438
54,748

$

17,381
1,065
55,820
14,680
41,140

$
$
$

(6,712)
61,447
2.29
2.28

$
$
$

(1,050)
53,698
1.76
1.75

$
$
$

507
41,647
1.30
1.30

29,752,644
29,873,106

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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31,107,231
31,229,558

31,639,283
31,756,363
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INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

BALANCE—January 1, 2017
Net income
Purchase of remaining interest in
subsidiary
Issuance of common stock for acquisition
Issuance of common stock awards to
employees
Surrender of common stock awards by
employees
Share-based compensation expense
Share-based compensation issued to
directors
Other comprehensive income, net of tax

32,135,176 $

BALANCE—January 1, 2018

32,524,934 $

Net income
Cumulative effect of accounting changes,
net of tax
Issuance of common stock awards to
employees
Surrender of common stock awards by
employees
Share-based compensation expense
Share-based compensation issued to
directors
Common stock repurchase
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
BALANCE—January 1, 2019
Net income
Issuance of common stock awards to
employees
Surrender of common stock awards by
employees
Share-based compensation expense
Share-based compensation issued to
directors
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
BALANCE—December 31, 2019

Additional
Paid In
Capital

321 $ 158,581

Retained
Earnings

$

7,294

Treasury Stock
Shares
Amount

(650,402 ) $ (12,219 ) $

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Stockholders’
Equity

—

$ 153,977

41,140

282,577

3

(1,888)
10,856

101,241

1

(1)

41,140
(1,888)
10,859
—
(12,386)

(562)

(562)
6,195

6,195
5,940

300
325 $ 174,043

$ 48,434

(662,788) $ (12,781) $

507

300
507

507

$ 210,528

54,748

54,748

2,030
194,093

2

112

(2)

—
(43,871)

(2,282)

(2,101,702)

(89,362)

(2,282)
7,598

7,598
4,945

176
(1,050)

32,723,972 $

327 $ 181,815

$ 105,212

(2,808,361) $ (104,425) $

2

68,159

(2)

—
(46,803)

(2,331)

(2,331)
8,057

8,057
7,670

360
(6,712)

32,871,504 $

329 $ 190,230

$ 173,371

(2,855,164) $ (106,756) $

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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176
(89,362)
(1,050)

(431) $ 182,498

68,159
139,862

2,142

360
(6,712)

(7,143) $ 250,031
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INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment
Amortization of operating lease right-of-use assets
Amortization of intangibles
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discount
Provision for doubtful accounts
Write-off of debt issuance costs
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Noncash stock compensation
Deferred income taxes
Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other assets
Accounts payable
Income taxes receivable/payable
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of investments
Maturities of short term investments
Purchases of property and equipment
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired of $334, $0 and $247 in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Other
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from senior notes (Note 7)
Proceeds from term loan (Note 7)
Payments on term loan (Note 7)
Proceeds from delayed draw term loan
Payments on delayed draw term loan
Proceeds from vehicle and equipment notes payable
Debt issuance costs
Principal payments on long-term debt
Principal payments on finance lease obligations
Acquisition-related obligations
Repurchase of common stock
Surrender of common stock awards by employees
Purchase of remaining interest in subsidiary
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Net cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Income taxes, net of refunds
Supplemental disclosure of noncash activities
Common stock issued for acquisition of business
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease obligations
Termination of operating lease obligations and right-of-use assets
Property and equipment obtained in exchange for finance lease obligations
Seller obligations in connection with acquisition of businesses
Unpaid purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Years ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017
$ 68,159

$ 54,748

$ 41,140

38,862
15,691
24,510
1,184
4,312
3,725
(140)
8,727
5,341

33,306
—
25,419
1,164
2,630
1,164
(1,098)
7,839
470

28,285
—
26,857
1,093
2,834
2,113
(492)
6,592
(6,160)

(29,582)
(10,597)
(16,959)
947
(3,944)
12,831
123,067

(30,166)
(15,717)
(4,552)
8,146
10,273
3,007
96,633

(19,955)
(3,667)
(4,602)
6,303
(18,605)
7,036
68,772

(52,795)
25,061
(50,167)
(51,706)
761
(2,887)
(131,733)

(22,818)
42,782
(35,232)
(57,740)
1,958
(3,019)
(74,069)

(30,194)
—
(31,668)
(137,120)
959
(2,420)
(200,443)

300,000
—
(195,750)
—
—
33,090
(6,691)
(21,316)
(4,157)
(6,732)
—
(2,331)
—
96,113
87,447
90,442
$ 177,889

—
100,000
(2,750)
—
—
25,443
(1,992)
(14,130)
(5,604)
(3,954)
(89,363)
(2,282)
—
5,368
27,932
62,510
$ 90,442

—
300,000
(97,750)
112,500
(125,000)
22,460
(8,281)
(10,002)
(7,314)
(4,464)
—
(562)
(1,888)
179,699
48,028
14,482
$ 62,510

$ 20,943
22,633

$ 20,075
4,950

$ 13,758
38,887

—
—
—
2,208
7,540
1,773

10,859
—
—
4,440
5,128
2,003

—
18,907
(2,946)
2,809
7,543
1,903
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INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATON
Installed Building Products (“IBP”), a Delaware corporation formed on October 28, 2011, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Company,” and “we,” “us” and “our”) primarily install insulation, waterproofing, fire-stopping, fireproofing, garage doors, rain gutters, window
blinds, shower doors, closet shelving and mirrors and other products for residential and commercial builders located in the continental United States.
The Company operates in over 180 locations and its corporate office is located in Columbus, Ohio.
We have one operating segment and a single reportable segment. Substantially all of our sales are derived from the service-based installation of various
products in the residential new construction, repair and remodel and commercial construction end markets from our national network of branch
locations.
Each of our branches has the capacity to serve all of our end markets. See Note 3, Revenue Recognition, for information on our revenues by product and
end market.
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S.
GAAP”). The accompanying consolidated financial statements include all of our wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated.
Use of Estimates
Preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates, judgements and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Management believes the accounting
estimates are appropriate and reasonably determined; however, due to the inherent uncertainties in making these estimates, actual amounts could differ
from such estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly-liquid investments purchased with original term to maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. We had $99.2 million
and $69.8 million of cash equivalents as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Substantially all cash is held in banks providing FDIC coverage
of $0.25 million per depositor.
Revenue and Cost Recognition
On January 1, 2018, we adopted the new accounting standard ASC 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” using the modified retrospective
method applied to those contracts that were not completed as of January 1, 2018. Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018 are
presented under Topic 606, while prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with our historic accounting under
Topic 605. See Note 3, Revenue Recognition, for the detailed revenue recognition policy.
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
We record all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives depends on the intended use of
the derivative, whether we have elected to designate a derivative in a hedging relationship and apply hedge accounting and whether the hedging
relationship has satisfied the criteria
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INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
necessary to apply hedge accounting. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or
other types of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or
loss recognition on the hedging instrument with the recognition of the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge. We
may enter into derivative contracts that are intended to economically hedge certain of our risks, even though hedge accounting does not apply or we
elect not to apply hedge accounting. See Note 10, Derivatives and Hedging, for additional information on our accounting policy for derivative
instruments and hedging activities.
Investment Policy
Marketable securities with original maturities longer than three months but less than one year from the settlement date are classified as investments
within current assets. These investments consist of highly liquid investment grade instruments primarily including corporate bonds and commercial
paper. Investments for which we have the ability and positive intent to hold to maturity are carried at amortized cost. The difference between the
acquisition costs and face values of held-to-maturity investments is amortized over the remaining term of the investments and added to or subtracted
from the acquisition cost and interest income. As of December 31, 2019, all of our investments were classified as held-to-maturity.
Business Combinations
The purchase price for business combinations is allocated to the estimated fair values of acquired tangible and intangible assets, including goodwill and
assumed liabilities, where applicable. Additionally, we recognize customer relationships, trademarks and trade names, backlog and non-competition
agreements as identifiable intangible assets. These assets are recorded at fair value as of the transaction date. The fair value of these intangibles is
determined primarily using the income approach and using current industry information which involves significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs).
These inputs include projected sales, margin and tax rate.
At times, the total purchase price for a business combination could be less than the estimated fair values of acquired tangible and intangible assets. In
these cases, we record a gain on bargain purchase within other expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income
rather than goodwill in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
Accounts Receivable
We account for trade receivables based on amounts billed to customers. Past due receivables are determined based on contractual terms. We do not
accrue interest on any of our trade receivables.
Retainage receivables represent the amount retained by our customers to ensure the quality of the installation and is received after satisfactory
completion of each installation project. Management regularly reviews aging of retainage receivables and changes in payment trends and records an
allowance when collection of amounts due are considered at risk. Amounts retained by project owners under construction contracts and included in
accounts receivable were $33.4 million and $28.0 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. In addition, as of December 31, 2019, $0.5
million of retainage receivables are recorded in other long-term assets.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the failure of customers to make required payments. The allowance
is determined by management based on our historical losses, specific
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INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
customer circumstances and general economic conditions. We analyze aged accounts receivable and generally increase the allowance as receivables age.
Management reviews accounts receivable and records an allowance for specific customers based on current circumstances and charges off the receivable
against the allowance when all attempts to collect the receivable have failed. This analysis is performed regularly and the allowance is adjusted
accordingly. The following table sets forth our allowance for doubtful accounts (in thousands):
January 1, 2017
Charged to costs and expenses
Charged to other accounts (1)
Deductions (2)
December 31, 2017
Charged to costs and expenses
Charged to other accounts (1)
Deductions (2)
December 31, 2018
Charged to costs and expenses
Charged to other accounts (1)
Deductions (2)
December 31, 2019
(1)
(2)

$ 3,397
2,834
699
(2,125)
$ 4,805
2,630
675
(3,025)
$ 5,085
4,312
1,269
(3,788)
$ 6,878

Recovery of receivables previously written off as bad debt and other.
Write-off of uncollectible accounts receivable.

Concentration of Credit Risk
Credit risk is our risk of financial loss from the non-performance of a contractual obligation on the part of our counterparty. Such risk arises principally
from our receivables from customers and cash and bank balances. Substantially all of our trade accounts receivable are from entities engaged in
residential and commercial construction. We perform periodic credit evaluations of our customers’ financial condition. The general credit risk of our
counterparties is not considered to be significant. In addition, no individual customer made up more than 3% of accounts receivable or 4% of net
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
Inventories
Inventories consist of insulation, waterproofing materials, garage doors, rain gutters, window blinds, shower doors, mirrors, closet shelving and other
products. We value inventory at each balance sheet date to ensure that it is carried at the lower of cost or net realizable value with cost determined using
the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable
cost of completion, disposal and transportation. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, substantially all inventory was finished goods. Inventory provisions
are recorded to reduce inventory to the lower of cost or net realizable value for obsolete or slow moving inventory based on assumptions about future
demand and marketability of products, the impact of new product introductions, inventory levels and turns, product spoilage, and specific identification
of items such as product discontinuance, engineering/material changes, or regulatory-related changes.
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INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. We provide for depreciation and amortization of property and equipment using
the straight-line method over the expected useful lives of the assets. Expected useful lives of property and equipment vary but generally are the shorter
of lease life or five years for vehicles and leasehold improvements, three to five years for furniture, fixtures and equipment and 30 years for buildings.
Major renewals and improvements are capitalized. Maintenance, repairs and minor renewals are expensed as incurred. When assets are retired or
otherwise disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recorded.
Goodwill
Goodwill results from business combinations and represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of acquired tangible assets and liabilities
and identifiable intangible assets. Annually, on October 1, or if conditions indicate an earlier review is necessary, we either perform a quantitative test or
assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount and if it is
necessary to perform the quantitative two-step goodwill impairment test. If we perform the quantitative test, we compare the carrying value of the
reporting unit to an estimate of the reporting unit’s fair value to identify potential impairment. The estimate of the reporting unit’s fair value is
determined by weighting a discounted cash flow model and a market-related model using current industry information that involve significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs). In determining the estimated future cash flow, we consider and apply certain estimates and judgments, including
current and projected future levels of income based on management’s plans, business trends, prospects, market and economic conditions and marketparticipant considerations. If the estimated fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value, a second step is performed to determine the
amount of the potential goodwill impairment. If impaired, goodwill is written down to its estimated implied fair value.
Impairment of Other Intangible and Long-Lived Assets
Other intangible assets consist of customer relationships, backlog, non-competition agreements and business trademarks and trade names. Amortization
of finite lived intangible assets is recorded to reflect the pattern of economic benefits based on projected revenues over their respective estimated useful
lives (customer relationships – eight to 15 years, non-competition agreements – one to five years and business trademarks and trade names – two to 15
years). We do not have any indefinite-lived intangible assets other than goodwill.
We review long-lived assets and intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use of an asset and its eventual disposition
are less than its carrying amount. When impairment is identified, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its estimated fair value. Assets to be
disposed of are recorded at the lower of net book value or fair net realizable value less cost to sell at the date management commits to a plan of disposal.
There was no impairment loss for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
Other Liabilities
Our workers’ compensation insurance program, for a significant portion of our business, is considered a high deductible program whereby we are
responsible for the cost of claims under approximately $0.8 million. Our
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INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
general liability insurance program is considered a high retention program whereby we are responsible for the cost of claims up to approximately
$2.0 million, subject to an aggregate cap of $8.0 million. Our vehicle liability insurance program is considered a high deductible program whereby we
are responsible for the cost of claims under approximately $1.0 million. In each case, if we do not pay these claims, our insurance carriers are required to
make these payments to the claimants on our behalf. The liabilities represent our best estimate of our costs, using generally accepted actuarial reserving
methods, of the ultimate obligations for reported claims plus those incurred but not reported for all claims incurred through December 31, 2019 and
2018. We establish case reserves for reported claims using case-basis evaluation of the underlying claims data and we update as information becomes
known. We regularly monitor the potential for changes in estimates, evaluate our insurance accruals and adjust our recorded provisions.
The assumptions underlying the ultimate costs of existing claim losses are subject to a high degree of unpredictability, which can affect the liability
recorded for such claims. For example, variability in inflation rates of health care costs inherent in workers’ compensation claims can affect the ultimate
costs. Similarly, changes in legal trends and interpretations, as well as a change in the nature and method of how claims are settled, can affect ultimate
costs. Our estimates of liabilities incurred do not anticipate significant changes in historical trends for these variables and any changes could have a
considerable effect on future claim costs and currently recorded liabilities.
We carry insurance for a number of risks, including, but not limited to, workers’ compensation, general liability, vehicle liability, property and our
obligation for employee-related health care benefits. Liabilities relating to claims associated with these risks are estimated by considering historical
claims experience, including frequency, severity, demographic factors and other actuarial assumptions. In estimating our liability for such claims, we
periodically analyze our historical trends, including loss development, and apply appropriate loss development factors to the incurred costs associated
with the claims with the assistance of external actuarial consultants. While we do not expect the amounts ultimately paid to differ significantly from our
estimates, our reserves and corresponding expenses could be affected if future claim experience differs significantly from historical trends and actuarial
assumptions.
Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are generally expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was approximately $3.9 million, $3.8 million and $3.2 million for the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and is included in selling expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income.
Deferred Financing Costs
Deferred financing costs and debt issuance costs combined, totaling $8.2 million and $6.4 million, net of accumulated amortization as of December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively, are amortized over the term of the related debt on a straight-line basis which approximates the effective interest method.
The deferred financing costs are included in other non-current assets while the debt issuance costs are included in long-term debt on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The related amortization expense of these costs combined was $1.2 million,
$1.2 million and $1.1 million and is included in interest expense, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for the
years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
We wrote off $3.3 million in previously capitalized loan costs during the year ended December 31, 2019. In addition, we expensed loan costs of
approximately $0.4 million, $1.1 million and $1.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, associated with our
credit facilities because they did not meet the requirements for capitalization. These amounts are included in interest expense, net on the Condensed
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Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. We also had $6.7 million in new costs associated with the debt-related financing
transactions incurred during the year ended December 31, 2019. The deferred financing costs are included in other non-current assets while the debt
issuance costs are included in long-term debt on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. These costs are amortized over the term of the related debt
on a straight-line basis which approximates the effective interest method.
For additional information on our debt instruments, see Note 7, Long-Term Debt.
Leases
On January 1, 2019, we adopted the new accounting standard ASU 2016-02, “Leases,” which requires substantially all leases, with the exception of
leases with a term of one year or less, to be recorded on the balance sheet as a lease liability measured as the present value of the future lease payments
with a corresponding right-of-use asset. This ASU also requires disclosures designed to give financial statement users information on the amount, timing
and uncertainty of cash flows. See Note 8, Leases, for further information regarding our lease accounting policies.
Share-Based Compensation
Our share-based compensation program is designed to attract and retain employees while also aligning employees’ interests with the interests of our
stockholders. Restricted stock awards are periodically granted to certain employees, officers and non-employee members of our board of directors under
the stockholder-approved 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan.
Certain of our stock awards are deemed to be equity-based with a service condition and do not contain a market or performance condition with the
exception of performance-based awards granted to certain officers and performance-based stock units. Fair value of the non-performance-based awards
to employees and officers is measured at the grant date and amortized to expense over the vesting period of the awards using the straight-line attribution
method for all service-based awards with a graded vesting feature. This fair value is reduced by assumed forfeitures and adjusted for actual forfeitures
until vesting. We also issue performance-based stock awards to certain officers under our 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan. The performance-based
compensation expense is recorded over the requisite service period using the graded-vesting method for the entire award. Performance-based stock
awards are accounted for at fair value at date of grant. We also periodically grant performance-based stock units to certain employees under the
stockholder-approved 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan. These units convert to shares upon meeting time- and performance-based requirements.
Compensation expense for performance-based stock units is recorded based on an assessment each reporting period of the probability that certain
performance goals will be met during the contingent vesting period. If performance goals are not probable to occur, no compensation expense will be
recognized. If performance goals that were previously deemed probable are not or are not expected to be met, the previously recognized compensation
cost related to such performance goals will be reversed. Employees and officers are subject to tax at the vesting date based on the market price of the
shares on that date, or on the grant date if an election is made.
Income Taxes
We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, the amount of taxes currently payable or refundable are accrued
and deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences of temporary differences that currently exist between the
tax basis and financial reporting basis of our assets and liabilities.
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Valuation allowances are established against deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that the realization of those deferred tax assets will not
occur. In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise, we consider all available positive and
negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, the ability to produce future taxable income, prudent and feasible tax
planning strategies and recent financial operations. In projecting future taxable income, we factor in historical results and changes in accounting policies
and incorporate assumptions, including the amount of future federal and state pretax operating income, the reversal of temporary differences and the
implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies. These assumptions require significant judgment about the forecasts of future taxable
income and are consistent with the plans and estimates we use to manage the underlying businesses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates in effect in the years when those temporary differences are expected to
reverse. The effect on deferred taxes from a change in tax rate is recognized through operations in the period that includes the enactment date of the
change. Changes in tax laws and rates could also affect recorded deferred tax assets and liabilities in the future. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax
Act”) was enacted on December 22, 2017 reduced the U.S. federal corporate tax rate from 35% to 21% effective January 1, 2018. During the year end
December 31, 2017, the Company recognized a $3.8 million tax benefit as a result of revaluing the ending net deferred tax liabilities from 35% to the
newly enacted U.S. corporate income tax rate of 21%, and also recognized a $0.8 million benefit in 2018 due to timing provision to return adjustments
which impacted deferred balances at the 35% rate that were then revalued at the lower corporate rate. See Note 13, Income Taxes, for additional
information.
A tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination,
including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits. Income tax positions must meet a more likely than not
recognition threshold to be recognized.
We recognize tax liabilities for uncertain tax positions and adjust these liabilities when our judgment changes as a result of the evaluation of new
information not previously available. Liabilities related to uncertain tax positions are recorded in other long-term liabilities on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Due to the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in a payment that is materially different from the current
estimate of the tax liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or decreases to income tax expense and the effective tax rate in the period
in which the new information becomes available. Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are recognized within income tax expense in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. Accrued interest and penalties are recognized in other current liabilities on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Our income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities and reserves for unrecognized tax benefits reflect management’s best assessment of estimated
future taxes to be paid. We are subject to income taxes in the United States, which includes numerous state and local jurisdictions. Significant judgments
and estimates are required in determining the income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities and the reserve for unrecognized tax benefits.
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Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments
See Note 9, Fair Value Measurements, for related accounting policies.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
Standard

ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic
842)

Effective Date

January 1,
2019

Adoption

This Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) requires substantially all leases, with the
exception of leases with a term of one year or less, to be recorded on the balance sheet as a
lease liability measured as the present value of the future lease payments with a corresponding
right-of-use asset. This ASU also requires disclosures designed to give financial statement
users information on the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows. See Note 8, Leases,
for further information regarding the effects of adopting this standard.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
We are currently evaluating the impact of certain ASUs on our Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which
are described below:
Standard

ASU 2016-13, Financial InstrumentsCredit Losses (Topic 326)

Description

Effective Date

This pronouncement and
subsequently-issued amendments
change the accounting for credit
losses on available-for-sale debt
securities and purchased financial
assets with credit deterioration. In
addition, these amendments
require the measurement of all
expected credit losses for financial
assets, including trade accounts
receivable, held at the reporting
date based on historical
experience, current conditions and
reasonable and supportable
forecasts.
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Annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2019, including
interim periods therein. Early
adoption is permitted.

Effect on the financial statements or
other significant matters

Upon adoption of this
pronouncement, we expect the
accounts receivable balance and
the contract assets balance
included in other current assets
on our Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets to be affected,
with an offsetting amount
recorded to retained earnings in
the period of adoption. We are
still quantifying the impact of the
ASU and its related amendments
on our consolidated financial
statements, but do not expect it
to be material.
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Description

ASU 2017-04, Intangibles—Goodwill
and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the
Test for Goodwill Impairment

To address concerns over the cost
and complexity of the two-step
goodwill impairment test, this
pronouncement removes the
second step of the goodwill
impairment test. Going forward, an
entity will apply a one-step
quantitative test and record the
amount of goodwill impairment as
the excess of a reporting unit’s
carrying amount over its fair value,
not to exceed the total amount of
goodwill allocated to the reporting
unit.
This pronouncement amends Topic
820 to eliminate, add and modify
certain disclosure requirements for
fair value measurements.

Annual or interim goodwill
impairment tests in fiscal years
beginning after December 15,
2019, including interim periods
therein. Early adoption is
permitted.

We anticipate the adoption of
this ASU will not have a material
impact on our consolidated
financial statements or
disclosures.

Annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2019, including
interim periods therein. Early
adoption is permitted.

We will modify our disclosures
to conform to the new
requirements beginning with
filings covering periods
subsequent to the adoption date.

This pronouncement simplifies the
accounting for income taxes by
removing certain exceptions to the
general principles of Topic 740
and improves the consistent
application of GAAP by clarifying
and amending existing guidance.

Annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2020, including
interim periods therein. Early
adoption is permitted.

We are currently assessing the
impact of adoption on our
consolidated financial
statements.

ASU 2018-13, Fair Value
Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure
Framework—Changes to the
Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value
Measurement
ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic
740), Simplifying the Accounting for
Income Taxes

Effective Date

Effect on the financial statements or
other significant matters

Standard

NOTE 3 – REVENUE RECOGNITION
Our revenues are derived primarily through contracts with customers whereby we install insulation and other complementary building products and are
recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be
entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. We account for a contract when it has approval and commitment from both parties, the rights of the
parties are identified, payment terms are identified, the contract has commercial substance and collectability of consideration is probable. An
insignificant portion of our sales, primarily retail sales, is accounted for on a point-in-time basis when the sale occurs, adjusted accordingly for any
return provisions. We do offer assurance-type warranties on certain of our installed products and services that do not represent a separate performance
obligation and, as such, do not impact the timing or extent of revenue recognition.
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For contracts that are not complete at the reporting date, we recognize revenue over time utilizing a cost-to-cost input method as we believe this
represents the best measure of when goods and services are transferred to the customer. When this method is used, we estimate the costs to complete
individual contracts and record as revenue that portion of the total contract price that is considered complete based on the relationship of costs incurred
to date to total anticipated costs. Under the cost-to-cost method, the use of estimated costs to complete each contract is a significant variable in the
process of determining recognized revenue, requires judgment and can change throughout the duration of a contract due to contract modifications and
other factors impacting job completion. The costs of earned revenue include all direct material and labor costs and those indirect costs related to contract
performance, such as indirect labor, supplies, tools and repairs. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which
such losses are determined.
Our long-term contracts can be subject to modification to account for changes in contract specifications and requirements. We consider contract
modifications to exist when the modification either creates new, or changes the existing, enforceable rights and obligations. Most of our contract
modifications are for goods or services that are not distinct from the existing contract due to the significant integration service provided in the context of
the contract and are accounted for as if they were part of that existing contract. The effect of a contract modification on the transaction price and our
measure of progress for the performance obligation to which it relates, is recognized as an adjustment to revenue (either as an increase in or a reduction
of revenue) on a cumulative catch-up basis.
Payment terms typically do not exceed 30 days for short-term contracts and typically do not exceed 60 days for long-term contracts with customers. All
contracts are billed either contractually or as work is performed. Billing on our long-term contracts occurs primarily on a monthly basis throughout the
contract period whereby we submit invoices for customer payment based on actual or estimated costs incurred during the billing period. On certain of
our long-term contracts the customer may withhold payment on an invoice equal to a percentage of the invoice amount, which will be subsequently paid
after satisfactory completion of each installation project. This amount is referred to as retainage and is common practice in the construction industry, as
it allows for customers to ensure the quality of the service performed prior to full payment. Retainage receivables are classified as current or long-term
assets based on the expected time to project completion.
We disaggregate our revenue from contracts with customers by end market and product, as we believe it best depicts how the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of our revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. The following tables present our revenues disaggregated by end market and
product (in thousands):
2019

Residential new construction
Repair and remodel
Commercial
Net revenues

$1,138,475
98,771
274,383
$ 1,511,629
2019

Insulation
Waterproofing
Shower doors, shelving and mirrors
Garage doors
Rain gutters
Window blinds
Other building products
Net revenues

$ 970,070
112,075
105,745
89,959
49,788
41,641
142,351
$1,511,629
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Year ended December 31,
2018

75%
7%
18%
100%

$1,026,473
89,977
219,982
$1,336,432

77%
7%
16%
100%

Year ended December 31,
2018

64%
7%
7%
6%
3%
3%
10%
100%

$ 876,118
97,683
90,352
79,539
44,203
28,981
119,556
$1,336,432

66%
7%
7%
6%
3%
2%
9%
100%
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Contract Assets and Liabilities
Our contract assets consist of unbilled amounts typically resulting from sales under contracts when the cost-to-cost method of revenue recognition is
utilized and revenue recognized, based on costs incurred, exceeds the amount billed to the customer. Our contract assets are recorded in other current
assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Our contract liabilities consist of customer deposits and billings in excess of revenue recognized, based on
costs incurred and are included in other current liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Contract assets and liabilities related to our uncompleted contracts and customer deposits were as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2019
2018

Contract assets
Contract liabilities

$22,138
(8,888)

$15,092
(7,468)

Uncompleted contracts were as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2019
2018

Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts
Estimated earnings
Total
Less: Billings to date
Net under billings

$ 110,818
61,185
172,003
155,599
$ 16,404

$ 114,826
58,952
173,778
163,112
$ 10,666

Net under billings were as follows (in thousands):

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts
(contract assets)
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts
(contract liabilities)
Net under billings

As of December 31,
2019
2018

$22,138

$15,092

(5,734)
$16,404

(4,426)
$10,666

The difference between contract assets and contract liabilities as of December 31, 2019 compared to December 31, 2018 is primarily the result of timing
differences between our performance of obligations under contracts and customer payments. During the year ended December 31, 2019, we recognized
$7.2 million of revenue that was included in the contract liability balance at December 31, 2018. We did not recognize any impairment losses on our
receivables and contract assets during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
Remaining performance obligations represent the transaction price of contracts for which work has not been performed and excludes unexercised
contract options and potential modifications. As of December 31, 2019, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to remaining
uncompleted contracts was $90.7 million. We expect to satisfy remaining performance obligations and recognize revenue on substantially all of these
uncompleted contracts over the next 18 months.
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Practical Expedients and Exemptions
We generally expense sales commissions and other incremental costs of obtaining a contract when incurred because the amortization period is usually
one year or less. Sales commissions are recorded within selling expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
We do not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with an original expected length of one year or less.
NOTE 4 – INVESTMENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include investments in money market funds that are valued based on the net asset value of the funds. The investments in these
funds were $99.2 million and $69.8 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
All other investments are classified as held-to-maturity and consist of highly liquid instruments including primarily corporate bonds and commercial
paper. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the amortized cost of these investments equaled the net carrying value, which was $38.0 million and
$10.1 million, respectively. All held-to-maturity securities as of December 31, 2019 mature in one year or less. See Note 9, Fair Value Measurements,
for additional information.
NOTE 5 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2019
2018

Land
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Vehicles and equipment

$

108
3,901
7,748
49,199
203,310
264,266
(157,856)
$ 106,410

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization

$

—
—
6,717
38,369
177,969
223,055
(132,938)
$ 90,117

We recorded the following depreciation and amortization expense on our property and equipment, by income statement category (in thousands):

Cost of sales
Administrative

2019

As of December 31,
2018

2017

$36,922
1,939

$31,526
1,779

$26,731
1,554

Property and equipment as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 of $72.7 million and $59.9 million, respectively, were fully depreciated but still being
utilized in our business.
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NOTE 6 – GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLES
Goodwill
The change in carrying amount of goodwill was as follows (in thousands):

January 1, 2018
Business combinations
Other
December 31, 2018
Business combinations
Other
December 31, 2019

Goodwill
(Gross)

Accumulated
Impairment
Losses

Goodwill
(Net)

$225,470
17,023
560
243,053
22,405
198
$265,656

$ (70,004)
—
—
(70,004)
—
—
$ (70,004)

$155,466
17,023
560
173,049
22,405
198
$195,652

Other changes included in the above table for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 include minor adjustments for the allocation of certain
acquisitions still under measurement as well as several immaterial tuck-in acquisitions. For additional information regarding changes to goodwill
resulting from acquisitions, see Note 16, Business Combinations.
At October 1, 2019, our measurement date, we tested goodwill for impairment by performing a “step one” test in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles and determined that no impairment of goodwill was required. As such, no impairment of goodwill was recognized for the year
ended December 31, 2019. In addition, no impairment of goodwill was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2018 or 2017.
Intangibles, net
The following table provides the gross carrying amount, accumulated amortization and net book value for each major class of intangibles (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2019

Amortized intangibles:
Customer relationships
Covenants not-to-compete
Trademarks and tradenames
Backlog

Gross
Carrying
Amount

$ 169,334
16,959
69,718
14,080
$ 270,091

Accumulated
Amortization

$

69,388
10,617
22,609
13,915
$ 116,529

2018
Net
Book
Value

Gross
Carrying
Amount

$ 99,946
6,342
47,109
165
$ 153,562

$ 148,635
14,682
64,432
14,060
$ 241,809

Accumulated
Amortization

$

$

52,514
7,572
18,256
13,677
92,019

Net
Book
Value

$ 96,121
7,110
46,176
383
$ 149,790

There was no intangible asset impairment loss for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
The gross carrying amount of intangibles increased approximately $28.3 million and $37.3 million during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. Intangibles associated with business combinations accounted for approximately $28.0 million and $36.1 million of the increases during the
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. For more information, see Note 16, Business Combinations. Amortization expense on intangible
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assets totaled approximately $24.5 million, $25.4 million and $26.9 million during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Remaining estimated aggregate annual amortization expense is as follows (in thousands):
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$ 25,741
24,399
23,479
20,568
17,053
42,322

NOTE 7 – LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt consisted of the following (in thousands):

Senior Notes due 2028, net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $4,823 and $0,
respectively
Term loan, net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $1,662 and $4,834,
respectively
Vehicle and equipment notes, maturing through December 2024; payable in
various monthly installments, including interest rates ranging from 2.5% to
4.8%
Various notes payable, maturing through March 2025; payable in various
monthly installments, including interest rates ranging from 4% to 6%
Less: current maturities
Long-term debt, less current maturities

As of December 31,
2019
2018

$295,177

$

—

198,338

390,916

72,714

60,391

2,966
569,195
(24,164)
$545,031

3,517
454,824
(22,642)
$432,182

Remaining required repayments of debt principal, gross of unamortized debt issuance costs, as of December 31, 2019 are as follows (in thousands):
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$ 24,164
19,223
15,350
9,997
4,155
502,791

5.75% Senior Notes due 2028
In September 2019, we issued $300.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 5.75% senior unsecured notes (the “Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes
will mature on February 1, 2028 and interest will be payable semi-annually in cash in arrears on February 1 and August 1, commencing on February 1,
2020. The net proceeds from the Senior Notes offering were $295.0 million after debt issuance costs. We used some of the net proceeds to repay a
portion of our outstanding obligations (including accrued and unpaid interest) under our term loan credit agreement (as defined below) and to pay fees
and expenses related to the entry into a new revolving credit facility described below.
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The indenture covering the Senior Notes contains restrictive covenants that, among other things, limit the ability of the Company and certain of our
subsidiaries (subject to certain exceptions) to: (i) incur additional debt and issue preferred stock; (ii) pay dividends on, redeem or repurchase stock;
(iii) prepay subordinated debt; (iv) create liens; (v) make specified types of investments; (vi) apply net proceeds from certain asset sales; (vii) engage in
transactions with affiliates; (viii) merge, consolidate or sell substantially all of our assets; and (ix) pay dividends and make other distributions from
subsidiaries.
Credit Facilities
In December 2019, we amended and restated our $400 million, seven-year term loan facility due April 2025 (the “Term Loan”) under our credit
agreement (the “Term Loan Agreement”), dated as of April 13, 2017 (as previously amended by the First Amendment thereto dated November 30, 2017
and by the Second Amendment thereto dated June 19, 2018). The amended Term Loan (i) effects a repricing of the interest rate applicable to the term
loans thereunder from LIBOR plus 2.50% to LIBOR plus 2.25% and (ii) replaces Royal Bank of Canada with Bank of America, N.A. as the
administrative agent and collateral agent thereunder. As of December 31, 2019, we had $198.3 million, net of unamortized debt issuance costs, due on
our Term Loan. The amended Term Loan also has a margin of 1.50% in the case of base rate loans.
In September 2019, we entered into a new asset-based lending credit agreement (the “ABL Credit Agreement”). The ABL Credit Agreement provides
for an asset-based lending credit facility (the “ABL Revolver”) of up to $200.0 million with a five-year maturity, which replaced the Company’s
previous revolving credit facility. Borrowing availability under the ABL Revolver is based on a percentage of the value of certain assets securing the
Company’s obligations and those of the subsidiary guarantors thereunder. In connection with the Amended and Restated Term Loan, we entered into a
Second Amendment (the “Second Amendment”) to the ABL/Term Loan Intercreditor Agreement with Bank of America, N.A., as ABL Agent for the
lenders under the ABL Credit Agreement, and Bank of America, N.A., as Term Loan Agent for the lenders under the Amended and Restated Term
Loan. Including outstanding letters of credit, our remaining availability under the ABL Revolver as of December 31, 2019 was $161.3 million.
All of the obligations under the Term Loan and ABL Revolver are guaranteed by all of the Company’s existing restricted subsidiaries and will be
guaranteed by the Company’s future restricted subsidiaries. Additionally, all obligations under the Term Loan and ABL Revolver, and the guarantees of
those obligations, are secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company and the guarantors, subject to certain exceptions and permitted liens,
including a first-priority security interest in such assets that constitute ABL Priority Collateral, as defined in the ABL Credit Agreement, and a secondpriority security interest in such assets that constitute Term Loan Priority Collateral, as defined in the Term Loan Agreement.
The ABL Revolver bears interest at either the Eurodollar rate or the base rate (which approximated the prime rate), at the Company’s election, plus a
margin of (A) 1.25% or 1.50% in the case of Eurodollar rate loans (based on a measure of availability under the ABL Credit Agreement) and (B) 0.25%
or 0.50% in the case of base rate loans (based on a measure of availability under the ABL Credit Agreement).
The ABL Revolver also provides incremental revolving credit facility commitments of up to $50.0 million. The terms and conditions of any incremental
revolving credit facility commitments must be no more favorable than the terms of the ABL Revolver. The ABL Revolver also allows for the issuance
of letters of credit of up to $75.0 million in aggregate and borrowing of swingline loans of up to $20.0 million in aggregate.
The ABL Credit Agreement contains a financial covenant requiring the satisfaction of a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.0x in the event that
we do not meet a minimum measure of availability under the ABL Revolver.
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Vehicle and Equipment Notes
We are party to a Master Loan and Security Agreement (“Master Loan and Security Agreement”), a Master Equipment Lease Agreement (“Master
Equipment Agreement”) and one or more Master Loan Agreements (“Master Loan Agreements” and together with the Master Loan and Security
Agreement and Master Equipment Agreement the “Master Loan Equipment Agreements”) with various lenders to provide financing for the purpose of
purchasing or leasing vehicles and equipment used in the normal course of business. Each financing arrangement under these agreements constitutes a
separate note and obligation. Vehicles and equipment purchased or leased under each financing arrangement serve as collateral for the note applicable to
such financing arrangement. Regular payments are due under each note for a period of typically 60 consecutive months after the incurrence of the
obligation. The specific terms of each note are based on specific criteria, including the type of vehicle or equipment and the market interest rates at the
time. No termination date applies to these agreements. As of December 31, 2019, approximately $85.4 million of the various loan agreements was
available for purchases of equipment.
Total gross assets relating to our Master Loan and Equipment Agreements were $130.2 million and $98.7 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, none of which were fully depreciated as of December 31, 2019 or 2018, respectively. The net book value of assets under these agreements
was $68.2 million and $58.2 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Depreciation of assets held under these agreements is included
within cost of sales on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
NOTE 8 – LEASES
On January 1, 2019, we adopted ASC 842, “Leases” which, among other changes, requires us to record liabilities classified as operating leases on our
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets along with a corresponding right-of-use asset. Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2019 are
presented under Topic 842, while prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with our historic accounting under
Topic 840. We elected the package of practical expedients available for expired or existing contracts, which allowed us to carryforward our historical
assessments of whether contracts are or contain leases, lease classification tests and treatment of initial direct costs. We also elected to not separate lease
components from non-lease components for all fixed payments, and we exclude variable lease payments in the measurement of right-of-use assets and
lease obligations.
Upon adoption of ASC 842, we recorded a $44.9 million increase in other assets, a $1.4 million decrease to other current assets, a $1.0 million decrease
to other current liabilities and a $44.5 million increase to operating lease obligations. These adjustments are the result of assigning a right-of-use asset
and related lease liability to our operating leases. We did not record any cumulative effect adjustments to opening retained earnings, and adoption of the
lease standard had no impact to cash from or used in operating, financing, or investing activities on our consolidated cash flow statements.
We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Most of our operating leases do not provide an implicit rate so we use our incremental borrowing
rate based on the information available at the commencement date to determine the present value of future payments. We lease various assets in the
ordinary course of business as follows: warehouses to store our materials and perform staging activities for certain products we install; various office
spaces for selling and administrative activities to support our business; and certain vehicles and equipment to facilitate our operations, including, but not
limited to, trucks, forklifts and office equipment. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet as we recognize
lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Most lease agreements include one or more renewal options, all of which are at our sole discretion. Generally, future renewal options that have not been
executed as of the balance sheet date are excluded from right-of-use
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assets and related lease liabilities. Certain leases also include options to purchase the leased property. The depreciable life of assets and leasehold
improvements are limited by the expected lease term, unless there is a transfer of title or purchase option reasonably certain of exercise. Some of our
vehicle lease agreements include provisions for residual value guarantees and any expected payment is included in our lease liability.
Lease Position as of December 31, 2019
The table below presents the lease-related assets and liabilities recorded on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet:
(in thousands)

Classification

Assets
Non-Current
Operating
Finance
Total lease assets

As of December 31, 2019

Operating lease right-of-use assets
Property and equipment, net

$
$

Liabilities
Current
Operating
Financing
Non-Current
Operating
Financing
Total lease liabilities

Current maturities of operating lease obligations
Current maturities of finance lease obligations

$

Operating lease obligations
Finance lease obligations
$

Weighted-average remaining lease term
Operating leases
Finance leases
Weighted-average discount rate (1)
Operating leases
Finance leases
(1)

45,691
7,148
52,839

15,459
2,747
29,785
3,597
51,588

4.6 years
2.7 years
4.67%
4.85%

Upon adoption of the new lease standard, discount rates used for existing leases were established at January 1, 2019.

Lease Costs
The table below presents certain information related to the lease costs for finance and operating leases during 2019:
(in thousands)

Classification

Operating lease cost (1)
Finance lease cost
Amortization of leased assets (2)
Interest on finance lease obligations
Total lease costs
(1)
(2)

Administrative

As of December 31, 2019

$

21,024

$

4,942
341
26,307

Cost of sales
Interest expense, net

Includes variable lease costs of $2.5 million and short-term lease costs of $0.9 million.
Includes variable lease costs of $0.9 million.
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Other Information
The table below presents supplemental cash flow information related to leases during 2019 (in thousands):
As of December 31, 2019

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows for operating leases
Operating cash flows for finance leases
Financing cash flows for finance leases

$

17,521
341
4,157

Undiscounted Cash Flows
The table below reconciles the undiscounted cash flows for each of the first five years and total of the remaining years for the finance lease obligations
and operating lease obligations recorded on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2019 (in thousands):
Finance Leases
Related Party

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments
Less: Amounts representing executory costs
Less: Amounts representing interest
Present value of future minimum lease payments
Less: Current obligation under leases
Long-term lease obligations

$

$

3,081
1,973
1,037
673
259
—
7,023
(167)
(512)
6,344
(2,747)
3,597

$

$

1,091
946
869
415
425
398
4,144

Operating Leases
Other

$

$

15,956
11,301
6,569
3,792
2,218
6,427
46,263

Total Operating

$

$

17,047
12,247
7,438
4,207
2,643
6,825
50,407
—
(5,163)
45,244
(15,459)
29,785

Disclosures Related to Periods Prior to Adoption of ASC 842 under ASU 2016-02
Lease amounts presented as of December 31, 2018 are in accordance with accounting guidance in effect prior to adoption of ASC 842, “Leases,” on
January 1, 2019. Total assets relating to capital leases were approximately $58.7 million and a total of approximately $32.0 million were fully
depreciated as of December 31, 2018. The net book value of assets under capital leases was approximately $9.5 million as of December 31, 2018.
Amortization of assets held under capital leases is included within cost of sales on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive
Income.
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Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases (with initial or remaining lease terms in excess of one year) and future minimum
capital lease payments as of December 31, 2018 were as follows (in thousands):
Capital Leases
Related Party

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

$

Less: Amounts representing executory costs
Less: Amounts representing interest
Total obligation under capital leases
Less: Current portion of capital leases
Long-term capital lease obligation

$

5,207
2,253
1,339
452
93
—
9,344
(255)
(459)
8,630
(4,806)
3,824

$

$

1,159
1,184
1,058
972
51
—
4,424

Operating Leases
Other

$14,418
11,293
7,014
4,335
2,613
4,695
$44,368

Total Operating

$

$

15,577
12,477
8,072
5,307
2,664
4,695
48,792

NOTE 9 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair Values
Fair value is the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for
the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date.
ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurement,” establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize
the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has the ability to access as of the
measurement date.
Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in
markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a reporting entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would
use in pricing an asset or liability.
Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
In many cases, a valuation technique used to measure fair value includes inputs from multiple levels of the fair value hierarchy. The lowest level of
significant input determines the placement of the entire fair value measurement in the hierarchy. During the periods presented, there were no transfers
between fair value hierarchical levels.
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Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
Certain assets, specifically other intangible and long-lived assets, are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis in periods subsequent to initial
recognition. Assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are categorized based on the lowest level of
significant input to the valuation. The assets are measured at fair value when our impairment assessment indicates a carrying value for each of the assets
in excess of the asset’s estimated fair value. Undiscounted cash flows, a Level 3 input, are utilized in determining estimated fair values. During each of
the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we did not record any impairments on these assets required to be measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis.
Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 approximate fair value due to the short-term maturities
of these financial instruments. The carrying amounts of certain long-term debt, including the Term Loan and ABL Revolver as of December 31, 2019
and 2018, approximate fair value due to the variable rate nature of the agreements. The carrying amounts of our operating lease right-of-use assets and
the obligations associated with our operating and finance leases as well as our vehicle and equipment notes approximate fair value as of December 31,
2019 and 2018. All debt classifications represent Level 2 fair value measurements.
Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value based on observable market information and appropriate valuation methods. Contingent
consideration liabilities arise from future earnout payments to the sellers associated with certain acquisitions and are based on predetermined
calculations of certain future results. These future payments are estimated by considering various factors, including business risk and projections. The
contingent consideration liabilities are measured at fair value by discounting estimated future payments to their net present value using the appropriate
weighted average cost of capital (WACC). The fair values of financial assets and liabilities that are recorded at fair value in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets and not described above were as follows (in thousands):
Total

As of December 31, 2019
Level 1
Level 2

Financial assets:
Cash equivalents
Derivative financial instruments
Total financial assets

$ 99,242
—
$ 99,242

$ 99,242
—
$ 99,242

$

Financial liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments
Contingent consideration
Total financial liabilities

$ 9,446
3,854
$ 13,300

$

$ 9,446
—
$ 9,446

—
—
—

$

$

—
—
—

Level 3

$
$

$

—
—
—

—
3,854
$ 3,854

Total

As of December 31, 2018
Level 1
Level 2

Level 3

$69,807
1,765
$71,572

$69,807
—
$69,807

$ —
1,765
$1,765

$ —
—
$ —

$ 2,275
5,098
$ 7,373

$

$2,275
—
$2,275

$ —
5,098
$5,098

$

—
—
—

See Note 4, Investments, for more information on cash equivalents included in the table above. Also see Note 10, Derivatives and Hedging Activities,
for more information on derivative financial instruments.
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The change in fair value of the contingent consideration (a Level 3 input) was as follows (in thousands):
Contingent consideration liability—January 1, 2019
Preliminary purchase price
Fair value adjustments
Accretion in value
Amounts cancelled
Amounts paid to sellers
Contingent consideration liability—December 31, 2019

$ 5,098
2,275
(410)
564
(371)
(3,302)
$ 3,854

The accretion in value of contingent consideration liabilities is included within administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations
and Comprehensive Income.
The carrying values and associated fair values of financial assets and liabilities that are not recorded at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and
not described above include our Senior Notes and investments. To estimate fair values of these items, we utilized third-party quotes which are derived
all or in part from model prices, external sources or market prices. Both represent a Level 2 fair value measurement and are as follows (in thousands):

Investments
Senior Notes (1)
(1)

As of December 31, 2019
Carrying Value
Fair Value

As of December 31, 2018
Carrying Value
Fair Value

$

$

37,961
300,000

$ 37,958
321,114

10,060
—

$ 10,053
—

Excludes the impact of unamortized debt issuance costs.

See Note 4, Investments, for more information on investments included in the table above. Also see Note 7, Debt, for more information on our Senior
Notes.
NOTE 10 – DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES
Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives
We are exposed to certain risks arising from both our business operations and economic conditions. We manage exposure to a wide variety of business
and operational risks through our core business activities. We manage economic risks, including interest rate, liquidity and credit risk primarily by
overseeing the amount, sources and duration of debt funding and the use of derivative financial instruments. Specifically, we have entered into
derivative financial instruments to manage exposure to interest rate movements that result in the receipt or payment of future known and uncertain cash
amounts, the value of which are determined by interest rates. Our derivative financial instruments are used to manage differences in the amount, timing
and duration of our known or expected cash receipts and known or expected cash payments principally related to our investments and borrowings.
Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate Risk
Our purpose for using interest rate derivatives is to add stability to interest expense and to manage our exposure to interest rate movements. During the
year ended December 31, 2019, such derivatives were used to hedge the variable cash flows associated with existing variable-rate debt. To accomplish
these objectives, we primarily use interest rate swaps as part of our interest rate risk management strategy. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow
hedges involve the receipt of variable amounts from a counterparty in exchange for making fixed-rate payments
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over the life of the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount. As of December 31, 2019, we had two interest rate swaps, each
with an associated floor, with a total beginning notional of $200.0 million, one that amortizes quarterly to $95.3 million at a maturity date of May 31,
2022 and one that amortizes quarterly to $93.3 million at a maturity date of April 15, 2025. We also had a forward interest rate swap with an associated
floor beginning May 31, 2022 with a beginning notional of $100.0 million that amortizes quarterly to $97.0 million at a maturity date of April 15, 2025.
These three swaps serve to hedge substantially all of the variable cash flows on our Term Loan until maturity. The assets and liabilities associated with
these derivative instruments are included in other current assets, other non-current assets, other current liabilities, and other long-term liabilities on the
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at their fair value amounts as described in Note 9, Fair Value Measurements.
The changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges are recorded in other comprehensive income, net of tax on
the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income and in accumulated other comprehensive income on the Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets and subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period that the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. We had no
such changes during the years ended December 31, 2019 or 2018.
Amounts reported in accumulated other comprehensive income related to derivatives will be reclassified to interest expense, net as interest payments are
made on our variable-rate debt. Over the next twelve months, we estimate that an additional $1.6 million will be reclassified as an increase to interest
expense, net.
Additionally, we do not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes and we currently do not have any derivatives that are not designated as
hedges. As of December 31, 2019, we have not posted any collateral related to these agreements.
NOTE 11 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had losses of $7.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively, in accumulated other comprehensive income on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets, which represents the effective portion of the unrealized loss on our derivative instruments. For additional information, see
Note 10, Derivatives and Hedging Activities.
On February 26, 2018, our board of directors authorized a $50 million stock repurchase program effective March 2, 2018 and on October 31, 2018, our
board of directors approved an additional stock repurchase program, effective November 6, 2018, pursuant to which we may purchase up to an
additional $100 million of our outstanding common stock. In February 2020, our board of directors approved extending the current stock repurchase
program to March 1, 2021. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we repurchased 2.1 million shares of our outstanding common stock for
$89.4 million, leaving $60.6 million available for future purchases under our stock repurchase program. We did not repurchase any shares during the
twelve months ended December 31, 2019.
The effect of these treasury shares reducing the number of common shares outstanding is reflected in our earnings per share calculation.
NOTE 12 – EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Healthcare
We participate in multiple healthcare plans, of which our primary plan is partially self-funded with an insurance company paying benefits in excess of
stop loss limits per individual. Our healthcare benefit expense (net of employee contributions) was approximately $21.9 million, $17.8 million and
$17.4 million for the years ended
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December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, for all plans. An accrual for estimated healthcare claims incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) is
included within accrued compensation on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and was $2.6 million and $2.3 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.
Workers’ Compensation
We participate in multiple workers’ compensation plans. Under these plans, for a significant portion of our business, we use a high deductible program
to cover losses above the deductible amount on a per claim basis. We accrue for the estimated losses occurring from both asserted and unasserted claims.
Workers’ compensation liability for premiums is included in other current liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Insurance claims and reserves
include accruals of estimated settlements for known claims, as well as accruals of actuarial estimates of IBNR claims. In estimating these reserves,
historical loss experience and judgments about the expected levels of costs per claim are considered. These claims are accounted for based on actuarial
estimates of the undiscounted claims, including IBNR. We believe the use of actuarial methods to account for these liabilities provides a consistent and
effective way to measure these highly judgmental accruals.
Workers’ compensation expense totaled $15.4 million, $12.8 million and $13.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, and is included in cost of sales on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. Workers’ compensation known
claims and IBNR reserves included on the Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2019
2018

Included in other current liabilities
Included in other long-term liabilities

$ 6,777
10,874
$ 17,651

$ 5,795
9,447
$ 15,242

We also had an insurance receivable for claims that exceeded the stop loss limit for fully insured policies included on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
This receivable offsets an equal liability included within the reserve amounts noted above and was as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2019
2018

Included in other non-current assets

$ 2,098

$ 1,888

Retirement Plans
We participate in multiple 401(k) plans, whereby we provide a matching contribution of wages deferred by employees and can also make discretionary
contributions to each plan. Certain plans allow for discretionary employer contributions only. These plans cover substantially all our eligible employees.
During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we recognized 401(k) plan expenses of $2.0 million, $1.7 million and $1.6 million,
respectively, which is included in administrative expenses on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
Share-Based Compensation
Common Stock Awards
During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we granted approximately eight thousand, five thousand and six thousand shares of
restricted stock, respectively, at a price of $52.13, $60.65 and $50.50 per
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share, respectively, which represents market price on the grant dates to non-employee members of our board of directors. The stock issued in 2019 and
2018 vest over a one year service term whereas the stock issued in 2017 vested on the grant date since there was no service period associated with those
awards. Accordingly, we recorded $0.4 million, $0.2 million and $0.3 million in compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017, respectively, related to these grants within administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income
at the time of grant. The weighted-average grant date fair value is the same as the issue price for all shares granted in 2019, 2018 and 2017.
In addition, in each of the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we granted approximately 0.1 million shares of our common stock under our
2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan to our employees. The shares granted during each year ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 vest in three equal
installments (rounded to the nearest whole share) annually on April 20th through 2022.
We recorded share-based compensation expense associated with these non-performance-based awards issued to employees of $4.3 million, $4.0 million
and $2.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, within administrative expense on the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Income. As of December 31, 2019, there was $4.8 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to these
nonvested common stock awards issued to non-employee members of our board of directors and our employees. This expense is subject to future
adjustments for forfeitures and is expected to be recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining weighted-average period of 1.8 years. Shares
forfeited are returned as treasury shares and available for future issuances. See the table below for changes in shares and related weighted average fair
market value per share.
Employees – Performance-Based Stock Awards
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we issued under our 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan approximately 83 thousand shares of our common stock
to certain officers, which vest in two equal installments on each of April 20, 2020 and April 20, 2021. These shares were issued in connection with the
performance-based targets established in 2018. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2019, we established, and our board of directors
approved, performance-based targets in connection with common stock awards to be issued to certain officers in 2020 contingent upon achievement of
these targets. Share-based compensation expense associated with these performance-based awards was $3.0 million, $2.0 million and $1.0 million for
the years ended December 31 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
As of December 31, 2019, there was $3.5 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested performance-based common stock
awards. This expense is subject to future adjustments for forfeitures and is expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted-average period of 1.6
years using the graded-vesting method. See the table below for changes in shares and related weighted average fair market value per share.
Employees – Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units
During the year ended December 31, 2018, we established, and our board of directors approved, performance-based stock units in connection with
common stock awards which we issued to certain employees during the year ended December 31, 2019. In addition, during the year ended
December 31, 2019, we established, and our board of directors approved, performance-based stock units in connection with common stock awards to be
issued to certain employees in 2020 contingent upon achievement of a performance target, which was met in 2019, as well as a one-year service period.
These units will be accounted for as equity-based awards that will be settled with a fixed number of common shares. Share-based compensation expense
associated with these performance-based units was $0.7 million, $1.6 million and $2.6 million for the years ended December 31 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.
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As of December 31, 2019, there was $0.2 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested performance-based stock units. This
expense is subject to future adjustments for forfeitures and is expected to be recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining weighted-average
period of 0.3 years. See the table below for changes in shares and related weighted average fair market value per share.
Share-Based Compensation Summary
During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, our employees surrendered approximately 45 thousand, 41 thousand and 11 thousand,
respectively, of our common stock to satisfy tax withholding obligations arising in connection with the vesting of common stock awards issued under
our 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan. We recognized excess tax benefits of approximately $0.3 million, $0.5 million and $0.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, within the income tax provision on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive
Income.
Amounts for each category of equity-based award for employees as of December 31, 2019 and changes during the year ended December 31, 2019 were
as follows:
Common Stock
Awards
Weighted
Average
Grant
Date
Fair
Value
Awards
Per Share

Nonvested awards/units at December 31, 2018
Granted
Vested
Forfeited/Cancelled
Nonvested awards/units at December 31, 2019

173,189
88,529
(106,660)
(2,176)
152,882

$ 47.40
50.94
42.30
52.13
$ 52.93

Performance-Based
Stock Awards
Weighted
Average
Grant
Date
Fair
Value
Awards
Per Share

115,698
82,692
(31,404)
(6,697)
160,289

$ 52.25
45.65
41.00
65.60
$ 50.49

Performance-Based
Restricted Stock Units
Weighted
Average
Grant
Date
Fair
Value
Units
Per Share

13,248
13,933
(12,808)
(1,187)
13,186

$ 56.05
51.62
56.05
53.26
$ 51.62

During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we recorded the following stock compensation expense, by income statement category (in
thousands):
Cost of sales
Selling
Administrative

2019

2018

2017

$ 374
194
8,159
$8,727

$ 846
451
6,549
$7,846

$ 965
571
5,055
$6,591

Administrative stock compensation expense includes all stock compensation earned by our administrative personnel, while cost of sales and selling
stock compensation represents all stock compensation earned by our installation and sales employees, respectively.
As of December 31, 2019, approximately 2.2 million of the 3.0 million shares of common stock authorized for issuance were available for issuance
under the 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan.
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NOTE 13 – INCOME TAXES
The provision for income taxes is comprised of (in thousands):

Current:
Federal
State
Deferred:
Federal
State
Total tax expense

2019

Years ended December 31,
2018

2017

$ 14,850
4,127
18,977

$13,486
3,641
17,127

$17,557
3,302
20,859

4,585
884
5,469
$ 24,446

221
90
311
$17,438

(5,895)
(284)
(6,179)
$14,680

The reconciliation between our effective tax rate on net income and the federal statutory rate is as follows (dollars in thousands):
Years ended December 31,
2018

2019

Income tax at federal statutory rate
Stock compensation
Qualified Production Activity Deduction
Other permanent items
Change in valuation allowance
Change in uncertain tax positions
State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Rate impact of the Tax Act
Total tax expense

$ 19,447
(255)
—
737
276
67
4,174
—
$ 24,446
79

21.0%
(0.3%)
0.0%
0.8%
0.3%
0.1%
4.5%
0.0%
26.4%

$15,159
(436)
—
(667)
312
969
2,911
(810)
$17,438

21.0%
(0.6%)
0.0%
(0.8%)
0.4%
1.3%
4.0%
(1.1%)
24.2%

2017

$19,537
(581)
(1,715)
197
285
(1,807)
2,150
(3,386)
$14,680

35.0%
(1.0%)
(3.1%)
0.4%
0.5%
(3.2%)
3.8%
(6.1%)
26.3%

Table of Contents

INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Components of the net deferred tax asset or liability are as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2019
2018

Deferred Tax Assets
Long-term
Accrued reserves and allowances
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Inventories
Property and equipment
Intangibles
Net operating loss carryforwards
Other
Long-term deferred tax assets
Less: Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Long-term
Accrued reserves and allowances
Property and equipment
Intangibles
Investment in partnership
Other
Long-term deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liabilities

$ 5,140
514
437
303
5,615
1,240
5
13,254
(1,512)
11,742

$ 4,245
500
335
—
4,937
1,446
4
11,467
(1,255)
10,212

(252)
(4,176)
(4,307)
(11,857)
(325)
(20,917)
$ (9,175)

(365)
(2,091)
(3,850)
(10,266)
(242)
(16,814)
$ (6,602)

As of December 31, 2019, we have recorded a deferred tax asset of $1.2 million reflecting the benefit of $5.4 million in federal and state income tax net
operating loss (NOL) carryforwards, the earliest of which expires in 2030.
Valuation Allowance
We assess the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated to utilize the existing deferred tax
assets on a jurisdiction and by tax filing entity basis. A significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated is cumulative losses incurred over the
most recent three-year period. Such objective evidence limits our ability to consider other subjective positive evidence such as our projections for future
growth.
Based on this evaluation, a valuation allowance has been recorded as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 for the net deferred tax assets recorded on certain
of our wholly owned subsidiaries. Such deferred tax assets relate primarily to net operating losses that are not more likely than not realizable. However,
the amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable could be adjusted if our estimate of future taxable income during the carryforward period
changes, or if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present. Additional weight may be given to subjective evidence
such as our projections for growth in this situation.
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Uncertain Tax Positions
We are subject to taxation in the United States and various state jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2019, our tax years for 2016 through 2018 are subject
to examination by the tax authorities. A rollforward of the gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):
Unrecognized tax benefit, January 1, 2017
Increase as a result of tax positions taken during the period
Decrease as a result of tax positions taken during the period
Decrease as a result of expiring statutes
Unrecognized tax benefit, December 31, 2017

$ 4,097
4,353
(2,311)
(1,689)
$ 4,450

Increase as a result of tax positions taken during the period
Decrease as a result of tax positions taken during the period
Decrease as a result of expiring statutes
Unrecognized tax benefit, December 31, 2018

3,846
(2,850)
(97)
$ 5,349

Increase as a result of tax positions taken during the period
Decrease as a result of tax positions taken during the period
Decrease as a result of expiring statutes
Unrecognized tax benefit, December 31, 2019

2,866
(2,482)
(16)
$ 5,717

Unrecognized tax benefits of $2.8 million at December 31, 2019 would affect the effective tax rate. Interest expense and penalties accrued related to
uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2019 are $0.4 million.
We expect a decrease to the amount of unrecognized tax benefits (exclusive of penalties and interest) within the next twelve months of zero to
$2.0 million.
Determining uncertain tax positions and the related estimated amounts requires judgment and carry estimation risk. If future tax law changes or
interpretations should come to light, or additional information should become known, our conclusions regarding unrecognized tax benefits may change.
NOTE 14 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
We sell installation services to other companies related to us through common or affiliated ownership and/or board of directors and/or management
relationships. We also purchase services and materials and pay rent to companies with common or related ownership. For additional information, see
Note 15, Commitments and Contingencies.
For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the amount of sales to common or related parties as well as the purchases from and rent
expense paid to common or related parties were as follows (in thousands):

Sales
Purchases
Rent
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2019

Years ended December 31,
2018

2017

$13,488
1,810
1,040

$12,636
1,587
1,099

$10,250
1,294
1,154
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At December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had related party balances of approximately $1.7 million and $2.3 million, respectively, included in accounts
receivable on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. These balances primarily represent trade accounts receivable arising during the normal course of
business with various related parties. M/I
Homes, Inc., a customer whose Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer is a member of our board of directors, accounted for $1.3 million and
$1.2 million of these balances as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
On November 5, 2018, as part of our stock repurchase program, we entered into a share repurchase agreement with PJAM IBP Holdings, Inc. (“PJAM”)
for the purchase of 150 thousand shares of our common stock for a purchase price of approximately $5.1 million, or $34.11 per share, which represented
a 3.0% discount to the last reported price of our common stock on November 2, 2018. Jeff Edwards, our Chief Executive Officer, is the President of
PJAM and, in such role, has sole voting and dispositive power over the shares held by PJAM and is deemed the beneficial owner of the shares of our
common stock held by PJAM.
NOTE 15 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Accrued General Liability and Auto Insurances
Accrued general liability and auto insurance reserves included on the Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2019
2018

Included in other current liabilities
Included in other long-term liabilities

$ 3,538
18,184
$21,722

$1,848
6,608
$8,456

We also had insurance receivables and indemnification assets included on the Consolidated Balance Sheets that, in aggregate, offset equal liabilities
included within the reserve amounts noted above. The amounts were as follows (in thousands):

Insurance receivables and indemnification assets for claims under fully insured policies
Insurance receivables for claims that exceeded the stop loss limit
Total insurance receivables and indemnificatoin assets included in other non-current assets

As of December 31,
2019
2018

$ 7,491
2,321
$ 9,812

$2,484
53
$2,537

Leases
See Note 8, Leases, for further information on our lease commitments.
Other Commitments and Contingencies
From time to time, various claims and litigation are asserted or commenced against us principally arising from contractual matters and personnel and
employment disputes. In determining loss contingencies, management considers the likelihood of loss as well as the ability to reasonably estimate the
amount of such loss or liability. An estimated loss is recorded when it is considered probable that such a liability has been incurred and when the amount
of loss can be reasonably estimated. As litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, we cannot be certain
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that we will prevail in these matters. However, we do not believe that the ultimate outcome of any pending matters will have a material adverse effect on
our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, we entered into an agreement with one of our suppliers to purchase a portion of the insulation materials we
utilize across our business. This agreement is effective January 1, 2019 through December 31, 2021 with a purchase obligation of $21.1 million for 2020
and $14.0 million for 2021. During the fourth quarter of 2019, our commitment for the year ended December 31, 2019 was reduced to $11.8 million,
which is equal to the total amount we purchased during the year.
NOTE 16 – BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
As part of our ongoing strategy to expand geographically and increase market share in certain markets, we completed six, ten and ten business
combinations during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, as well as several insignificant tuck-in acquisitions merged into
existing operations in 2019, 2018 and 2017, in which we acquired 100% of the voting equity interests in each acquired entity. Acquisition-related costs
amounted to $2.1 million, $2.7 million and $3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and are included in
Administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. The goodwill to be recognized in conjunction with
these business combinations represents the excess cost of the acquired entity over the net amount assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed. We
expect to deduct $21.2 million of goodwill for tax purposes as a result of 2019 acquisitions.
Below is a summary of each significant acquisition by year, including revenue and net income (loss) since date of acquisition, shown for the year of
acquisition. The largest of our 2019 acquisitions were 1st State Insulation, LLC (“1st State Insulation”), Expert Insulation, Inc. and Expert Insulation of
Brainerd, Inc. (collectively, “Expert Insulation”) and Premier Building Supply, LLC (“Premier”). In each table, “Other” represents acquisitions that were
individually immaterial in that year. Net income (loss), as noted below, includes amortization, taxes and interest allocations when appropriate.
For the year ended December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

2019 Acquisitions

1st State Insulation
Expert Insulation
Premier
Other
Total

Date

Acquisition
Type

3/18/2019
6/24/2019
11/18/2019
Various

Asset
Asset
Share
Asset

Cash Paid

$ 5,125
16,165
25,000
5,750
$52,040

Total
Purchase
Price

Revenue

1,355
1,993
2,765
1,430
7,543

$ 6,480
18,158
27,765
7,180
$59,583

$ 9,828
6,484
2,161
3,339
$ 21,812

Seller
Obligations

Total
Purchase
Price

Revenue

$11,413
21,217
32,650
$65,280

$11,466
3,530
24,329
$39,325

Seller
Obligations

$

$

Net Income
(Loss)

$

$

476
155
(62)
23
592

For the year ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands):

Name

CDG
AFT
Other
Total

Date

Acquisition
Type

3/19/2018
10/31/2018
Various

Asset
Asset
Shares/Asset
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Cash Paid

$ 9,440
19,707
28,593
$57,740

$

$

1,973
1,510
4,057
7,540

Net Income
(Loss)

$

$

531
(13)
639
1,157
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For the year ended December 31, 2017 (in thousands):

Name

Alpha (1)
Columbia
Astro
Other
Total
(1)

Date

1/5/2017
6/26/2017
9/18/2017
Various

Acquisition
Type

Share
Asset
Asset
Asset

Cash Paid

$103,810
8,768
9,144
15,645
$137,367

Seller
Obligations

$

$

2,002
225
482
2,419
5,128

Fair Value of
Common
Stock Issued

Total
Purchase
Price

Revenue

Net (Loss)
Income

$ 10,859
—
—
—
$ 10,859

$ 116,671
8,993
9,626
18,064
$153,354

$ 116,070
6,046
1,829
20,457
$144,402

$ (1,148)
86
11
573
$ (478)

The cash paid included $21.7 million in contingent consideration to satisfy purchase price adjustments related to cash and net working capital
requirements, earnout consideration based on Alpha’s change in EBITDA from 2015 and a customary holdback. These payments were based on
fair value of each contingent payment at the time of acquisition and subsequently adjusted during the measurement period. We issued 282,577
shares of our common stock with a fair value of $10.9 million.

Purchase Price Allocations
The estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the acquisitions, as well as total purchase prices and cash paid, approximated
the following (in thousands):
1st State

Estimated fair values:
Cash
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other current assets
Property and equipment
Intangibles
Goodwill
Other non-current assets
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Fair value of assets acquired and purchase price
Less seller obligations
Cash paid

$ —
—
291
—
989
3,382
1,857
—
(39)
6,480
1,355
$5,125
84

Expert

$

—
1,796
723
—
235
6,740
8,545
161
(42)
18,158
1,993
$16,165

2019
Premier

$

334
2,930
1,242
—
876
14,300
10,238
329
(2,484)
27,765
2,765
$ 25,000

Other

$ —
479
410
3
887
3,619
1,765
41
(24)
7,180
1,430
$5,750

Total

$

334
5,205
2,666
3
2,987
28,041
22,405
531
(2,589)
59,583
7,543
$52,040
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2018
CDG

Estimated fair values:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other current assets
Property and equipment
Intangibles
Goodwill
Other non-current assets
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Fair value of assets acquired and purchase price
Less fair value of common stock issued
Less seller obligations
Cash paid

$ 1,731
514
28
933
3,711
4,898
36
(438)
11,413
—
1,973
$ 9,440
Alpha

Estimated fair values:
Cash
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other current assets
Property and equipment
Intangibles
Goodwill
Other non-current assets
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Fair value of assets acquired
Less fair value of common stock issued
Less seller obligations
Cash paid

$

247
29,851
1,852
4,500
1,528
57,200
38,511
383
(17,401)
116,671
10,859
2,002
$103,810

AFT

Other

Total

—
565
—
2,882
13,470
4,415
13
(128)
21,217
—
1,510
$19,707

$ 4,104
1,136
918
2,169
18,904
7,766
82
(2,429)
32,650
—
4,057
$28,593

$ 5,835
2,215
946
5,984
36,085
17,079
131
(2,995)
65,280
—
7,540
$57,740

$

Columbia

$

—
989
704
8
659
4,760
2,209
36
(372)
8,993
—
225
$ 8,768

2017
Astro

$ —
924
296
36
640
5,168
2,932
—
(370)
9,626
—
482
$9,144

Other

$

—
3,157
1,544
96
1,820
9,688
4,190
219
(2,650)
18,064
—
2,419
$15,645

Total

$

247
34,921
4,396
4,640
4,647
76,816
47,842
638
(20,793)
153,354
10,859
5,128
$137,367

Contingent consideration is included as “seller obligations” in the above table or within “fair value of assets acquired” if subsequently paid during the
period presented. These contingent payments consist primarily of earnouts based on performance that are recorded at fair value at the time of
acquisition, and/or non-compete agreements and amounts based on working capital calculations. When these payments are expected to be made over
one year from the acquisition date, the contingent consideration is discounted to net present value using our weighted average cost of capital (WACC).
Further adjustments to the allocation for each acquisition still under its measurement period are expected as third-party or internal valuations are
finalized, certain tax aspects of the transaction are completed, contingent consideration is settled, and customary post-closing reviews are concluded
during the measurement period attributable to each individual business combination. As a result, insignificant adjustments to the fair value of assets
acquired, and in some cases total purchase price, have been made to certain business combinations since the date of acquisition and future adjustments
may be made through the end of each measurement period. Goodwill and intangibles per the above table
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do not agree to the total gross increases of these assets as shown in Note 6, Goodwill and Intangibles, during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017 due to minor adjustments to goodwill for the allocation of certain acquisitions still under measurement, an immaterial goodwill reclassification
in the year ended December 31, 2017 related to the prior period, as well as other immaterial intangible assets added during the ordinary course of
business. In addition, goodwill and intangibles increased during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 due to various small acquisitions
merged into existing operations that do not appear in the above tables.
Estimates of acquired intangible assets related to the acquisitions are as follows (dollars in thousands):
2019

Acquired intangibles assets

Customer relationships
Trademarks and trade names
Non-competition agreements
Backlog

2018

Estimated
Fair Value

Weighted
Average
Estimated
Useful
Life (yrs)

$ 20,659
5,286
2,096
—

8
15
5
—

2017

Estimated
Fair Value

Weighted
Average
Estimated
Useful
Life (yrs)

Estimated
Fair Value

Weighted
Average
Estimated
Useful
Life (yrs)

$ 27,149
6,075
2,401
460

8
15
5
2

$ 39,922
20,667
2,628
13,600

8
15
5
1.5

Pro Forma Information (unaudited)
The unaudited pro forma information has been prepared as if the 2019 acquisitions had taken place on January 1, 2018, the 2018 acquisitions had taken
place on January 1, 2017 and the 2017 acquisitions had taken place on January 1, 2016. The unaudited pro forma information is not necessarily
indicative of the results that we would have achieved had the transactions actually taken place on January 1, 2018, 2017 and 2016 and the unaudited pro
forma information does not purport to be indicative of future financial operating results (in thousands, except for per share data).
Unaudited Pro Forma for the years ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017

Net revenue
Net income
Basic net income per share
Diluted net income per share

$ 1,549,797
70,389
2.37
2.36

$1,436,713
61,148
1.97
1.96

$ 1,246,017
48,016
1.52
1.51

Unaudited pro forma net income reflects additional intangible asset amortization expense of $2.1 million, $6.2 million and $5.9 million for the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, as well as additional income tax expense of $0.8 million, $2.0 million and $2.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
NOTE 17 – INCOME PER COMMON SHARE
Basic net income per common share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average shares outstanding during the period, without
consideration for common stock equivalents.
Diluted net income per common share is calculated by adjusting weighted average shares outstanding for the dilutive effect of common stock
equivalents outstanding for the period, determined using the treasury stock method. Potential common stock is included in the diluted income per
common share calculation when dilutive. The dilutive effect of outstanding restricted stock awards after application of the treasury stock method as of
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, was 120 thousand, 122 thousand and 117 thousand, respectively.
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NOTE 18 – QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
Summarized unaudited quarterly financial results for 2019 and 2018 is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):
2019

Net revenue
Gross profit
Net income
Basic net income per share
Diluted net income per share

March 31

$342,135
89,438
8,834
0.30
0.30

2018

Net revenue
Gross profit
Net income
Basic net income per share
Diluted net income per share

March 31

$301,728
79,976
6,394
0.20
0.20

Three months ended
June 30
September 30

$371,814
107,257
18,919
0.64
0.63

$ 396,449
118,087
21,212
0.71
0.71

Three months ended
June 30
September 30

$332,584
95,643
16,315
0.52
0.52

$ 348,999
97,334
15,563
0.50
0.50

December 31

Total Year

$ 401,231
120,038
19,194
0.64
0.64

$ 1,511,629
434,820
68,159
2.29
2.28

December 31

Total Year

$ 353,121
98,638
16,476
0.54
0.53

$1,336,432
371,591
54,748
1.76
1.75

The financial information included in the table above is computed independently each quarter. As a result, the sum of each quarter’s numbers may not
equal the total numbers for the respective year.
Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.
Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2019
with the participation of the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer as required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b). Based on
that evaluation, the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2019, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and includes, without limitation, controls
and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, or persons performing
similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under
the Exchange Act). Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.
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Management, under the supervision of the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer, assessed the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting, excluding the internal control over financial reporting at the subsidiaries listed below that we acquired during 2019 as of
December 31, 2019 using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control
– Integrated Framework (2013). The scope of management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2019 includes all of the Company’s subsidiaries except the subsidiaries listed below, which were acquired during 2019 and whose
financial statements constitute the percentages of total assets and net revenue listed below of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2019:

Subsidiary

Acquisition Date

1st State Insulation
Expert Insulation
Therm-Con/Foamtech
Northeast Spray Insulation
Premier Building Supply
Gulf Coast Insulation

March 18, 2019
June 24, 2019
August 19, 2019
September 23, 2019
November 18, 2019
December 9, 2019

Percentage
of Total
Assets

0.6%
1.7%
0.2%
0.2%
2.5%
0.3%

Percent
of Net
Revenue

0.7%
0.4%
0.2%
0.0%
0.1%
0.0%

Management excluded the internal control over financial reporting at these subsidiaries from its assessment in accordance with the guidance of the staff
of the SEC that an assessment of a recently acquired business may be omitted from the scope of management’s assessment of internal control over
financial reporting for one year following the acquisition. Based on this assessment, management has determined that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2019.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which follows below.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in management’s evaluation pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d)
of the Exchange Act during the quarter ended December 31, 2019 that has materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
Item 9B.

Other Information

None.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Installed Building Products, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Installed Building Products, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, of the Company and our report dated February 27, 2020, expressed an unqualified
opinion on those financial statements and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s adoption of Financial Accounting Standards
Board Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), using the modified retrospective approach.
As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management excluded from its assessment the internal control over
financial reporting at the subsidiaries listed below, which were acquired during 2019 and whose financial statements constitute the percentages of total
revenues and assets listed below of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Subsidiary

Acquisition Date

1st State Insulation
Expert Insulation
Therm-Con/Foamtech
Northeast Spray Insulation
Premier Building Supply
Gulf Coast Insulation

March 18, 2019
June 24, 2019
August 19, 2019
September 23, 2019
November 18, 2019
December 9, 2019

Percentage
of Total
Assets

0.6%
1.7%
0.2%
0.2%
2.5%
0.3%

Percent
of Net
Revenue

0.7%
0.4%
0.2%
0.0%
0.1%
0.0%

Accordingly, our audit did not include the internal control over financial reporting of the subsidiaries listed above.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the
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design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Columbus, Ohio
February 27, 2020
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PART III
Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item will be set forth under the headings “Election of Directors,” “Executive Officers and Certain Significant
Employees,” “Corporate Governance” and “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” in our definitive proxy statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (“2020 Proxy Statement”) to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 and is incorporated herein
by reference.
Our board of directors has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers and directors, including our Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other executive and senior financial officers. The full text of our code of business conduct and ethics is
posted on the investor relations page on our website which is located at http://investors.installedbuildingproducts.com. We will post any amendments to
our code of business conduct and ethics, or waivers of its requirements, on our website.
Item 11.

Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be set forth under the headings “Executive Compensation,” “Pay Ratio Disclosure” and “Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in our 2020 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related stockholder matters, as well as equity compensation
plan information, will be presented in our Proxy Statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed on or before April 17, 2020, and
such information is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be set forth under the headings “Certain Relationships and Related-Party Transactions” and “Corporate
Governance” in our 2020 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 14.

Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be set forth under the heading “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees and Pre-Approval
Policies and Procedures” in our 2020 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15.

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this Form 10-K:
1.

Financial Statements: The Consolidated Financial Statements, the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and the Report
of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for Installed Building Products, Inc. are presented in Item 8, Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data, of Part II of this Form 10-K.

2.

Financial Schedules: All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are inapplicable, not required, or
shown in the consolidated financial statements and notes in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of Part II of
this Form 10-K.

(b) Exhibits.
Exhibit
Number

Description

2.1†

Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2016, among EMPER Holdings, LLC; PREEM Holdings I, LLC; PREEM Holdings
II, LLC; Vikas Verma; Henry Schmueckle; Vikas Verma in his capacity as the equityholders’ representative; and Installed Building
Products, Inc., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2016.

3.1

Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Installed Building Products, Inc., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 25, 2014.

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Installed Building Products, Inc., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on February 28, 2018.

4.1

Form of Common Stock Certificate of Installed Building Products, Inc., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed on January 27, 2014.

4.2

Indenture, dated September 26, 2019, among Installed Building Products, Inc., the guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee (including the Form of Note), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on September 27, 2019.

4.3*

Description of Installed Building Product, Inc.’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act.

10.1#

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and officers, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed on January 27, 2014.

10.2#

Employment Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2013, by and between Installed Building Products, Inc. and Jeffrey W. Edwards,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on January 9, 2014.

10.3#

Amendment No. 1, dated as of November 1, 2016, to Employment Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2013, by and between Installed
Building Products, Inc. and Jeffrey W. Edwards, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2017.

10.4#*

Amendment No. 2, dated as of November 1, 2019, to Employment Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2013, by and between Installed
Building Products, Inc. and Jeffrey W. Edwards.

10.5#

Installed Building Products, Inc. 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed on January 27, 2014.
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10.6#

Amendment, dated as of February 24, 2017, to the Installed Building Products, Inc. 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2017.

10.7

Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated April 13, 2017, by and among Installed Building Products, Inc., the lenders party thereto from time
to time, Royal Bank of Canada, as term administrative agent, and RBC Capital Markets, UBS Securities LLC and Jefferies Finance LLC
as joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on April 17, 2017.

10.8

Credit Agreement, dated April 13, 2017, by and among Installed Building Products, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors from time to time
party thereto, the financial institutions from time to time party thereto, and SunTrust Bank, as issuing bank, swing bank and
administrative agent, with SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc. as left lead arranger and bookrunner, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 17, 2017.

10.9

ABL/Term Loan Intercreditor Agreement, dated April 13, 2017, by and among Installed Building Products, Inc., SunTrust Bank, as ABL
agent, Royal Bank of Canada, as term loan agent, and each of the agents and certain of the Company’s subsidiaries from time to time
party thereto, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 17, 2017.

10.10

Term Collateral Agreement, dated April 13, 2017, among Installed Building Products, Inc., certain of its subsidiaries and Royal Bank of
Canada, as term collateral agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
April 17, 2017.

10.11

Security Agreement, dated April 13, 2017, among Installed Building Products, Inc., certain of its subsidiaries and SunTrust Bank, as
administrative agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 17, 2017.

10.12

Term Guarantee Agreement, dated April 13, 2017, among certain of Installed Building Products, Inc.’s subsidiaries and Royal Bank of
Canada, as term collateral agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
April 17, 2017.

10.13

Amendment No. 1, dated October 26, 2017, to Term Loan Credit Agreement by and among Installed Building Products, Inc., the other
loan parties party thereto, the participating lenders and fronting bank party thereto, Royal Bank of Canada, as administrative agent, and
RBC Capital Markets, as lead arranger and bookrunner, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2018.

10.14

First Amendment, dated November 30, 2017, to Term Loan Credit Agreement, by and among Installed Building Products, Inc., the other
loan parties party thereto, the participating lenders and fronting bank party thereto, Royal Bank of Canada, as administrative agent, and
RBC Capital Markets, as lead arranger and bookrunner, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on December 1, 2017.

10.15

First Amendment, dated October 26, 2017, to the Credit Agreement among Installed Building Products, Inc., certain of its subsidiaries
and SunTrust Bank, as administrative agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on February 28, 2018.

10.16

Second Amendment, dated December 26, 2017, to the Credit Agreement among Installed Building Products, Inc., certain of its
subsidiaries and SunTrust Bank, as administrative agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2018.

10.17

Second Amendment to Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of June 19, 2018, by and among Installed Building Products, Inc., the
other loan parties party thereto, the participating lenders and fronting bank party thereto, Royal Bank of Canada, as administrative agent,
and RBC Capital Markets, as joint lead arranger and joint bookrunner, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 19, 2018.
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10.18

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of June 19, 2018, by and among Installed Building Products, Inc., the lenders party
thereto, and SunTrust Bank, as administrative agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on June 19, 2018.

10.19

Restatement Agreement, dated as of December 17, 2019, among Installed Building Products, Inc., as Borrower, the Lenders party thereto
and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on December 18, 2019.

10.20

First Amendment to ABL/Term Loan Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of June 19, 2018, by and among Installed Building Products,
Inc., SunTrust Bank, as ABL agent, and Royal Bank of Canada, as term loan agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 19, 2018.

10.21

Second Amendment to ABL/Term Loan Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of December 17, 2019, by and among Installed Building
Products, Inc., as Borrower, Bank of America, N.A., as ABL Agent, and Bank of America, N.A., as Term Loan Agent, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 18, 2019.

10.22

Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 16, 2019, by and among Installed Building Products, Inc., as issuer, the subsidiary
guarantors party thereto, and BofA Securities, Inc. for itself and on behalf of several initial purchasers, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 17, 2019.

10.23

Credit Agreement, dated September 26, 2019, among Installed Building Products, Inc., the guarantors party thereto, the lenders party
thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as issuing bank, swing bank and administrative agent, with KeyBank National Association, as a
syndication agent and U.S. Bank National Association, as a syndication agent, and Bank of America, N.A., as lead arranger and
bookrunner, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 27, 2019.

10.24

Security Agreement, dated September 26, 2019, among Installed Building Products, Inc., the other grantors party thereto and Bank of
America, N.A., as administrative agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
September 27, 2019.

10.25#

Retirement and General Release Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2018, by and among Installed Building Products, Inc., Installed
Building Products, LLC, TCI Contracting, LLC and J. Michael Nixon, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 3, 2018.

10.26

Share Repurchase Agreement, dated November 5, 2018, by and between Installed Building Products, Inc. and PJAM IBP Holdings, Inc.,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 5, 2018.

10.27#

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
on May 14, 2014.

10.28#

Form of Performance Share Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed on August 13, 2014.

10.29#

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Employees, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed on March 13, 2015.

10.30#

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for awards made on or after April 19, 2017, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2017.
94

Table of Contents
Exhibit
Number

Description

10.31#

Form of Performance Share Agreement for awards made on or after April 19, 2017, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2017.

10.32#

Form of Stock Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed on May 8, 2017.

10.33#

Form of Performance-Based Cash Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2017.

21.1*

List of Subsidiaries of Installed Building Products, Inc.

23.1*

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

31.1*

CEO Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

31.2*

CFO Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.1*

CEO Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2*

CFO Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS**

XBRL Instance Document — the instance document does not appear in the interactive date file because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document

101.SCH**

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101. CAL**

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101. LAB**

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101. PRE**

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

101. DEF**

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

104**

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

*
**
#
†

Filedherewith.
Submitted electronically with the report.
Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K.

Item 16.

Form 10-K Summary

None
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Date: February 27, 2020
INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
/s/ Jeffrey W. Edwards
By: Jeffrey W. Edwards
President and Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Jeffrey W. Edwards
Jeffrey W. Edwards

President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 27, 2020

/s/ Michael T. Miller
Michael T. Miller

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Director
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 27, 2020

/s/ Todd R. Fry
Todd R. Fry

Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

February 27, 2020

/s/ Margot L. Carter
Margot L. Carter

Director

February 27, 2020

/s/ Lawrence A. Hilsheimer
Lawrence A. Hilsheimer

Director

February 27, 2020

/s/ Janet E. Jackson
Janet E. Jackson

Director

February 27, 2020

/s/ Robert H. Schottenstein
Robert H. Schottenstein

Director

February 27, 2020

/s/ Michael H. Thomas
Michael H. Thomas

Director

February 27, 2020

/s/ Vikas Verma
Vikas Verma

Director

February 27, 2020
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Exhibit 4.3
DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Installed Building Products, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our) has one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), namely its common stock, $0.01 par value per share.
The following description of our common stock is a summary and does not purport to be complete. It is subject to and qualified in its entirety by
reference to our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (our “Charter”) and our Amended and Restated By-laws (our “By-laws”),
each of which have been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Authorized Capital Stock
Our authorized capital stock consists of 100,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share, and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01
per value per share.
No shares of our preferred stock are designated, issued or outstanding. Our board of directors has the authority, without further action by our
stockholders, to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions thereof.
These rights, preferences and privileges could include dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preferences,
sinking fund terms and the number of shares constituting, or the designation of, such series, any or all of which may be greater than the rights of
common stock.
Voting Rights
Each holder of our common stock is entitled to one vote for each share on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders, including the election of
directors. Our stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. Accordingly, holders of a majority of the voting shares are
able to elect all of the directors. Generally, directors are elected by the vote of a majority of votes cast.
Dividends
Subject to preferences that may be applicable to any then outstanding preferred stock, holders of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends, if
any, as may be declared from time to time by our board of directors out of legally available funds. Any determination relating to dividends will be made
at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on a number of factors, including our future earnings, capital requirements, financial
condition, future prospects, contractual restrictions, legal requirements and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant.

Liquidation
In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of our common stock are entitled to share ratably in the net assets legally available for
distribution to stockholders after the payment of all of our debts and other liabilities and the satisfaction of any liquidation preference granted to the
holders of any then outstanding shares of preferred stock.
Rights and Preferences
Holders of our common stock have no preemptive, conversion, subscription or other rights, and there are no sinking fund provisions applicable to our
common stock. There are no redemption provisions applicable to any shares of our common stock.
Fully Paid and Nonassessable
All of our outstanding shares of common stock are fully paid and nonassessable.
Certain Anti-Takeover Provisions
Our Charter and Bylaws, as well as the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”), contain provisions that may delay, defer or discourage
another party from acquiring control of us. We expect that these provisions, which are summarized below, will discourage coercive takeover practices or
inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to first negotiate with our board of
directors, which we believe may result in an improvement of the terms of any such acquisition in favor of our stockholders. However, they also give our
board of directors the power to discourage acquisitions that some stockholders may favor.
Undesignated Preferred Stock. The ability to authorize undesignated preferred stock will make it possible for our board of directors to issue
preferred stock with super voting, special approval, dividend or other rights or preferences on a discriminatory basis that could impede the success of
any attempt to acquire us. These and other provisions may have the effect of deferring, delaying or discouraging hostile takeovers, or changes in control
or management of our company.
Board Size; Filling of Vacancies. Our Charter and Bylaws provide that the number of directors on our board of directors will be fixed exclusively
by our board of directors. Newly created directorships resulting from any increase in our authorized number of directors will be filled solely by the vote
of our remaining directors in office. Any vacancies in our board of directors resulting from death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal
from office or other cause will be filled solely by a majority vote of our remaining directors, or a quorum of our remaining directors, in office.
Classified Board of Directors. Our Charter provides that our board of directors will be divided into three classes, with each class serving threeyear staggered terms.

Special Meetings of Stockholders. Our Charter and Bylaws provide that special meetings of the stockholders may be called only by the chairman
of our board of directors, our Chief Executive Officer, any two directors or upon a resolution approved by a majority of the total number of directors that
we would have if there were no vacancies, and not by our stockholders.
No Stockholder Action by Written Consent. Our Charter provides that any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders may be
effected only at a duly called annual or special meeting.
Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Nominations and Proposals. Our Bylaws establish advance notice procedures with
respect to stockholder proposals and nomination of candidates for election as directors other than nominations made by or at the direction of our board
of directors or a committee of our board of directors.
Business combinations with interested stockholders. We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally
prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with a stockholder owning 15% or more of such
corporation’s outstanding voting stock for a period of three years following the date on which such stockholder became an “interested” stockholder. In
order for us to consummate a business combination with an “interested” stockholder within three years of the date on which the stockholder became
“interested,” either (1) the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming “interested” must be approved by our board
of directors prior to the date the stockholder became “interested,” (2) the “interested” stockholder must own at least 85% of our outstanding voting stock
at the time the transaction commences (excluding voting stock owned by directors who are also officers and certain employee stock plans) or (3) the
business combination must be approved by our board of directors and authorized by at least two-thirds of our stockholders (excluding the “interested”
stockholder). This provision could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control, whether or not it is desired by or beneficial to our
stockholders. Any delay or prevention of a change of control transaction or changes in our board of directors and management could deter potential
acquirers or prevent the completion of a transaction in which our stockholders could receive a substantial premium over the then-current market price
for their shares of our common stock.
Limitations on Liability, Indemnification of Officers and Directors and Insurance
Our Charter and Bylaws contain provisions that limit the liability of our directors for monetary damages to the fullest extent permitted by DGCL.
Stock Exchange Listing
Our common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “IBP.”
Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for the shares for our common stock is Computershare.

Exhibit 10.4
AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
OF
JEFFREY W. EDWARDS
This Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement (this “Amendment”), dated and effective as of November 1, 2019, is made by and among
Installed Building Products, Inc., a Delaware corporation, having its principal offices at 495 South High Street, Suite 50, Columbus, Ohio 43215 (the
“Company”), Installed Building Products, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“IBP LLC”), and Jeffrey W. Edwards (the “Executive”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the parties entered into an Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”), dated as of November 1, 2013 and amended on November 1,
2016, pursuant to which the Company and IBP LLC employed the Executive as their respective Chief Executive Officer and President; and
WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the Agreement to modify certain terms thereof in the manner set forth below; and
WHEREAS, capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meaning given such terms in the Agreement.
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties agree as
follows:
1. Term of Employment. Section 2 of the Agreement is hereby amended to extend the Expiration Date of the Agreement from November 1,
2019 to November 1, 2022.
2. References to Agreement and Ratification. Each reference to the Agreement that is made in the Agreement or in any other document shall
hereafter be construed as a reference to the Agreement as amended hereby. Except as modified in this Amendment, all terms and provisions of the
Agreement are ratified and shall remain in full force and effect.
3. Severability. Any provision of this Amendment that is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be
ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity or
enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction.
4. Governing Law. The rights and obligations of all parties hereto shall be governed by the laws of the State of Ohio, without regard to conflicts
of laws principles.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment effective as of the date first set forth above.
INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
By: /s/ Michael T. Miller
Michael T. Miller
Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, LLC
By: /s/ Michael T. Miller
Michael T. Miller
Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

/s/ Jeffrey W. Edwards
Jeffrey W. Edwards

Exhibit 21.1
Significant Subsidiaries of Installed Building Products, Inc.
Name

Jurisdiction of Organization

A+ Insulation of Kansas City, LLC

Delaware

Accurate Insulation LLC

Maryland

Accurate Insulation of Colorado, LLC

Delaware

Accurate Insulation of Delaware, LLC

Delaware

Accurate Insulation of Upper Marlboro, LLC

Delaware

Advanced Fiber, LLC

Delaware

Advanced Insulation, LLC

Delaware

All Construction Services, LLC

Delaware

All in One & Moore Building Systems, LLC

Delaware

Alpha Insulation & Water Proofing Company

Georgia

Alpha Insulation & Water Proofing Inc.

Texas

Alpine Insulation I, LLC

Delaware

American Insulation & Energy Services, LLC

Alabama

Any Season Insulation, LLC

Delaware

Apple Valley Insulation, a BDI Company, Inc.

California

Astro Insulation of Illinois, LLC

Delaware

Baytherm Insulation, LLC

Delaware

BDI Insulation of Idaho Falls, Inc.

Idaho

BDI Insulation of Salt Lake, LLC

Utah

BER Energy Services, LLC

Texas

Big City Insulation of Idaho, Inc.

Idaho

Big City Insulation, Inc.

Utah

B-Organized Insulation, LLC

Delaware

Broken Drum Insulation Visalia, Inc.

California

Broken Drum of Bakersfield, Inc.

California

Builders Installed Products of Maine, LLC

Delaware

Builders Installed Products of New Hampshire, LLC

Delaware

Builders Installed Products of New York, LLC

Delaware

Builders Installed Products of Vermont, LLC

Delaware

Building Materials Finance, Inc.

Delaware

C.Q. Insulation, Inc.

Florida

CLS Insulation, LLC

Delaware

Cornhusker Insulation, LLC

Delaware

Crossroads Holdings, LLC

Delaware

Division 7 8 9 Supply, LLC

Delaware

East Coast Insulators II, LLC

Delaware

Eastern Contractor Services, Limited Liability Company

New Jersey

Ecologic Energy Solutions, LLC

Delaware

Edwards/Mooney & Moses, LLC

Delaware

Elite Spray Foam of Las Vegas, LLC

Delaware

EMPER Holdings, LLC

Delaware

Energy Savers of Louisville, LLC

Delaware

Expert Insulation of Minnesota, LLC

Delaware

FiberClass Insulation, LLC

Delaware

First State Building Products, LLC

Delaware

Fort Wayne Urethane, LLC

Delaware

Garage Door Systems, LLC

Delaware

Gold Insulation, Inc.

Delaware

Gold Star Insulation, L.P.

Delaware

Green Star Plus Insulation, LLC

Delaware

G-T-G, LLC
Gulf Coast Insulation, LLC
Hinkle Insulation & Drywall Company, Incorporated

South Carolina
Delaware
Texas

Horizon Electric Services, LLC

Delaware

IBHL A Holding Company, Inc.

Delaware

IBHL B Holding Company, Inc.

Delaware

IBHL II-A Holding Company, Inc.

Delaware

IBHL II-B Holding Company, Inc.

Delaware

IBP Arctic Express, LLC

Delaware

IBP Asset II, LLC

Delaware

IBP Asset, LLC

Delaware

IBP Corporation Holdings, Inc.

Delaware

IBP Exteriors, Inc.
IBP Holdings II, LLC

New Jersey
Delaware

IBP Holdings, LLC

Delaware

IBP Legacy Glass & Supply, LLC

Delaware

IBP Logistics, LLC

Delaware

IBP of Mansfield, LLC

Delaware

IBP of Oklahoma, LLC

Delaware

IBP of San Antonio, LLC

Delaware

IBP of Toledo, LLC

Delaware

IBP Texas Assets I, LLC

Delaware

IBP Texas Assets II, LLC

Delaware

IBP Texas Assets III, LLC

Delaware

Installed Building Products – Panhandle, LLC

Delaware

Installed Building Products – Portland, LLC

Oregon

Installed Building Products II, LLC

Delaware

Installed Building Products of Fort Myers, LLC

Delaware

Installed Building Products of Houston, LLC

Delaware

Installed Building Products of Jacksonville, LLC

Delaware

Installed Building Products of Maine, LLC

Delaware

Installed Building Products of Miami, LLC

Delaware

Installed Building Products of Tampa, LLC

Delaware

Installed Building Products of Utah, LLC

Delaware

Installed Building Products of West Palm, LLC

Delaware

Installed Building Products, LLC

Delaware

Installed Building Solutions II, LLC

Delaware

Insulation Northwest, LLC

Delaware

Insulation Wholesale Supply, LLC

Nevada

InsulVail, LLC

Colorado

Key Insulation of Austin, LLC

Delaware

Key Insulation of San Antonio, LLC

Delaware

Lakeside Insulation, LLC

Delaware

Layman Brothers Insulation, LLC

Delaware

LKS Transportation, LLC

Delaware

Loveday Insulation, LLC

Delaware

M&D Insulation, LLC

Delaware

MAP Installed Building Products of Sagamore, LLC

Delaware

MAP Installed Building Products of Seekonk, LLC
Marv’s Insulation, Inc.
Metro Home Insulation, LLC
Mid South Construction and Building Products, Inc.

Delaware
Idaho
Delaware
Georgia

MIG Building Systems of East Syracuse, LLC

Delaware

MIG Building Systems, LLC

Delaware

Momper Insulation of Crown Point, LLC

Delaware

Momper Insulation of Elkhart, LLC

Delaware

Momper Insulation of Fort Wayne, LLC

Delaware

Northwest Insulation, LLC

Delaware

OJ Insulation Holdings, Inc.

Delaware

OJ Insulation, L.P.

Delaware

Pacific Partners Insulation North, a BDI Company, LLC

Washington

Pacific Partners Insulation South, a BDI Company, LLC

Washington

Parker Insulation and Building Products, LLC

Texas

PEG, LLC

Texas

Premier Building Supply SLC, LLC

Utah

Premier Building Supply, LLC

Utah

RaJan, LLC

Ohio

Rocket Insulation, LLC

Delaware

Rockford Insulation, LLC

Delaware

SCE of Chicago, LLC

Delaware

Sierra Insulation Contractors II, LLC

Delaware

Southern Insulators, LLC

Delaware

Spec 7 Insulation Co., LLC

Colorado

Suburban Insulation, Inc.

Pennsylvania

Superior Insulation Services, LLC

Delaware

Superior Insulation, LLC

Delaware

TCI Contracting of Charleston, LLC

Delaware

TCI Contracting of Hilton Head, LLC

Delaware

TCI Contracting of Kentucky, LLC

Delaware

TCI Contracting of Memphis, LLC

Delaware

TCI Contracting of Nashville, LLC

Delaware

TCI Contracting of the Gulf, LLC

Delaware

TCI Contracting, LLC
Thermal Control Insulation, LLC

Georgia
Ohio

Therm-Con of Tennessee, LLC

Delaware

Tidewater Insulators, LLC

Delaware

Town Building Systems, LLC

Delaware

Trademark Roofing Company, Inc.

North Carolina

Trademark Seamless Gutter Co., Inc.

North Carolina

Trilok Industries, Inc.

Georgia

U.S. Insulation Corp.

Connecticut

Water-Tite Company, LLC
Wilson Insulation Company, LLC

Delaware
Georgia

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-195107 on Form S-8 of our reports dated February 27, 2020, relating to
the consolidated financial statements of Installed Building Products, Inc., and the effectiveness of Installed Building Products, Inc.’s internal control
over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Installed Building Products, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2019.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Columbus, Ohio
February 27, 2020

Exhibit 31.1
INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
I, Jeffrey W. Edwards, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Installed Building Products, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2020

By: /s/ Jeffrey W. Edwards
Jeffrey W. Edwards
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
I, Michael T. Miller, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Installed Building Products, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2020

By: /s/ Michael T. Miller
Michael T. Miller
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(b) or 15d-14(b)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Code
The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the Installed Building Products, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2019 (the “Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(the “Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.
Jeffrey W. Edwards, the President and Chief Executive Officer, of Installed Building Products, Inc., certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition and results of
operations of Installed Building Products, Inc.

Dated: February 27, 2020

By:

/s/ Jeffrey W. Edwards
Jeffrey W. Edwards
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2
INSTALLED BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(b) or 15d-14(b)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Code
The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the Installed Building Products, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2019 (the “Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(the “Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.
Michael T. Miller, the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, of Installed Building Products, Inc., certifies that, to the best of his
knowledge:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition and results of
operations of Installed Building Products, Inc.

Dated: February 27, 2020

By:

/s/ Michael T. Miller
Michael T. Miller
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

